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A LE T TER FROM THE CEO

As we reflect on another strong year for Liberty Energy, 
I am immensely proud of the strides we made in 2024. 
Despite continued softening of business conditions, 
Liberty delivered solid results. Fully diluted earnings 
per share in 2024 was $1.87, annual revenue was $4.3 
billion, net income was $316 million, and Adjusted 
EBITDA1 was $922 million. Returns for the year remained 
strong with 17% Adjusted Pre-Tax Return on Capital 
Employed (“ROCE2”) and 21% Cash Return on Capital 
Invested (“CROCI3”). 2023 began with exceptionally 
strong business conditions that gradually weakened 
throughout the year, as indicated by the roughly 20% 
decline in active rig and frac spread counts. This 
softening trend continued through 2024 with a further 
5% reduction in active rig count over the course of the 
year.  Regardless of these macro headwinds, the Liberty 
team continued to grow our competitive advantage, 
allowing us to thrive even as macro conditions softened.

Safety is at the core of everything we do. Our strong 
safety culture and proactive approach–supported by 
over 250,000 hours of training last year–help ensure 
that safety is a part of every action and decision. In 
2024, the Liberty team worked approximately 20 million 
hours and drove more than 17 million miles, all while 
maintaining a Total Recordable Incident Rate (TRIR) 
of 0.51, one of the lowest in our history, and a Motor 
Vehicle Accident Rate (MVAR) of 0.46–more than three 
times below the compliance rate for rural drivers. We 
also hauled almost 1 million loads of sand to support 
Liberty frac operations. Our Sentinel logistics platform, 
now fully deployed across Liberty, is optimizing 
deliveries to reduce costs, congestion, and wait times 
while maximizing daily truck turns. During 2024, we 
expanded Sentinel to our LPI CNG delivery division, 
improving efficiency and asset utilization as we 
transition to fleets primarily fueled by natural gas. With 
our expansion into the DJ Basin, our LPI CNG business 
is now at a mature state, working seamlessly with our 
next generation frac crews to deliver service excellence 
at the wellsite.

The past 5+ years have been a period of significant 
development as we designed, engineered and 
commercialized our digi platform of technologies 

At Liberty, our mission goes beyond 
providing abundant, affordable, and reliable 
energy–we strive to improve lives around 
the world.

“
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now including digiFracSM, digiPowerSM, digiPrimeSM and 
digiWireSM. As we shifted from development to steady 
deployment, we saw an opportunity to streamline the 
build cycle by bringing some of our equipment packaging 
in house. This led to the launch of Liberty Advanced 
Equipment Technologies (LAET) last year. Now, with 
control of the entire process–from engineering and 
procurement through final assembly–we can innovate 
faster and move swiftly from opportunity to execution. 
In October, we were excited to deliver the first LAET-
produced digiPrime pump. Going forward, the LAET 
team will provide baseload packaging capacity for 
our digiPrime units, along with other more specialized 
design and assembly for other critical equipment, 
ensuring improved control over delivery schedules and 
a speedier innovation cycle. 

The digi platform continues to excel in the field, offering 
a broad suite of technologies to meet the varying end 
needs of our E&P partners, while delivering further 
efficiency improvements. This year, a digiPrime fleet 
set the all-time Liberty record for annual pumping 
hours, having pumped 7,143 hours in an 11.5 month 
period, averaging nearly 600 hours per month! We’re 
also expanding our experience in power generation and 
will leverage it in 2025 with the launch of our power 
generation business for non-frac opportunities.

2024 marked a significant milestone as we launched 
operations outside North America, beginning in 
Australia. The Beetaloo Basin in the Northern Territory 
presents a unique opportunity for a massive new 
natural gas-producing field, and we’re excited to bring 
our expertise and innovative solutions to this emerging 
market. Earlier this year, our Wallaroo crew kicked off 
operations with a two well pad for Tamboran Resources, 
and we look forward to supporting future projects as 
development progresses. We are committed to working 
closely with local communities, regulatory bodies, 
and industry partners to ensure the success of our 
operations in Australia.  We also celebrated the grand 
opening of our new district in Vernal, Utah. This newly 
renovated facility will serve as a hub for our operations 
in the Uinta Basin, reinforcing our commitment to 
delivering top-tier service in the region.

At Liberty, our mission goes beyond providing 
abundant, affordable, and reliable energy–we strive 
to improve lives around the world. In 2024, we took 
a significant step forward in this mission with the 
launch of the Bettering Human Lives Foundation 
(BHLF). We also published the latest version of our 
Bettering Human Lives report in February, distributing 
30,000 copies to legislators, policy makers, students, 
teachers, and others. Energy powers everything we 
do–and the world needs more of it to ensure all 8 
billion people have the opportunity for a higher 
quality of life. We hope this report continues to drive 
a more pragmatic and productive conversation 
about our energy future.

As we look ahead to 2025 and beyond, we remain 
committed to our mission of Bettering Human Lives 
through innovative energy solutions. We have built 
a strong foundation, upon which we will build the 
next chapter of our business. I would like to extend 
my heartfelt gratitude to our employees, customers, 
partners, and shareholders for their unwavering 
support and dedication. Together, we have achieved 
remarkable success, and I am confident that the 
best is yet to come.

- Ron Gusek, CEO Liberty Energy

1 Adjusted EBITDA is a non-GAAP financial measure.  Please see Financials 
on page 32 for reconciliation and calculation of non-GAAP financial and 
operational measures.
2 Adjusted Pre-Tax Return on Capital Employed is a non-GAAP operational 
measure. Please see Financials on page 32 for reconciliation and calculation 
of non-GAAP financial and operational measures.
3  Cash Return on Capital Invested is a non-GAAP operational measure. 
Please see Financials on page 32 for reconciliation and calculation of non-
GAAP financial and operational measures.



2024 HIGHLIGHTS

This year has been one of firsts for Liberty, marked by forward momentum on projects we are 
passionate about and expansion in key areas that strengthen our leadership in technology and service. 
Our commitment to strategic investment fuels the differential experience our customers have come to 
expect, driving innovation, efficiency, and performance. Through continuous advancement, we enhance 
operations and reinforce our position as a leader in safety, innovation, culture, and community—core 
values that define who we are and where we’re headed. 

CANADA

UNITED 
STATES

AUSTRALIA

L I B E RT Y  F O OT P R I N T

Liberty’s footprint is expanding globally, with operations 
across the United States, Canada, and now Australia. 
As we enter new markets, we remain committed to 

innovation, efficiency, and customer success.
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Q4

Q3

Q2

Q1

Released 2024 BHL Report
(distributed ~30,000 copies)

IMPACT

Opened Vernal Office
(expanding in Uinta basin)

EXPANSION

Deployed first digiPrime 
unit from LAET

TECHNOLOGY

Launched first LPI fuel gas 
operations in the DJ Basin

OPERATIONS

Arrival of first Liberty fleet 
in Australia

EXPANSION

Single-crew company record of 
7,143 hours pumped in a year

ACHIEVEMENT

Revenue of $4.3 billion
FINANCIAL

FINANCIAL

Achieved 21% CROCI in 2024

First deployment of 
PropStack delivery system

OPERATIONS

Launched the Bettering 
Human Lives Foundation

IMPACT

I NT R O D U CT I O N 7



L I B E RT Y E N E R G Y

INTEGR ATED  
COMPLE TIONS PORTFOLIO

At Liberty, we’re constantly improving the way energy is produced by pushing the boundaries in software 
development, equipment design, and engine technology. We actively pursue innovative ways to boost 
efficiency, reduce costs, and lower emissions.

We’ve built a smart, integrated system connecting our digiTechnologiesSM with cloud-based pump control, 
power generation, logistics, and fuel management tools. The result? A streamlined process that lowers 
costs and improves returns, helping our customers get more energy to the surface more efficiently than ever.

BEST IN CLASS
R AT E D B E S T VA LU E BY K I M B E R L IT E S U R V E Y

Liberty is a leading 
completions service 
company, delivering 
cutting-edge frac 
technology, efficiency, and 
safety. From Quiet Fleets 
to low-emission digiFleets, 
we innovate to optimize 
performance and reduce 
costs for our customers.

W I R E L I N E

Liberty’s wireline 
pumpdown perforating 
services provide 
top efficiency for 
unconventional wells in 
North America. As a key 
frac partner, our expert 
teams and technology 
drive higher throughput and 
lower service costs.

M A N U FA CT U R I N G 
& A S S E M B LY

Liberty’s manufacturing 
division, LAET, designs 
and builds next-generation 
equipment for hydraulic 
fracturing, wireline, and 
sand logistics. From 
revolutionary next 
generation natural gas 
digiFleets to modular, 
scalable digiPower 
solutions, our innovations 
continue to transform the 
industry.

F R A C
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P O W E R

LPI provides advanced 
distributed power and energy 
storage solutions for the 
commercial and industrial, 
data center, energy, and 
mining industries.  LPI 
also offers CNG fueling 
and delivery services, 
field gas processing, and 
onsite fuel management, 
which enhance efficiency 
and reduces emission. By 
integrating natural gas and 
alternative fuel technologies, 
LPI improves reliability, 
lowers costs, and fosters 
more sustainable power and 
fueling operations.

L P I

S A N D 
D E L I V E RY

PropX provides patented 
containerized solutions 
and software for last-
mile proppant storage 
and delivery to hydraulic 
fracturing operations. 
PropX has pioneered and 
continues to innovate 
technology for damp sand 
handling, enabling the use 
of modular proximity mines. 
This approach decreases 
costs, simplifies trucking 
requirements, and reduces 
emissions while eliminating 
silica dust exposure. 

P R O PX

S A N D 
S O U R C I N G

Our state-of-the-art mines 
in the heart of the Permian 
Basin supply the highest 
quality proppant and 
logistics services, ensuring 
reliability and performance 
for our customers. Freedom 
Proppants’ facilities are 
strategically located, 
facilities offer fast load 
times and tailored logistics 
solutions, helping our 
customers execute frac 
operations efficiently 
and cost-effectively—
maximizing productivity and 
reducing downtime. 

F R E E D O M P R O P PA NT
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FLE XIBLE & SCAL A BLE 
PURPOSE -BUILT FR AC 
SOLUTIONS

Liberty continues to set the standard for 
leadership in hydraulic fracturing through 
innovation, efficiency, and unmatched 
service quality. Our cutting-edge technology, 
industry expertise, and commitment to 
safety drive superior performance for our 
customers. Our suite of digiTechnologies 
allows us to create modular systems 
tailored to provide the optimal combination 
of components on-site, ensuring each job’s 
specific requirements are met efficiently – 
while offering the lowest-emission solution 
on the market. As the industry evolves, 
Liberty remains at the forefront, shaping the 
future of frac with precision and reliability.

F R A C S O LU T I O N S

After a multi-year fleet technology transition to dual 
fuel and digiFleets, natural gas is now the primary 
fuel powering our fleets.  We’ve reduced emissions 
and fuel costs, reinforcing Liberty’s commitment to 
sustainable innovation.

~90% OF FLEETS  
P R I M A R I LY N AT U R A L G A S P O W E R E D

One of our fleets set a single crew company record 
of 7,143 hours pumped in a year, averaging nearly 
600 hours monthly (approximately 96% of available 
hours under normal dedicated fleet utilization). 
This consistent month-over-month performance 
highlights the team’s efficiency, reliability, and 
dedication to maximizing uptime.

7,000+ HOURS PUMPED 
BY A S I N G L E C R E W

S P OT L I G HT
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Our cutting-edge digiPrime hybrid frac system is the 
most thermally efficient pump solution in the market, 
setting a new industry standard for lower emissions. 
digiPrime achieves 45% thermal efficiency and 
higher power density within its reduced footprint and 
includes a fully electric auxiliary system. 

Beyond its pump performance, digiPrime performs as 
a power generation hub. A 100kW integrated battery 
system and generator motor electrifies critical site 
operations, including blenders, wireline, and proppant 
handling equipment. The added power distribution 
enhances reliability, and reduces our environmental 
impact.

T H E M O S T T H E R M A L LY E F F I C I E NT P U M P 
S O LU T I O N I N T H E M A R K E T

digiFrac is the industry’s first purpose-built, fully 
electric frac system, designed to deliver unparalleled 
power, control, and performance. Developed through 
extensive industry insight and innovative vision, 
digiFrac’s power-agnostic design operates on any 
combination of grid power and onsite natural gas 
generators, maximizing flexibility and efficiency. At 
the core of digiFrac is a first-in-class Septaplex fluid 
end, powered by individual 400 HHP electric motors. 
This cutting-edge design enables higher pumping 
rates, minimizes component wear, and enhances 
redundancy both on-unit and across the supply chain 
with ten independent electric motors.

F I R S T P U R P O S E-B U I LT F U L LY E L E CT R I C 
F R A C S Y S T E M

Our digiwire electric units are fully compatible and 
seamlessly integrate with digiFrac and digiPrime 
pumps. These units provide a lower emissions solution, 
and with precise electronic control, digiWire paves 
the way for automating pump-down operations. Our 
proprietary business systems enhance operations by 
storing information in the cloud, supporting real-time 
connectivity with other systems. This setup offers our 
customers time-data streaming and detailed post-job 
summaries, facilitating informed decision-making.

A N E M I S S I O N S E F F I C I E NT E L E CT R I C 
W I R E L I N E

digiPower houses a Rolls-Royce 20V4000 natural gas 
generator set, delivering a 100% natural gas solution 
with 43% thermal efficiency, ensuring low emissions 
and industry-leading fuel efficiency while minimizing 
environmental impact. When grid power is available, 
the modular platform can seamlessly integrate, 
utilizing any level of grid input—from a few megawatts 
to powering an entire frac site— efficiently managed 
through our common bus distribution trailer.

A C O M P L E T E P O W E R S O LU T I O N

P O RT F O L I O



LAET, our commercial manufacturing division, 
enhances our ability to design, engineer, and package 
complete systems. By integrating LAET, we streamline 
operations and advance pump technology innovation, 
including power ends, fluid ends, and ancillary 
equipment. It also supports our digiTechnologies 
suite and critical components for LPI and PropX.
 
With a focus on practical end-use, LAET designs 
equipment for maintenance efficiency, reducing 
downtime and improving usability in the field. Our El 
Reno facility, now over 80,000 square feet, underwent 
a major remodel, adding paint and coating facilities, 
a warehouse, cranage, a high-capacity test pit, and 
an electronics lab. Meanwhile, our Magnolia facility 
produces critical subassemblies. We have also 
completed our first internally built digiPrime pumps 
and have produced many LPI gas distribution units. 
We believe new technology succeeds when we own 
the engineering design and rapidly integrate field 
feedback into the design and manufacturing process.

L I B E RT Y A DVA N C E D 
E Q U I P M E NT 
T E C H N O LO G I E S (L A E T)

EL RENO FACILITY 
R E M O D E L C O M P L E T E D

FIRST DIGIPRIME PUMPS 
D E L I V E R E D TO T H E F I E L D

Y E A R H I G H L I G HT S

500 PUMP REBUILDS  
BY O U R M AG N O L I A T E A M
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PropX is renowned for its innovation in last-mile frac 
sand delivery, providing cutting-edge equipment, 
operations, and software solutions. As the market 
leader in containerized dry sand delivery systems 
in the U.S., PropX sets the standard for efficiency 
and reliability, serving clients across North America, 
Argentina, and now Australia.

Since introducing our new damp pile delivery 
system, PropStack™, in 2024, PropX has become 
the largest provider of on-site sand pile storage 
systems, providing large-scale wellsite sand storage 
volumes alongside lower cost and simplified 
trucking logistics.

PropStack delivers high throughput rates and 
efficient material handling utilizing the proven 
industry standard and patented PropX Baby Beast® 
for precise metered sand delivery to the blender.

Sand Scorpion® continues to be the industry-leading 
containerized wet sand delivery system. It provides 
cost savings, emissions reduction, and complete 
elimination of silica dust while accommodating a 
wider range of sand sources with varying moisture 
contents. Through the combination of PropStack™ 
and Sand Scorpion®, PropX is the market leader in 
wet sand delivery.

P R O PX

28.5 MILLION TONS
O F S A N D D E L I V E R E D

LARGEST PROVIDER
O F D RY C O NTA I N E R I Z E D S A N D

F R E E D O M 
P R O P PA NT

Freedom Proppant operates two state-of-the-
art sand mines in the Permian Basin, supplying 
premium-quality proppant for hydraulic fracturing 
operations. Strategically located, the company 
ensures rapid load times and cost-effective delivery 
by integrating advanced logistics software with 
proximity mining techniques, thereby reducing 
transportation distances, minimizing emissions, 
and enhancing overall operational efficiency. 
 
In addition to its operational excellence, Freedom 
Proppant is committed to environmental stewardship 
and responsible resource management. The Kermit 
and Monahans Crews have been recognized with 
a Certificate of Inclusion through the American 
Conservation Foundation for their efforts to protect 
the endangered Dunes Sagebrush Lizard. Alongside 
targeted conservation initiatives aimed at restoring 
developed areas and mitigating land disturbance, 
the company has partnered with compliant outfitters 
to effectively manage non-hazardous waste from its 
plant operations.

CERTIFICATE OF INCLUSION
A M E R I C A N C O N S E R VAT I O N F O U N D AT I O N

2 YEARS
R E P O RTA B L E I N C I D E NT F R E E

P O RT F O L I O



Liberty Energy’s vertically integrated structure 
has provided an optimal position for quick 
success in simulfrac applications. With our 
experienced frac and wireline operations 
and ancillary business lines — PropX, Liberty 
Power Innovations (LPI), and Freedom 
Proppant—Liberty maintains control over 
critical components of hydraulic fracturing 
operations, including proppant handling, power 
generation, and proppant supply. Additionally, 
LAET has moved our design, engineering, and 
manufacturing in-house, further enhancing 
our ability to streamline operations. This 
comprehensive integration enables Liberty 
to reduce costs, and swiftly adapt to market 
changes, thereby enhancing efficiency and 
technical leadership in simulfrac applications.

O P T I M I Z E D W IT H  
V E RT I C A L I NT E G R AT I O N

PropX provides advanced last-
mile proppant delivery solutions, 
ensuring efficient and reliable sand 
logistics. 

LPI offers integrated fueling 
and power generation services, 
facilitating the transition to cleaner 
energy sources and ensuring 
consistent power supply for high-
demand operations like simulfrac. 

Freedom Proppant supplies high-
quality sand from strategically 
located mines, reducing 
transportation time and costs.
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Simulfrac implementation has 
maintained a steady upward trend as 
operators aim to capitalize on newly 

achieved efficiency gains. 

G R O W T H  T R A J E C T O RY

Simulfrac, or simultaneous fracturing, is a technique 
where two horizontal wells are stimulated 
concurrently using a single larger fleet with 
increased horsepower. This approach significantly 
enhances operational efficiency by increasing 
the lateral footage completed in a given time and 
reducing surface treating pressure with lower pump 
rates into each well compared to traditional  zipper-
frac methods. The result is a substantial reduction 
in completion times and associated costs.
 
Simulfrac operations are an evolution of conventional 
zipper frac operations that maximizes efficiency by 
stimulating multiple wells simultaneously, resulting 
in more throughput each month using a shared frac 
spread of equipment and resources. 

P O RT F O L I O

S I M U L F R A C

15

2021 2022 2023 2024

SIMULFRAC 
STAGES

MORE STAGES, LESS TIME
C O M P L E T E M O R E S TAG E S AC R O S S 
M U LT I P L E W E L L S FA S T E R

MAXIMIZED PUMPING HOURS
P U M P LO N G E R E AC H M O NT H W IT H 
S I M U LTA N E O U S O P E R AT I O N S

FEWER DAYS ON LOCATION
R E D U C E T I M E O N S IT E  W IT H 
S T R E A M L I N E D C O M P L E T I O N S

LOWER COSTS
C U T C O S T S W IT H S H A R E D E Q U I P M E NT 
A N D LO W E R P U M P R AT E S

O N E L I B E RT Y F L E E T C O M P L E T E S 
M O R E S TA G E S A C R O S S M U LT I P L E 
W E L L S W IT H S I M U L F R A C S E T U P



ADVANCING 
TECHNOLOGY TO 
DRI V E EFFICIENCY

At Liberty, our leadership extends beyond equipment 
design and manufacturing—we are also at the 
forefront of developing the digital tools that keep 
our operations running efficiently. We have built an 
integrated ecosystem of software that seamlessly 
connects our digiTechnologies with advanced 
cloud-based systems for pump control, power 
generation, demand management, logistics, and 
on-site fuel management. This holistic approach 
reduces the total cost of delivery, enhances returns, 
and ultimately lowers the cost of producing energy, 
delivering greater value to our customers.

Data-driven innovation is at the core of our 
commitment to operational efficiency and resiliency. 
We continue to optimize performance through three 
key initiatives: utilizing data analytics to increase gas 
substitution, implementing proactive maintenance 
programs that enhance asset longevity and 
reliability, and leveraging Sentinel, our AI-powered 
logistics platform, to streamline operations. These 
advancements reinforce Liberty’s position as a 
technology leader, driving efficiency, reliability, and 
sustainable progress in energy production.

Its predictive maintenance capabilities help 
us anticipate issues early, reducing downtime 
and maintenance costs while maximizing 
fleet performance. By integrating FracPulse 
across our operations, Liberty enhances 
equipment longevity, boosts runtime, and 
streamlines technology adoption to ensure 
best-in-class service delivery.

AI-POWERED MONITORING
& P R E D I CT I V E M A I NT E N A N C E

T E C H N O LO G Y

FracPulse goes beyond monitoring—it 
foresees and prevents equipment failures 
before they occur. 

35% DECREASE
I N  T R U C K C O U NT & D E L I V E RY T I M E

90% DOWNTIME REDUCTION
W IT H S E NT I N E L

F R A C P U L S E T M
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Liberty utilizes a cloud-based data collection system, 
StimCommander, to record and stream live diesel 
displacement data. This  provides our crews and our 
customers immediate insight into the mind of the 
engines, allowing for real-time diagnostics which 
can be used to vastly increase substitution.

Using enhanced customization within our automated 
pump control technology, we optimize for key 
variables, including pressure, sand and chemicals, 
and fuel efficiency. This solution responds to reservoir 
conditions and provides innovative, customized 
fracture treatment across basins and horizons. 
Software optimization drives enhanced execution 
while minimizing downtime and maintenance costs.

We apply this preventative model wherever possible, 
from frac performance to gas substitution, allowing 
us to increase uptime and run assets at optimal 
operating ranges.

We use this data to create a digital twin that enables 
proactive maintenance by creating a real-time 
virtual replica of equipment, allowing for continuous 
monitoring, early anomaly detection, and data-driven 
insights to prevent failures and improve performance.

P R E D I CT I V E M A I NT E N A N C E 

Sentinel has been instrumental in achieving a 90% 
reduction in downtime related to proppant delivery 
and a 35% decrease in truck count and delivery 
time, where implemented, leading to significant cost 
savings and improved operational performance.

By leveraging Sentinel, Liberty has optimized supply 
chain logistics, ensuring timely delivery of materials 
and resources to job sites. This optimization 
minimizes delays and reduces the environmental 
impact associated with transportation, aligning with 
our commitment to operate responsibly.

We continue to enhance our data accuracy and 
transparency, ensuring a best-in-class delivery 
service as we expand into simulfrac operations 
and increase sand delivery. We can optimize driver 
utilization and trucking efficiency through Sentinel, 
prioritizing unique driver turns daily to benefit our 
drivers, aligning with our long-term partnership-
focused approach. We are also driving greater 
efficiency, resilience, and alignment with our mission 
of delivering exceptional performance through our 
dedicated supplier network that genuinely feels like 
part of the Liberty crew. By integrating CNG logistics 
with Sentinel, we are able to expand our logistics 
capabilities and service quality to our LPI business, 
further adding to our competitive advantage in the 
marketplace.

S E NT I N E L

Sentinel is Liberty’s proprietary AI-powered logistics 
software platform, engineered to enhance our 
operational efficiency and lower costs.

Our predictive maintenance program leverages data 
visibility and analytics to identify potential failures 
before they happen.

L E V E R A G I N G D ATA TO 
LO W E R E M I S S I O N S

50% REDUCTION
I N  P O W E R E N D FA I LU R E S

20% INCREASE
I N  E N G I N E L I F E 

250+ UNITS
C O N V E RT E D TO D G B



With Liberty Power Innovations (LPI), we are 
redefining energy solutions for the oil and gas 
industry and beyond. Committed to durability, 
flexibility, and innovation, LPI delivers cutting-
edge distributed power and fuel solutions that 
drive efficiency and operational excellence. 
 
By leveraging natural gas, field gas 
processing, and scalable power generation, 
we provide high-performance, low-emission 
energy services tailored to evolving market 
demands. Grounded in Liberty’s values 
of excellence and reliability, LPI ensures 
our customers have the strategic energy 
solutions they need today while preparing 
for the future.

ADVANCING ENERGY 
SOLUTIONS WITH 
INNOVATION AND 
RELI A BILIT Y

LPI provides a full suite of natural gas fueling 
solutions, covering sourcing, supply, and distribution. 
Our turnkey approach ensures uninterrupted fuel 
access through pipeline connections, utility access 
points, and our fleet of CNG trailers. Whether 
operating in remote locations or high-demand 
industrial zones, our flexible fuel options—including 
compressed natural gas (CNG), liquefied natural 
gas (LNG), renewable natural gas (RNG), hydrogen, 
and field gas—and our diverse power generation 
equipment, enable customers to meet operational 
goals while advancing sustainability efforts.

LPI’s gas treatment and blending capabilities 
transform field gas into a valuable on-site fuel 
source. Adding field gas helps meet fueling and 
power generation needs, cutting operations costs 
while reducing emissions and logistics expenses. 
Our treatment solutions—including dehydration, 
gas conditioning, and natural gas liquids (NGL) 
recovery—ensure a consistent, high-quality fuel 
supply tailored to industry demands. Replacing 
diesel with natural gas and treated field gas makes 
our operations more reliable, cost-effective, and 
environmentally conscious.

C O M P R E H E N S I V E N AT U R A L  
G A S F U E L I N G S E R V I C E S 

L I B E RT Y P O W E R I N N O VAT I O N S
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LPI’s fueling services support a wide range of oil 
and gas applications, ensuring an uninterrupted and 
efficient energy supply. Our expertise in handling 
natural gas and field gas balances optimal fuel 
usage while reducing costs and emissions. 

F U E L I N G S O LU T I O N S T H AT 
M A X I M I Z E P E R F O R M A N C E  

LPI’s expertise in oil and gas energy solutions is 
unmatched. We design and deploy natural gas 
power generation systems engineered to handle 
the rigorous demands of upstream, midstream, 
and downstream operations. From microgrids 
for production facilities to compressor and 
pump stations , our centralized power solutions, 
provide seamless energy integration, ensuring 
consistent power for our frac pumps and other 
critical infrastructure. 

R E L I A B L E P O W E R G E N E R AT I O N 
F O R F R A C A N D B E YO N D 

P O RT F O L I O

NEXT-GENERATION 
FRAC FLEET SUPPORT 
Supplying 100% natural gas fuel to our digi suite 
of technologies, lowering operational costs and 
environmental impact.

COMPLETE WELLSITE  
FUEL MANAGEMENT
End-to-end fuel logistics, from sourcing to delivery, 
with data-driven insights for efficiency optimization.

FIELD GAS TREATING  
& PROCESSING
On-site treatment and processing of raw natural 
gas, converting it into a reliable fuel most efficiently 
at the source.

ORLA STATION
MIDLAND STATION

DJ STATION

C N G S TAT I O N S

Fueling stations conveniently 
located in the Permian and DJ 
Basins

DURABLE AND FLEXIBLE 
Built to withstand harsh operating 
conditions and frequent 
relocations.

RAPIDLY DEPLOYABLE 
Modular and scalable 
configurations allow for quick setup 
and adaptation.

HIGH-PERFORMANCE  
Designed to deliver reliable, 
consistent power output for 24/7 
operations.



At Liberty Energy, safety is more than a checklist—
it is a core mindset that defines our operations. By 
embracing proactive safety strategies, we empower 
our teams to drive a culture where safety is an 
integral part of every action and decision. We are 
committed to fostering a behavior-based safety 
culture that prioritizes awareness, accountability, 
and continuous improvement across all levels of our 
organization.

COMMITMENT TO A 
PROACTI V E SAFE T Y 
CULTURE

Building and maintaining the most competent 
crews requires continuous investment in training 
and development. In 2024, Liberty enhanced its 
training programs, offering over 350 operational 
and leadership courses tailored to maximize each 
employee’s growth. Our comprehensive approach 
combines classroom, field, simulator, and on-the-
job training, all shaped by employee feedback to 
ensure relevance and effectiveness. With record 
course completions, each employee averaged over 
20 courses and 40 hours dedicated to operational 
development and safety preparation.

I N V E S T I N G I N O U R P E O P L E

S A F E T Y & T R A I N I N G 

17,437,802
TOTA L D OT M I L E S D R I V E N

TRIR OF 0.51 
~3 0% B E T T E R T H A N I N D U S T RY AV E R AG E

250,000+ HOURS
S P E NT O N T R A I N I N G

100,000+ HOURS
H S E/E M E R G E N C Y R E S P O N S E T R A I N I N G

COMPREHENSIVE RISK 
ASSESSMENTS
Understanding risks and implementing 
effective safety measures.

FOLLOWING 
PROTOCOL
Establishing and enforcing stringent 
protocols to mitigate risk.

THE RIGHT EQUIPMENT  
FOR THE TASK
Ensuring our team has state-of-the-art 
safety gear and advanced engineering 
controls to enhance protection and 
minimize risk.

FOSTERING A  
STRONG CULTURE

Safety is a collective responsibility and 
our culture prioritizes accountability, 
proactive risk management, and 
continuous improvement.

0.46 MVAR
7 0% B E T T E R T H A N R U R A L 
C O M P L I A N C E R AT E
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Cyber threats are rapidly evolving, and at 
Liberty Energy, safeguarding our networks, 
systems, and data against the latest 
threats is a top priority. 

We adhere to all the latest guidelines 
and trusted industry frameworks like 
NIST and CIS to ensure our systems 
are secure. Instead of merely checking 
boxes for compliance, we proactively 
seek out vulnerabilities and address them 
before they escalate into real issues. Our 
policies are continually reviewed and 
tested, ensuring our networks, data, and 
operations remain protected against 
evolving cyber threats. 

SECURIT Y  
& INFORM ATION 
PROTECTION

IT &  C Y B E R S E C U R IT Y 

Good security requires implementing multiple layers 
of protection. That’s why we adopt strategies like 
Defense in Depth and Zero Trust to control access, 
mitigate risks, and enhance security across touch-
points. Our cloud-first technology approach utilizes 
secure, geographically distributed infrastructure to 
keep operations running smoothly while remaining 
flexible and cost-effective. 

We take multiple steps to keep our systems safe, 
including:

•	 Enhancing network segmentation to  
contain threats.

•	 Staying on top of software updates to  
fix vulnerabilities quickly.

•	 Enforcing strong security habits to  
protect key systems.

Focusing on these areas allows us to maintain 
strong defenses and remain prepared for whatever 
comes next.

L AY E R S O F P R OT E CT I O N 
F O R S T R O N G E R S E C U R IT Y

Technology alone isn’t enough—our employees also 
play a significant role in security. We provide ongoing 
cybersecurity training using regular phishing tests 
and hands-on security exercises to help our team 
recognize risks and remain vigilant against real-world 
threats such as malware and social engineering. 

Cybersecurity isn’t just a requirement; it’s a key part 
of who we are. Our proactive approach ensures 
we’re protecting not just our systems but also our 
people, stakeholders, and the future of our business.

M A K I N G C Y B E R S E C U R IT Y 
A T E A M E F F O RT



<15% ATTRITION RATE

2 0 2 4

Liberty takes great pride in its strong company 
culture, which is evident not only in the experiences 
of our employees but also in our low attrition 
rate, which is well below the industry average. By 
retaining our talented workforce, Liberty is able to 
redirect resources typically spent on recruitment 
and training toward enhancing the skills of 
our existing team members, giving us a highly 
experienced team, and ultimately driving greater 
efficiency and productivity.

6.8% WOMEN 
C O M PA NY-W I D E

24% WOMEN 
I N  M A N AG E R R O L E S

42.8% MINORITIES
C O M PA NY-W I D E

1,116 PROMOTIONS 
I NT E R N A L LY

94% 401K PARTICIPATION
C O M PA NY-W I D E

EMPOWERING  
OUR PEOPLE

P E O P L E &  C U LT U R E 

At Liberty, our strong company culture serves 
as the foundation of our business, attracting 
and retaining exceptional individuals who 
are committed to delivering at the highest 
level. Investing in our teams empowers them 
to push boundaries, drive excellence, and 
create lasting value. In 2024, Liberty added 
multiple new programs highlighting health, 
personal development, and a collaborative 
work environment.
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Beyond standard healthcare coverage, we prioritize 
holistic wellness. This year, we launched the Move 
Program, from Sword Health, a virtual physical 
therapy solution that helps employees and their 
dependents recover, prevent injury, and maintain 
mobility with real-time personalized care. The Move 
Program makes the benefits of physical therapy 
more accessible, tackling musculoskeletal pain and 
improving overall health.  

P HY S I C A L H E A LT H

Liberty Energy was honored to receive the U.S. 
Department of Labor HIRE Vets Medallion Gold 
Award, recognizing our dedication to recruiting, 
employing, and retaining veterans. As part of our 
commitment to supporting our communities, 
veterans, first responders, and active military 
personnel represent one of our three core community 
pillars.

Thanks to the efforts of our Hiring Teams, veterans 
make up 13% of our workforce, bringing invaluable 
skills and experience to our operations. This award 
reinforces our ongoing commitment to providing 
meaningful career opportunities for those who 
have served, ensuring their contributions continue 
to strengthen Liberty Energy’s culture of excellence 
and innovation.

L I B E RT Y E N E R G Y R E C O G N I Z E D F O R 
C O M M IT M E NT TO V E T E R A N S

Employee mental health and well-being are a 
top priority, and we are committed to fostering a 
supportive workplace where everyone feels valued. 
To help employees prioritize their well-being, 
we’ve introduced initiatives like 1:1 mental health 
coaching and expanded access to resources such 
as the employee assistance plan (EAP). The EAP 
provides employees and their families with access 
to counseling and support services to help them 
confidently face challenges. While we continue to 
enhance these efforts, we are proud of the progress 
we’ve made in building a workplace where every 
employee can thrive.

The 3 Pillars of Leadership course blends psychology, 
neuroscience, case studies, and real-world insights 
into a comprehensive learning experience tailored for 
driven women. This program empowers participants 
to boost confidence, enhance executive presence, 
silence self-doubt, and acquire practical tools to 
navigate challenges. Upon completion, program 
graduates are equipped to step boldly into high-level 
leadership roles.

M E NTA L H E A LT H

P R O F E S S I O N A L 
D E V E LO P M E NT 

Liberty’s Women’s Summit brought together women 
from across North America for an empowering 
three-day event, uniting 285 women from 18 Liberty 
offices. The event marked a significant milestone, 
with 75% of Liberty’s female workforce in attendance.  

The Women’s Summit offered captivating keynote 
speeches, engaging breakout sessions, and 
networking opportunities, creating an environment 
of empowerment and connection.

W O M E N’S S U M M IT

“The Women’s Summit was an inspiring and 
energizing event. It was terrific to meet women 
from across Liberty’s workforce. As someone who 
has observed the oil industry over several decades, 
it struck me that this type of women’s event has 
only been possible in recent years. I’m proud of 
Liberty for providing opportunities to so many.”  
 
- Gale Norton, 48th United States Secretary of the 
Interior and Liberty Energy Board Member  



L E A D I N G L I B E RT Y

The Leading Liberty program continues to empower 
and inspire leaders across the organization. With 
Phase II concluding in June 2024, the program 
has already impacted 1,309 participants, fostering 
a culture of leadership excellence. Building on 
this success, Phase III launched in October 2024, 
bringing a brand-new curriculum that delves into 
critical topics, including conflict management, 
mental health, coaching, and navigating 
challenging employee situations. Placing a core 
focus on mental health has proven impactful, 
sparking meaningful conversations and deepening 
the program’s relevance for participants. Phase III 
is set to run through March 2026, ensuring ample 
opportunities for leaders to grow and excel. 

To complement our phased Leading Liberty 
program, we’ve introduced the Leading Liberty: 
ONE program, a dedicated one-day initiative for 
new and transitioning leaders. This program brings 
the expertise of the Leading Liberty team directly 
to district locations, offering tailored support and 
practical tools to enhance leadership capabilities. 
By addressing the unique needs of emerging 
leaders, this initiative ensures a seamless 
integration of leadership principles at every level of 
the organization. 

At its core, Leading Liberty is grounded in a 
commitment to develop resilient, compassionate, 
and effective leaders. The program aims to 
cultivate a culture that prioritizes personal growth, 
fosters collaboration and equips individuals with 
the skills necessary for organizational success. 
Through a combination of immersive training, 
meaningful dialogue, and actionable strategies, 
Leading Liberty continues to shape the Liberty 
leaders of today and tomorrow.
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TRAVIS CRIPPEN | LPI CREW LEADER

My oilfield experience began in 2011 as a roustabout. In 2013 I took a break 
to go on Active duty status in the United States Air Force as a crew chief on 
F-16 aircrafts. I resumed my oilfield career in 2022 on a drilling rig before 
entering the natural gas field in 2023. I started with LPI in July of 2023 as an 
equipment operator and moved into a crew leader role in September of 2024.

“LPI has been an incredible journey thus far and I’m excited to see what the future holds. 
We have great leaders in place and a solid group of operators and that combination 
makes for a great work environment.  The future looks bright for LPI and I’m excited to 
be a part of it.”

GREG SISSONS | SERVICE LEADER  

JACK FEATHERINGILL | SENIOR TRAINING MANAGER 

Greg started his oilfield career as an equipment operator in Alberta back in 
2010. Over the years Greg has held many field positions, most recently taking 
on the role of Service Leader in 2022. He spends his days with his crews in 
Grande Prairie, Red Deer and on lease locations. When Greg’s not working you 
will find him traveling with his family, watching a sports event and listening to 
a crime podcast.

“The way Liberty brings awareness to the oil and gas industry and uses their platforms 
to advocate for reliable and secure energy makes me proud and excited to be part of the 
Liberty Family.”

Jack grew up in Midland/Odessa, where his weekends spent in the frac yards 
of the oil and gas industry shaped his future. After high school, he began his 
career working on different rigs and equipment, including frac and drilling 
rigs. His journey led him to Liberty in 2011, where he joined the Maintenance 
Department, before transitioning to the Training Department in 2023.

“I have two families: the one at home and my family here at Liberty. In my 14 years with 
the company, I’ve had the honor of working alongside some of the best in the business. 
Much like my family at home, my Liberty family drives me to ensure they have what they 
need to succeed. Many people will never know what it’s like to be part of this unique 
community, and I’m deeply grateful to be part of something so special.”

P E O P L E &  C U LT U R E 



$1 MILLION
TOTA L D O N AT I O N S

8,474 HOURS 
V O LU NT E E R E D 

58 ORGANIZATIONS
S U P P O RT E D BY LO V E,  L I B E RT Y 

We are proud to strengthen our relationships with 
Indigenous communities through collaboration and 
active community involvement. One of the highlights 
of our efforts was our support as a Sponsor for the 
Project Forest Doig River First Nation Rewilding 
Project in northeastern British Columbia. By planting 
over 115,000 trees and native plants, the project 
aims to revitalize the land, enhance biodiversity, 
and support cultural reconnection through the 
integration of food-bearing and medicinal plants.

We also continued to build our partnerships with 
Indigenous communities through various cultural 
and community-focused initiatives. Our involvement 
in events like the Blueberry River First Nations 
Culture Camp, the Halfway River and Doig River 
rodeos, the Grande Prairie Indigenous Relay Race, 
and West Moberly Culture Days helped foster cultural 
awareness, youth engagement, and community 
pride. 

C A N A D A I N D I G E N O U S R E L AT I O N S

L I B E RT Y E N E R G Y R E C O G N I Z E D A S 
2 0 2 4 C O R P O R AT E V O LU NT E E R O F 
T H E Y E A R  
 
– Grande Prairie Regional Association  
of Volunteer Organizations 

At Liberty, we are deeply committed to making 
a meaningful difference in our communities. 
Through our focus on education, alleviating 
poverty, and support for veterans, we strive 
to build a brighter and more promising future 
for all.

BUILDING STRONG 
COMMUNITIES

C O M M U N IT Y 

T H R E E P I L L A R S

E D U C AT I O N

P O V E RT Y

V E T E R A N S
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ACE Scholarships is committed to helping low-in-
come parents provide an excellent education for 
their children. ACE raises money to award financial 
scholarships, enabling students to attend the school 
of their choice. Our partnership with ACE spans 
over 14-years and we are proud to have assisted in 
awarding over 1,000 scholarships. 

A C E S C H O L A R S H I P S 
E D U C AT I O N

C O M M U N IT Y

100 SCHOLARSHIPS 
F U N D E D I N 2 0 2 4

The Denver team dedicated a day to the Special 
Olympics Colorado (SOCO) Plane Pull, successfully 
moving a United Airlines plane 12 feet across the 
tarmac. Their efforts raised funds to support over 
23,000 SOCO athletes. It’s inspiring to see Liberty 
teamwork in action, contributing to sports, health, 
educational, and leadership programs that empower 
Special Olympics athletes with the confidence and 
skills they need to thrive in their daily lives.

S P E C I A L O LY M P I C S 
C O LO R A D O 

E D U C AT I O N

Liberty is proud to support organizations that 
provide opportunities for veterans, first responders, 
and active military personnel. This Veterans Day, our 
Vernal office partnered with the Golden Age Center 
to host a special lunch in honor of those who served. 
With meals prepared by BAYOU BBQ, a veteran-
owned food truck, we were able to serve 88 seniors 
and veterans. It was a memorable day celebrating 
our heroes and the sacrifices they made for our 
freedom.

G O L D E N A G E C E NT E R 
V E T E R A N S

The Calgary team participated in the Pull for Wishes 
event, supporting Make-A-Wish Canada, competing 
against other service companies while raising funds 
for this important cause. We were also proud to 
present a check to the foundation, reflecting the 
generous contributions from our employees and the 
Love, Liberty matching program. This donation plays 
a crucial role in helping grant life-changing wishes to 
children with critical illnesses.

M A K E-A-W I S H C A N A D A  
P O V E RT Y

The Liberty West Texas team took part in a monthly 
initiative delivering meals to local senior citizens 
through the Meals on Wheels program, providing 
nourishment and fostering connection for those in 
need. Their dedication to the community is inspiring, 
volunteering over 300 hours throughout the year.

M E A L S O N W H E E L S
P O V E RT Y

Our El Reno team partnered with Feed the Children, a 
nonprofit dedicated to providing hope and resources 
to families in need while working to end childhood 
hunger and build resilient futures. Together, the team 
packed 640 boxes of food for families in Oklahoma 
City, making a meaningful and positive impact in the 
community.

F E E D T H E C H I L D R E N 
P O V E RT Y



Launched in January 2024, the Bettering 
Human Lives Foundation (BHLF) aims to 
combat energy poverty in sub-Saharan Africa 
by increasing access to liquefied petroleum 
gas (LPG) for cooking. BHLF’s mission is 
to provide safer, cleaner cooking solutions, 
improving health and quality of life while 
empowering communities.

BE T TERING HUM AN 
LI V ES FOUNDATION

F O U N D AT I O N

$1 MILLION COMMITMENT
F R O M L I B E RT Y TO B H L F

$644,000 IN LOANS
D I S B U R S E D TO E NT R E P R E N E U R S

$300,000 RAISED
I N  Y E A R 1  B E YO N D L I B E RT Y’S 
C O M M IT M E NT S

Liberty Energy is a dedicated partner to the Bettering 
Human Lives Foundation (BHLF), providing crucial 
support in both funding and outreach. Liberty’s 
commitment to the foundation includes an annual 
$1 million donation and 100% of BHLF’s overhead 
costs, ensuring that all donations directly support 
African entrepreneurs. Liberty also played an 
integral role in raising awareness and funds through 
the inaugural Liberty 5K in October 2024, where over 
300 participants came together to support BHLF’s 
mission. The event highlighted energy poverty and 
clean cooking initiatives, with many participants 
going above and beyond by donating additional 
funds. Looking ahead, Liberty remains committed to 
expanding our partnership and driving meaningful 
change through BHLF.

L I B E RT Y D O N AT I O N TO B H L F

 “BHLF support has been instrumental in 
our growth and in advancing our vision 
of increased LPG adoption making it 
more available and accessible. The high 
financing costs and complex processes in 
our financial sector have posed significant 
challenges. We could never have achieved 
such quick growth without this BHLF 
partnership.” 

– Henry Osei
Founder and CEO of Henos Energy
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A great example of BHLF’s approach is our 
partnership with Henos Energy in Ghana. In March 
2024, we provided a $46,000 loan to help build and 
deploy LPG cylinder exchange cages at fuel stations, 
enabling customers to swap empty cylinders for 
full cylinders closer to their homes. Within just six 
months, Henos doubled the number of cylinders 
exchanged and has consistently made on-time loan 
payments. Due to their success, BHLF has granted 
a second loan to convert kitchens in local schools 
from wood to LPG, improving the health and learning 
environment for thousands of students, teachers, 
and staff.

PA RT N E R S H I P S P OT L I G HT

Indoor air pollution from cooking with 
firewood & charcoal causes over 3 million 
deaths annually. More than Malaria, 
Tuberculosis, and HIV/AIDS combined.

4 out of 5 Africans still cook their daily 
meals using firewood and charcoal.

Women and girls spend about 5 hours each 
day collecting fuel and cooking, preventing 
them from accessing education and 
employment.

Of the $4 billion needed in Africa, only $215 
million is invested annually in clean cooking.

T H E  P R O B L E M

T H E  S O L U T I O N

The Foundation's economic development approach 
enables African businesses to innovate, expand, 
and grow. This results if sustained increases in 

access to clean cooking, which, in turn, uplifts the 
well-being of women, children, and communities.

BHLF provides catalytic funding to small 
businesses and entrepreneurs working locally 

across the clean cooking value chain.

These investments prioritize increasing LPG 
affordability & reduce logistical barriers for 

purchasing LPG and cookstoves.

H E N O S E N E R G Y

Envirofit is dedicated to developing affordable, high-
quality clean cooking solutions that improve health, 
reduce emissions, and enhance energy access 
for low-income communities. BHLF is supporting 
Envirofit in two key initiatives to drive widespread 
adoption of clean cooking technology. First, BHLF 
is helping fund the development of SmartGas 2.0, 
a lower-cost LPG meter that will enable consumer 
pay-per-use which serves to lower or eliminate up-
front costs of canisters and fuel that frequently 
make the adoption of clean cooking financially 
impossible for many families. Additionally, BHLF 
is backing Envirofit Ghana in establishing the first 
LPG cookstove manufacturing facility. This facility 
will expand access to affordable, locally produced 
cookstoves.

E N V I R O F IT

MamaGas is a last mile LPG distribution company. 
It manages last mile distribution for Shell Afrigas. 
Since 2019, MamaGas has been the heartbeat of 
Nairobi’s kitchens, delivering trusted cooking gas 
to homes with speed, safety, and reliability. It also 
excels in the construction and fit-out of kitchens 
for schools and hospitals. BHLF is supporting 
MamaGas to convert school kitchens from firewood 
to LPG.

M A M A G A S

Sources: IEA, Energy Sector Management Assistance Program (ESMAP), 
World Health Organization, UNAIDS, Clean Cooking Alliance.



(In millions) 2024 2023 2022

Total Revenue $4,315 $4,748 $4,149 

Total Gross Margin3 $1,115 $1,399 $1,000 

Pre-Tax Net Income $403 $735 $400

S E L E CT E D F I N A N C I A L D ATA

A FORMUL A FOR 
L ASTING SUCCESS

B U S I N E S S S T R AT E G Y

At the heart of our success is a simple yet powerful 
philosophy: foster a culture that empowers 
leadership at every level and fuels innovation across 
our company.  Our corporate culture attracts and 
retains top talent, aligns incentives with long-term 
financial goals, and strengthens our partnerships 
with our customers, vendors, and the communities 
we operate in.  Through disciplined investments in 
technology and assets, we continue to extend our 
competitive advantages and deliver strong returns 
for investors.  We prioritize free cash flow generation 
while maintaining a fortress-like balance sheet that 
enables us to seize high-return opportunities as they 
arise.

The dynamic nature of the energy landscape 
demands both agility and a long-term vision.  The 
successes and challenges of 2024 reinforced 
the strength of our business model, built on 
technological innovation and executional 
excellence.  For the full year, total sales were $4.3 
billion and Adjusted EBITDA2 was $922 million.  We 
invested $627 million in net capital expenditures and 
returned $175 million to shareholders through share 
repurchases and cash dividends.  Even as industry 
activity softened throughout the year, we delivered 
exceptional performance, achieved new operational 
records, and strengthened our reputation as the 
partner of choice.  By staying true to our core values, 
we will continue to create meaningful value for our 
customers, shareholders, and employees in the 
years to come.

Liberty’s unwavering commitment to 
delivering the highest quality service is the 
lifeblood of our business. This relentless 
focus is essential to our business strategy: 
driving superior returns across business 
cycles.  Over our 13-year operating history, 
we have achieved an average cash return on 
invested capital (CROCI)1 of 24%, nearly 50% 
higher than the S&P 500, while navigating 
multiple oil and gas cycles, macroeconomic 
uncertainties, and reduced capital flows into 
the energy sector.  

1 Cash Return on Capital Invested is a non-GAAP operational measure. 
Please see Financials on page 32 for reconciliation and calculation of 
nonGAAP financial and operational measures. 
2 Adjusted EBITDA is a non-GAAP financial measure. Please see Financials 
on page 32 for reconciliation and calculation of non-GAAP financial and 
operational measures.
3 Total Gross Margin is total revenue less cost of services for each period 
presented.
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We are at an exciting time in our journey as a company, 
energized by the opportunities that lie ahead for 
Liberty.  While the completions market in North 
America has matured, we have an unprecedented 
opportunity to advance technology innovation and 
accelerate growth in power services.  Our long-term 
investments in these businesses position us to 
deliver top tier services and meaningfully enhance 
profitability.  By leveraging our differential approach, 
combining cutting edge engineering, digital systems, 
and vertical integration, we are poised to share the 
future of Liberty while driving strong returns across 
cycles.

In completions, Liberty remains at the forefront 
of technology innovation, continuously improving 
efficiency, emissions reduction, and operational 
performance. In 2024, our digiFleet deployments 
with the latest in pump technology were delivered 
at an accelerated pace, without any compromise 
in performance.  In fact, a digiPrime fleet achieved 
the highest pump efficiency over a one year period 
in Liberty history.  Our technology team further 
advanced equipment pump technology, with the 
latest iteration of our digiPrime platform. Developed 
in partnership with Cummins, this breakthrough 
introduced the industry’s first natural gas variable-
speed large displacement engine, optimizing fuel 

G R O W T H S T R AT E G Y

efficiency and load management. Additionally, 
our integrated digital ecosystem—spanning pump 
control, power generation, fuel management, 
predictive maintenance, and logistics—continues 
to enhance performance while reducing costs. 
Liberty is well-positioned to capture demand growth 
with advanced fleet solutions that deliver superior 
economic advantages to our customers.

Beyond oilfield services, Liberty sees a 
generational opportunity in power services, driven 
by surging electricity demand across industries. 
The convergence of data center expansion, 
manufacturing onshoring, mining growth, and 
industrial electrification requires scalable, flexible 
power solutions—an area where Liberty’s expertise 
in distributed energy systems provides a competitive 
edge. With 130 megawatts (MW) already deployed, 
primarily supporting digiFleet operations, we plan 
to bring an additional 400 MW online by year end 
2026. Our ability to rapidly deploy modular, low-
emission power generation assets positions us 
to serve commercial and industrial, data center, 
energy, and mining industries. With a strong pipeline 
of opportunities exceeding near-term capacity 
expansion plans, Liberty is building a power business 
designed for long-term success, just as we did in 
completions over a decade ago.

C A S H R E T U R N O N C A P ITA L I N V E S T E D



$ In millions 2024 2023 2022 2021 2020 2019 2018 2017 2016 2015 2014 2013 2012

Net income (loss) $316 $556 $400 $(187) $(161) $75 $249 $169 $(61) $(9) $35 $9 $26

Depreciation, depletion, 
and amortization $505 $422 $323  $263 $180 $165 $125 $81 $41 $36 $22 $13 $6

Interest expense, net $33 $28 $23  $16 $15 $15 $17 $13 $6 $6 $4 $1 $-

Income tax expense 
(benefit) $87 $178 $(1) $9 $(31) $14 $40 $- $- $- $- $- $-

EBITDA $941 $1,184 $745 $101 $3 $269 $432 $263 $(13) $33 $60 $23 $32

Stock based 
compensation expense $32 $33 $23 $20 $17 $14 $5 $- $- $- $- $- $-

Fleet start-up and lay-
down costs $ - $2 $17 $3 $12 $5 $10 $14 $4 $1 $5 $3 $-

Transaction, severance 
and other costs $ - $2 $6 $15 $21 $- $1 $4 $6 $- $- $- $-

(Gain) loss on disposal of 
assets $(5) $(7) $(5) $1 $ - $3 $(4) $- $(3) $- $- $- $-

Provision for credit 
losses $ - $1 $- $- $5 $1 $- $- $- $6 $- $- $-

Loss (gain) on 
remeasurement of 
liability under tax 
receivable  
agreements

$3 $(2) $76 $(19) $- $- $- $- $- $- $- $- $-

Unrealized (gain) on 
investments, net $(49) $— $(2) $- $- $- $- $- $- $- $- $- $-

Adjusted EBITDA $922 $1,213 $860 $121 $58 $291 $444 $281 $(6) $41 $65 $26 $32

FIN ANCI AL 
RECONCILI ATIONS

F I N A N C I A L S

R E C O N C I L I AT I O N O F H I S TO R I C A L N E T I N C O M E 
(LO S S) TO E B IT D A & A D J U S T E D E B IT D A 1
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$ In millions 2024 2023 2022 2021 2020 2019 2018 2017 2016 2015 2014 2013 2012 2011

Adjusted EBITDA1 $922 $1,213 $860 $121 $58 $291 $444 $281 $(6) $41 $65 $26 $32

Total Assets $3,296 $3,034 $2,576 $2,041 $1,890 $1,283 $1,117 $852 $452 $297 $332 $175 $107 $36

Add back: 
Accumulated 
depreciation, 
depletion, and 
amortization

$1,918 $1,502 $1,142 $863 $623 $456 $307 $198 $117 $77 $41 $19 $6 $-

Less: Accounts 
payable and  
accrued liabilities

$571  $572 $610 $528 $312 $227 $219 $220 $119 $53 $99 $27 $13 $2

Total Gross 
Capital Invested $4,643 $3,963 $3,108 $2,375 $2,200 $1,513 $1,204 $830 $451 $321 $273 $167 $100 $34

Average Gross 
Capital Invested4 $4,303 $3,536 $2,742 $2,288 $1,857 $1,358 $1,017 $640 $386 $297 $220 $134 $67

Cash Return on 
Capital Invested3 21% 34% 31% 5% 3% 21% 44% 44% (1)% 14% 29% 19% 47%

$ In millions 
Capital Employed 2024 2023 2022 2021

Net income $316 $556 $400

Add back: Income tax expense (benefit) $87 $178 $(1)
Add back: Loss (gain) on remeasurement of liability 
under tax receivable agreements5 $3 $(2) $76

Less: Unrealized (gain) on investments, net $(49) $- $(2)

Adjusted Pre-tax net income $357 $733 $476

Total debt, net of discount $191 $140 $218 $122

Total equity $1,979 $1,841 $1,497 $1,230

Total Capital Employed $2,169 $1,981 $1,716 $1,353

Average Capital Employed6 $2,075 $1,849 $1,534

Adjusted Pre-Tax Return on Capital Employed7 17% 40% 31%

C A LC U L AT I O N O F A D J U S T E D P R E-TA X R E T U R N O N C A P ITA L E M P LOY E D 2

C A LC U L AT I O N O F H I S TO R I C A L C A S H R E T U R N O N C A P ITA L I N V E S T E D 3

1 Adjusted EBITDA is not presented in accordance with generally accepted 
accounting principles in the United States (“U.S. GAAP”). Please see the table 
above for a Reconciliation of net Income (loss) to EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA, 
its most directly comparable to U.S. GAAP financial measure.
2 Adjusted Pre-Tax Return on Capital Employed (“ROCE”) is an operational 
measure. Please see the table above for a Calculation of Adjusted Pre-Tax Return 
on Capital Employed. Certain amounts in the table above may not sum to the 
amounts presented due to the cumulative effects of rounding.
3 Cash Return on Capital Invested (“CROCI”) is an operational measure. CROCI 
is the ratio of Adjusted EBITDA, as reconciled above, for the year then ended to 
Average Gross Capital Invested. Please see the table above for a calculation of 
Cash Return on Capital Invested.

4 Average Gross Capital Invested is the simple average of Gross Capital Invested 
as of the end of the current year and prior year.
5 Loss (gain) on remeasurement of the liability under tax receivable agreements is 
a result of the release of the valuation allowance on the Company’s deferred tax 
assets  and the result of a change in the estimated future effective tax rate and 
should be excluded in the determination of pre-tax return on capital employed.
6 Average Capital Employed is the simple average of Total Capital Employed as of 
the end of the current year and prior year.
7 Adjusted Pre-Tax Return on Capital Employed is the ratio of adjusted pre-tax 
net income for the twelve months ended December 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022 to 
Average Capital Employed.



CAUTION ARY NOTE 
REGARDING FORWARD -
LOOKING STATEMENTS

C O N C LU S I O N

In order to utilize the ‘safe harbor’ provisions of the 
United States Private Securities Litigation Reform 
Act of 1995 and the general doctrine of cautionary 
statements, Liberty is providing the following 
cautionary statement. This report contains certain 
forecasts, projections, and forward-looking 
statements that is, statements related to future, 
not past events and circumstances with respect to 
the financial condition, results of operations and 
businesses of Liberty and certain of the plans and 
objectives of Liberty with respect to these items. For 
this purpose, any statement that is not a statement 
of historical fact should be considered a forward-
looking statement. These statements may generally, 
but not always, be identified by the use of words 
such as ‘will’, ‘expects’, ‘is expected to’, ‘estimates,’ 
‘aims’, ‘target,’ ‘goal,’ ‘should’, ‘could,’ ‘would,’ ‘may’, 
‘might,’ ‘objective’, ‘is likely to’, ‘intends’, ‘believes’, 
‘predicts,’ ‘projects,’ ‘anticipates’, ‘plans’, ‘we see’ or 
similar expressions; however, the absence of these 
words does not mean that the statements are not 
forward looking. These forward-looking statements 
are subject to certain risks, uncertainties, and 
assumptions, including those disclosed from time 

to time in Liberty’s filings with the Securities and 
Exchange Com-mission (the “SEC”). As a result of 
these factors, actual results may differ materially 
from those indicated or implied by such forward 
looking statements. Any forward-looking statement 
speaks only as of the date on which it is made, and, 
except as required by law, we do not undertake any 
obligation to update or revise any forward-looking 
statement, whether as a result of new information, 
future events or otherwise. New factors emerge from 
time to time, and it is not possible for us to predict 
all such factors. When considering these forward-
looking statements, you should keep in mind the 
risk factors and other cautionary statements in 
“Item 1A. Risk Factors” included in Liberty’s latest 
Annual Report on Form 10-K and in our other public 
filings with the SEC. All forward looking statements, 
expressed or implied, included in this report are 
expressly qualified in their entirety by this cautionary 
statement. This cautionary statement should also 
be considered in connection with any subsequent 
written or oral forward-looking statements that we 
or persons acting on our behalf may issue.
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CAUTIONARY NOTE REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS 

This Annual Report on Form 10-K (“Annual Report”) and certain other communications made by us contain forward-
looking statements within the meaning of Section 27A of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the “Securities Act”), and 
Section 21E of the Securities Exchange of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”), including, among others, expected 
performance, future operating results, oil and natural gas demand and prices and the outlook for the oil and gas industry, future 
global economic conditions, the impact of worldwide political, military and armed conflict, the impact of announcements and 
changes in oil production quotas by oil exporting countries, improvements in operating procedures and technology, our business 
strategy and the business strategies of our customers, in addition to other estimates, and beliefs. For this purpose, any statement 
that is not a statement of historical fact should be considered a forward-looking statement. We may use the words “estimate,” 
“outlook,” “project,” “forecast,” “position,” “potential,” “likely,” “believe,” “anticipate,” “assume,” “plan,” “expect,” “intend,” 
“achievable,” “may,” “will,” “continue,” “should,” “could” and similar expressions to help identify forward-looking statements. 
However, the absence of these words does not mean that the statements are not forward-looking. We cannot assure you that our 
assumptions and expectations will prove to be correct. Important factors, many of which are beyond our control, could cause 
our actual results to differ materially from those indicated or implied by forward-looking statements, including but not limited 
to the risks and uncertainties described in this Annual Report and other filings that we make with the U.S. Securities Exchange 
Commission (the “SEC”). We undertake no intention or obligation to update or revise any forward-looking statements, except 
as required by law, whether as a result of new information, future events or otherwise and readers should not rely on the 
forward-looking statements as representing the Company’s views as of any date subsequent to the date of the filing of this 
Annual Report. These forward-looking statements are based on management’s current belief, based on currently available 
information, as to the outcome and timing of future events. 

All forward-looking statements, expressed or implied, included in this Annual Report are expressly qualified in their 
entirety by this cautionary statement. This cautionary statement should also be considered in connection with any subsequent 
written or oral forward-looking statements that we or persons acting on our behalf may issue. 

MARKET AND INDUSTRY DATA 

This Annual Report includes market and industry data and certain other statistical information based on third-party 
sources including independent industry publications, government publications and other published independent sources, such as 
content and estimates provided by Lium, LLC (“Lium Research”) as of December 31, 2024, and industry content and figures 
provided by Baker Hughes Co. (“Baker Hughes”) as of December 31, 2024. Neither Lium Research nor Baker Hughes is a 
member of the Financial Industry Regulatory Authority or the Securities Investor Protection Corporation and neither is a 
registered broker dealer or investment advisor. Although we believe these third-party sources are reliable as of their respective 
dates, we have not independently verified the accuracy or completeness of this information. Some data is also based on our own 
good faith estimates, which are supported by our management's knowledge of and experience in the markets and business in 
which we operate. 

TRADEMARKS, SERVICE MARKS AND TRADENAMES 

This Annual Report contains trademarks, tradenames, and service marks that are owned by us or other companies, which 
are our property. Solely for convenience, the trademarks, tradenames, and service marks referred to in this Annual Report may 
appear without the ®, TM, and SM symbols, but such references are not intended to indicate, in any way, that we will not 
assert, to the fullest extent under applicable law, our rights or the rights of the applicable licensors to these trademarks, 
tradenames, and service marks. We do not intend our use or display of other parties’ trademarks, tradenames, or service marks 
to imply, and such use or display should not be construed to imply a relationship with, or endorsement or sponsorship of us by, 
these other parties. 
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PART I 

 

As used in this Annual Report, except as otherwise indicated or required by the context, all references in this Annual 
Report to (i) the “Company,” “Liberty,” “we,” “us” and “our” refer to Liberty Energy Inc. and its consolidated subsidiaries; 
and (ii) “Liberty LLC” refer to Liberty Oilfield Services New HoldCo LLC. 

Item 1. Business 

Our Company 

The Company, together with its subsidiaries, is a leading integrated energy services and technology company focused on 
providing innovative hydraulic fracturing services and related technologies to onshore oil and natural gas exploration and 
production (“E&P”) companies. We offer customers hydraulic fracturing services, together with complementary services 
including wireline services, proppant delivery solutions, field gas processing and treating, compressed natural gas (“CNG”) 
delivery, data analytics, related goods (including our sand mine operations), and technologies to facilitate lower emission 
completions, thereby helping our customers reduce their emissions profile. 

Our areas of operations are in all of the most active shale basins in North America, including the Permian Basin, the 
Williston Basin, the Haynesville Shale, the Eagle Ford Shale, the Denver-Julesburg Basin (the “DJ Basin”), the Western 
Canadian Sedimentary Basin, the Powder River Basin, and the Appalachian Basin (Marcellus Shale and Utica Shale). Our 
operations also extend to a few smaller shale basins, including the Anadarko Basin, the Uinta Basin, the San Juan Basin, as well 
as the Beetaloo Basin in Northern Territory, Australia. The breadth of our operational footprint provides us an opportunity to 
leverage our fixed costs and to efficiently reposition our equipment in response to customer requirements. 

Areas of North American Operations 

 
The process of hydraulic fracturing involves pumping a pressurized stream of fracturing fluid (typically a mixture of 

water, chemicals and proppant) into a well casing or tubing to cause the underground formation to fracture or crack. These 
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fractures release trapped hydrocarbon particles and provide a conductive channel for the oil or natural gas to flow freely to the 
wellbore for collection. The propping agent, or proppant, typically sand, becomes lodged in the cracks created by the hydraulic 
fracturing process, “propping” them open to facilitate the flow of hydrocarbons from the reservoir to the well. The fracturing 
fluid is engineered to lose viscosity, or “break,” and is subsequently flowed back from the formation, leaving the proppant 
suspended in the formation fractures. Once our customer has flushed the fracturing fluids from the well using a controlled flow-
back process, the customer manages fluid and water recycling or disposal. 

Our hydraulic fracturing fleets consist of mobile hydraulic fracturing units and other auxiliary heavy equipment to 
perform fracturing services. Our hydraulic fracturing units consist primarily of high-pressure hydraulic pumps, engines, 
transmissions, radiators and other supporting equipment (including power generation units for electric fleets) that are typically 
mounted on trailers. We refer to the group of units and other equipment, such as blenders, data vans, sand storage, tractors, 
manifolds and high-pressure fracturing iron, which are necessary to perform a typical hydraulic fracturing job, as a “fleet,” and 
the personnel assigned to each fleet as a “crew.” The size of each fleet and crew can vary depending on the requirements of 
each job design. 

Wireline operations supplement our hydraulic fracturing fleets, which consist of a truck equipped with a spool of wireline 
that is lowered into wells to convey specialized tools or equipment, such as perforating guns and charges, which are necessary 
to connect the wellbore with the target formation. This operation is performed between each hydraulic fracturing stage. Our 
wireline service is primarily offered alongside our hydraulic fracturing services, which allows us to maximize efficiency for our 
customers through optimized coordination of the wireline and hydraulic fracturing services. In addition, we also offer our 
wireline service on a stand-alone basis. 

We also operate two sand mines that allows us to vertically integrate our supply-chain in the Permian Basin. The mines 
provide sand to Liberty hydraulic fracturing fleets as well as to third parties. With a secured supply of regional sand in the 
basin, we reduce our dependency on other providers and any downtime that could result from sand supply issues. 

We are a leading provider of last-mile proppant delivery solutions, including proppant handling equipment and logistics 
software across North America. We offer innovative environmentally friendly technology with optimized dry and wet sand 
containers and wellsite proppant handling equipment that drive logistics efficiency and reduce noise and emissions. We believe 
that our wet sand handling technology is a key enabler of the next step of cost and emissions reductions in the proppant 
industry. We also offer customers the latest real-time logistics software, PropConnect™, as a hosted software as a service. 

We also own and operate Liberty Power Innovations LLC (“LPI”), an integrated alternative fuel and power solutions 
provider for remote applications. On April 6, 2023, LPI expanded its footprint with the acquisition of Siren Energy & Logistics, 
LLC (“Siren” and such acquisition, the “Siren Acquisition”), a Permian focused integrated natural gas compression and CNG 
delivery business that we have since expanded to other basins. LPI provides CNG supply, field gas processing and treating, and 
well site fueling and logistics. LPI was formed with the initial focus on supporting Liberty’s transition towards our next 
generation digiFleets℠ and dual fuel fleets, by providing consistent and reliable CNG fueling services, which are critical to 
maintaining highly efficient well site operations. Through 2024, LPI was primarily focused on supporting an industry transition 
to natural gas fueled technologies, serving as a key enabler of the next step of cost and emissions reductions in the oilfield. In 
January 2025, we announced LPI’s expansion into the distributed power business, where we expect to leverage our experience 
in providing electric power for our digiFrac pumps into other areas inside and outside of the oilfield.  

Our operations are organized into a single business segment, which consists of hydraulic fracturing services, including 
wireline, proppant delivery and goods, including our Permian Basin sand mines, and natural gas compression and delivery, and 
we have one reportable geographical segment, North America. We have grown from one active hydraulic fracturing fleet as of 
December 2011 to approximately 40 active fleets as of December 31, 2024. We are focused on providing “next-generation” frac 
fleets and technologies to assist our customers with completing their wells in an efficient and responsible manner. 

Our founders and management are pioneers in the development of data-driven hydraulic fracturing technologies for 
application in shale plays. Prior to founding the Company, several members of the senior executive management team founded 
and built Pinnacle Technologies, Inc. (“Pinnacle Technologies”) into a leading fracturing technology company. In 1992, 
Pinnacle Technologies developed the first commercial hydraulic fracture mapping technologies, analytical tools that played a 
major role in launching the shale revolution. Our extensive experience with fracture technologies and customized fracture 
design has enabled us to develop new technologies and processes that provide our customers with real-time solutions that 
significantly enhance their completions. These technologies include hydraulic fracture propagation models, reservoir 
engineering tools, large, proprietary shale production databases and multi-variable statistical analysis techniques. Taken 
together, these technologies have enabled us to be a leader in hydraulic fracture design innovation and application. Our 
management team has an average of over 20 years of energy services experience. 
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We believe technical innovation and strong relationships with our customers and suppliers distinguish us from our 
competitors and are the foundations of our business. We expect that E&P companies will continue to focus on technological 
innovation as completion complexity and fracture intensity of horizontal wells increases, particularly as customers are 
increasingly focused on reducing emissions from their completions operations. We remain proactive in developing innovative 
solutions to industry challenges, including developing: (i) our databases of U.S. unconventional wells to which we apply our 
proprietary multi-variable statistical analysis technologies to provide differential insight into fracture design optimization; (ii) 
our Liberty Quiet Fleet® design which significantly reduces noise levels compared to conventional hydraulic fracturing fleets; 
(iii) hydraulic fracturing fluid systems tailored to the specific reservoir properties in the basins in which we operate; (iv) our 
dual fuel dynamic gas blending (“DGB”) fleets that allow our engines to run diesel or a combination of diesel and natural gas, 
to optimize fuel use, reduce emissions and lower costs; (v) our digiFleets℠, comprising of digiFrac℠ and digiPrime℠ pumps 
and other complementary equipment, including power generation units (together “digiTechnologies℠”), our innovative, 
purpose-built electric and hybrid frac pumps that have approximately 25% lower CO2e emission profile than the Tier IV DGB; 
(vi) our wet sand handling technology which eliminates the need to dry sand, enabling the deployment of mobile mines nearer 
to wellsites; and (vii) the launch of LPI to support the transition to our digiFleets as well as the transition to lower costs and 
emissions in the oilfield. In addition, our integrated supply chain includes proppant, chemicals, equipment, natural gas fueling 
services, logistics and integrated software which we believe promotes wellsite efficiency and leads to more pumping hours and 
higher productivity throughout the year to better service our customers. In order to achieve our technological objectives, we 
carefully manage our liquidity and debt position to promote operational flexibility and invest in the business throughout the full 
commodity cycle in the regions we operate. 
Recent Leadership Updates 

On February 3, 2025, Christopher A. Wright, our Chief Executive Officer and Chairman of the Board, was confirmed to 
the position of Secretary of Energy of the United States and resigned from his positions as Chairman of the Board, Director, and 
Chief Executive Officer of the Company. Also, on February 3, 2025, in accordance with the Company’s succession plan, the 
Board appointed William Kimble as the non-executive Chairman of the Board and Ron Gusek as the Company’s Chief 
Executive Officer and Director. Lastly, on January 22, 2025, the Board approved an increase to the size of the Board from nine 
to 10 directors and appointed Arjun Murti to fill the newly created vacancy. 

Focused on Continuous Improvement 

We support all energy sources that improve our energy system and better lives. We passionately work to better the process 
of bringing hydrocarbons to the surface in a clean, safe and efficient fashion and view these principles as foundational to our 
business. We focus on developing and adding technologies to our operations that assist our customers in implementing their 
goals. The list below sets forth specific examples of our efforts in this regard:  

• In 2013, we introduced Tier II dual-fuel technology to our fleets which allows our frac pumps to use natural gas in 
place of some diesel fuel to lower particulate emissions. 

• In 2014, we began the use of containerized sand delivery at frac locations, which reduces dust, noise and truck traffic. 

• In 2016, we introduced Quiet Fleet® technology, which significantly reduces noise levels associated with frac 
operations. 

• In 2018, we partnered with an equipment supplier to introduce Tier IV dynamic gas blending, or DGB, engines to our 
frac fleet that can substitute up to 80% of the diesel typically used by a frac pump with natural gas and significantly 
lower emission levels in frac operations. Tier IV DGB engines were added to our fleet in 2020. 

• In 2018, we began the design and development of digiFracSM, our innovative, purpose-built electric frac pump that has 
approximately a 25% lower CO2e emission profile than the Tier IV DGB. 

• In 2021, we announced the successful test of digiFrac and in 2022 commenced delivery of commercial pumps. 

• In October 2021, we became a leading provider of last-mile proppant delivery solutions including proppant handling 
equipment and logistics software. We offer innovative, environmentally friendly technology with optimized dry and 
wet sand containers and wellsite proppant handling equipment that drive logistics efficiency and reduce noise and 
emissions. 

• In 2022, we began the design and development of digiPrimeSM, the first hybrid pump technology, utilizing direct 
mechanical drive for the pumps while simultaneously generating power capable of electrifying supporting equipment 
at the well site. These pumps have a lower CO2e emissions profile than digiFrac.  



 
 

 
4 
 

• In 2023, we launched LPI and closed the acquisition of Siren. We believe that the shift in fuel consumption from diesel 
to cleaner natural gas has the potential to promote emissions reductions in the industry. 

• In 2023, we commenced deployment of digiFleetsSM, comprised of digiFrac and digiPrime pump technology along 
with other complementary equipment from our digiTechnologiesSM suite. This deployment also included mobile 
generation units to provide the needed electricity to power our digiFrac pumps in remote locations. 

• In 2024, the Bettering Human Lives Foundation, a non-profit organization dedicated to improving the well-being of 
communities worldwide with an early focus on promoting clean cooking solutions, supported two companies in Kenya 
and Ghana to convert schools from burning firewood to liquid petroleum gas. During 2024, we made charitable 
contributions of $0.9 million to the Bettering Human Lives Foundation. 

• The third edition of Liberty’s Bettering Human Lives report, emphasizing energy’s central role in human lives, was 
released in February 2024. Over 30,000 copies of the report have been distributed worldwide to date. 

• In January 2025, we announced LPI’s expansion into the distributed power business, where we expect to leverage our 
experience in providing electric power for our digiFrac pumps into other areas inside and outside of the oilfield. 

Furthermore, we are continuously committed to engagement in our communities. We provide K-12 scholarships to low-
income children through Alliance for Choice in Education, and we proudly fund a Liberty Scholars program at Montana 
Technological University to enable lower-income students to obtain a college education. In total, over 100 students received 
Liberty scholarships across the U.S. and Canada in 2024. In addition to our educational initiatives, we have targeted outreach to 
organizations focused on veterans, poverty abatement, low-income housing, criminal justice reform, and job opportunities for 
those who had a disadvantaged start in life.  

In 2024, we created a charitable giving committee to facilitate communication across all areas of Liberty operations and 
direct support to organizations where our employees live and work. In 2021, we launched Love, Liberty, our corporate 
matching program, to double our impact and encourage our employees to get involved in their communities. In 2024, Liberty 
processed over 200 match requests to nearly 50 different organizations, totaling nearly $40,000 in matching contributions. 

Cyclical Nature of Industry 

We operate in a cyclical industry reflecting global oil and gas supply and demand dynamics, current and expected future 
oil and gas commodity prices, and the perceived stability and sustainability of those prices. Global oil and gas supply and 
demand can be impacted by general domestic and international economic conditions, inflationary pressures, geopolitical 
developments, government regulations, and other factors. Such factors also impact capital expenditures and drilling and 
completions activities of E&P companies, which in turn can impact demand for our services. For these reasons, the results of 
our operations may fluctuate from quarter to quarter and from year to year, and these fluctuations may distort comparisons of 
results across periods. 

Seasonality 

Our results of operations have historically reflected seasonal tendencies relating to holiday seasons, inclement weather 
and the conclusion of our customers’ annual drilling and completion capital expenditure budgets. Our most notable declines 
typically occur in the fourth quarter of the year for the reasons described above. Additionally, some of the areas in which we 
have operations, including Canada, the DJ Basin, Powder River Basin and Williston Basin, are adversely affected by seasonal 
weather conditions, primarily in the winter and spring. During periods of heavy snow, ice, rain, or frost, and related road 
restrictions, we may be unable to move our equipment between locations, thereby reducing our ability to provide services and 
generate revenues. The exploration activities of our customers may also be affected during such periods of adverse weather 
conditions. Additionally, extended drought conditions in our operating regions could impact our ability or our customers’ ability 
to source sufficient water or increase the cost for such water. 

Intellectual Property 

Over the last several years and in connection with the acquisition of Siren, and others in prior periods, we have 
significantly invested in our research and technology capabilities. Our efforts to date have been focused on developing 
innovative, fit-for-purpose solutions designed to enhance our core service offerings, increase completion efficiencies, provide 
cost savings to our operations and add value for our customers. A cornerstone of our technological advantage is a series of 
proprietary databases of U.S. unconventional wells that include production data, completion designs and reservoir 
characteristics. We utilize these databases to perform multi-variable statistical analysis that generates differential insight into 
fracture design optimization to enhance our customers’ production economics. Our emphasis on data analytics is also deployed 
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during job execution through the use of real-time feedback on variables that maximizes customer returns by improving cost-
effective hydraulic fracturing operations. 

Today, we hold approximately 500 patents and patent licenses relating to our engineering and technology solutions. We 
seek patent and trademark protections for our technology when we deem it prudent, and we aggressively pursue protection of 
these rights when warranted. We believe our patents, trademarks, and other protections for our proprietary technologies are 
adequate for the conduct of our business and that no single patent or trademark is critical to our business. In addition, we rely, 
to a great extent, on the technical expertise and know-how of our personnel to maintain our competitive position, and we take 
commercially reasonable measures to protect trade secrets and other confidential and/or proprietary information relating to the 
technologies we develop. 

Human Capital Management 

As of December 31, 2024, we had approximately 5,700 employees and no unionized labor. We believe we have good 
relations with our employees and that one of our key competitive advantages is our people. Our highly trained, experienced and 
motivated employees are critical to delivering our hydraulic fracturing services. Taking care of our employees is one of our top 
priorities, and we continually invest in hiring, training and retaining the employees we believe to be the best in our field. We 
consistently assess the current business environment and labor market to refine our compensation and benefits programs in 
order to attract and retain top talent in our industry. We strive to promote from within our existing employee base to manage 
new hydraulic fracturing fleets and organically grow our operating expertise. This organic growth is essential in achieving the 
expertise and level of customer service we strive to provide each of our customers. As a result, we plan to continue to invest in 
our employees through both personal and professional training to attract and retain the best individuals in our areas of 
operation. Overall, we focus on individual contributions and team success to foster a culture built around operational excellence 
and superior safety. 

Health and Safety 

Our people are our most important asset and ensuring their safety and the safety of those around them is the most 
important thing we do. Making certain that the Liberty team is well trained to handle the complexities of daily field operations, 
and that their training and competency remains current with the latest technology and standards is a key component. In order to 
facilitate this training, we have developed the Liberty Frac Academy, a thorough program where employees are trained on 
various aspects of the Company, from safety in equipment operation to leadership skills. The Liberty Frac Academy not only 
ensures dissemination of high-quality training material, but also provides a forum for sharing best practices and lessons learned 
across the Company. As a result, we are among the safest service providers in the industry with a constant focus on Health, 
Safety and Environmental performance and service quality, as evidenced by an average incident rate that was consistently lower 
than the industry average from 2022 to 2024. Our employee-centered focus and reputation for safety has enabled us to obtain 
projects from industry leaders with some of the most demanding safety and operational requirements. 

Programs and Benefits 

One way we have demonstrated a history of investing in our workforce is by offering competitive salaries and wages. To 
foster a strong sense of ownership, restricted stock units are provided to eligible employees under our long-term incentive plan. 
Furthermore, we offer innovative benefits to all eligible employees, including, among others, comprehensive health insurance 
coverage, parental leave to all new parents, for birth or adoption, financial support for child adoption, leave to care for partners 
with serious health conditions, 401(k) savings plan and educational tuition assistance for both bachelor’s degree and master’s 
degree programs. We are also passionate about community investment and are a part of the Ban the Box initiative which 
provides work opportunities for formerly incarcerated individuals. 

Governmental Regulation and Climate Change 

As a company with operations primarily in the United States and Canada, we are subject to the laws of both jurisdictions 
in which we operate and the rules and regulations of various governing bodies, which may differ among those jurisdictions. 
Compliance with these laws, rules and regulations has not had, and is not expected to have, a material effect on our capital 
expenditures, results of operations and competitive position as compared to prior periods. We are also subject to numerous 
environmental and regulatory requirements related to our operations. For further information related to such regulation, see the 
risks described under the heading “Risk Factors” in this Annual Report. 

Our operations are subject to numerous stringent and complex laws and regulations at the federal, state, and local levels 
governing the discharge of materials into the environment, environmental protection, and health and safety aspects of our 
operations. Failure to comply with these laws and regulations or to obtain or comply with permits may result in the assessment 
of administrative, civil, and criminal penalties, imposition of remedial or corrective action requirements, and the imposition of 
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injunctions or other orders to prohibit certain activities, restrict certain operations, or force future compliance with 
environmental requirements. 

There is inherent risk of incurring significant environmental costs and liabilities in the performance of our operations due 
to our handling of petroleum hydrocarbons, other hazardous substances, and wastes, as a result of air emissions and wastewater 
discharges related to our operations, and because of historical operations and waste disposal practices. Spills or other releases of 
regulated substances, including such spills and releases that occur in the future, could expose us to material losses, 
expenditures, and liabilities under applicable environmental laws and regulations. Under certain of such laws and regulations, 
we could be held strictly liable for the removal or remediation of previously released materials or property contamination, 
regardless of whether we were responsible for the release or contamination and even if our operations met previous standards in 
the industry at the time they were conducted. The following is a summary of some of the existing laws, rules, and regulations to 
which we are subject. 

U.S. Laws and Regulations 

Hazardous Substances and Waste Handling 

The Resource Conservation and Recovery Act (“RCRA”) and comparable state statutes regulate the generation, 
transportation, treatment, storage, disposal, and cleanup of hazardous and non-hazardous wastes. Under guidance issued by the 
U.S. Environmental Protection Agency (the “EPA”), the individual states administer some or all of the provisions of RCRA, 
sometimes in conjunction with their own, more stringent requirements. RCRA currently exempts many E&P wastes from 
classification as hazardous waste. Specifically, RCRA excludes produced waters and other wastes intrinsically associated with 
the exploration, development, or production of crude oil and natural gas from the definition of hazardous waste. However, these 
E&P wastes may still be regulated under state solid waste laws and regulations, and it is possible that certain oil and natural gas 
E&P wastes now classified as non-hazardous could be classified as hazardous waste in the future. Stricter regulation of wastes 
generated during our or our customers’ operations could result in increased costs for our operations or the operations of our 
customers, which could in turn reduce demand for our services and adversely affect our business. We cannot guarantee that the 
EPA will not revisit the exemption of E&P waste or that waste will not become more heavily regulated at the federal or state 
level. 

Comprehensive Environmental Response, Compensation, and Liability Act 

The Comprehensive Environmental Response, Compensation, and Liability Act (“CERCLA”), also known as the 
Superfund law, imposes joint and several liability, without regard to fault or legality of conduct, on classes of persons who are 
considered to be responsible for the release of a hazardous substance into the environment. These persons include the current 
and former owner or operator of the site where the release occurred and anyone who transported or disposed or arranged for the 
transport or disposal of a hazardous substance released at the site. Persons who are or were responsible for releases of 
hazardous substances under CERCLA and any state analogs may be subject to joint and several strict liability for the costs of 
cleaning up the hazardous substances that have been released into the environment and for damages to natural resources and for 
the costs of certain health studies. We currently own, lease, or operate, and previously owned, leased, or operated numerous 
properties that have been used for manufacturing and other operations for many years. These properties and the substances 
disposed or released on them may be subject to CERCLA and analogous state laws. Under such laws, we could be required to 
remove previously disposed substances and wastes, remediate contaminated property, or perform remedial operations to prevent 
future contamination. In addition, it is not uncommon for neighboring landowners and other third parties to file claims for 
personal injury and property damage allegedly caused by the hazardous substances released into the environment. 

Worker Health and Safety 

We are subject to a number of federal and state laws and regulations, including the OSHA regulatory standards, which 
establish requirements to protect the health and safety of workers. Among others, we may be subject to OSHA regulations for 
safe operation of cranes, power industrial trucks and similar equipment at our worksites, safe practices for working in 
hazardous locations and permit-required confined spaces, and proper use of required personal protective equipment by workers. 
OSHA’s hazard communication standard requires tracking of hazardous chemicals present at the worksite, sharing of such 
information with the workers, and training the workers to handle the chemicals appropriately. The EPA’s community right-to-
know regulations under Title III of the federal Superfund Amendment and Reauthorization Act, and comparable state statutes 
also require maintenance of information about hazardous materials used or produced in operations and provision of this 
information to employees, state and local government authorities, and citizens. We are also subject to OSHA’s regulatory 
standard for respirable crystalline silica, which provides measures to protect workers in hydraulic fracturing operations from 
exposure to this chemical including limiting exposure to airborne respirable crystalline silica in excess of a specified limit. 
Additionally, the Federal Motor Carrier Safety Administration (the “FMCSA”) regulates and provides safety oversight of 
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commercial motor vehicles, the EPA establishes requirements to protect human health and the environment, the federal Bureau 
of Alcohol, Tobacco, Firearms and Explosives establishes requirements for the safe use and storage of explosives, and the 
federal Nuclear Regulatory Commission establishes requirements for the protection against ionizing radiation. We are subject to 
Mine Safety & Health Administration regulations related to operation of sand mines including regulations for training and 
retraining of workers engaged in sand mine operations. Substantial fines and penalties can be imposed, and orders or 
injunctions limiting or prohibiting certain operations may be issued, in connection with any failure to comply with these laws 
and regulations. 

Water Discharges 

The federal Water Pollution Control Act (the “Clean Water Act”) and analogous state laws impose restrictions and strict 
controls with respect to the discharge of pollutants, including spills and leaks of oil and other substances, into waters of the U.S. 
The discharge of pollutants into regulated waters, including jurisdictional wetlands, is prohibited, except in accordance with the 
terms of a permit issued by the EPA or an analogous state agency. To the extent the agencies expanding the range of properties 
subject to the Clean Water Act’s jurisdiction or impose more stringent requirements on discharges of wastewater, certain energy 
companies could face increased costs and delays with respect to obtaining permits, including for the discharge of dredge and fill 
activities in waters of the U.S. or wetland areas, which in turn could reduce demand for our services. Furthermore, the process 
for obtaining permits has the potential to delay our operations and those of our customers. Spill prevention, control, and 
countermeasure requirements of federal laws require appropriate containment berms and similar structures to help prevent the 
contamination of navigable waters by a petroleum hydrocarbon tank spill, rupture, or leak. In addition, the Clean Water Act and 
analogous state laws require individual permits or coverage under general permits for discharges of wastewater and storm water 
runoff from certain types of facilities. The Clean Water Act and analogous state laws provide for administrative, civil, and 
criminal penalties for unauthorized discharges and, together with the Oil Pollution Act of 1990, impose rigorous requirements 
for spill prevention and response planning, as well as substantial potential liability for the costs of removal, remediation, and 
damages in connection with any unauthorized discharges. 

Air Emissions 

The federal Clean Air Act (the “CAA”) and comparable state laws regulate emissions of various air pollutants through air 
emissions permitting programs and the imposition of other requirements. In addition, the EPA has developed, and continues to 
develop, stringent regulations governing emissions of toxic air pollutants and other air emissions at specified sources. These 
regulations change frequently. These laws and regulations may require us to obtain pre-approval for the construction or 
modification of certain projects or facilities expected to produce or significantly increase air emissions, obtain and strictly 
comply with stringent air permit requirements, utilize specific equipment or technologies to control emissions of certain 
pollutants or prohibit certain types of emissions management practices. In recent years, the CAA has been used to impose 
additional stringent requirements upon oil and gas production operations. While many of these rules may not be directly 
applicable to our business, they are applicable to the business of our customers. Promulgation of stricter permitting or emission 
control requirements could delay or impair our or our customers’ ability to obtain air emission permits, to develop new wells 
and to continue to operate existing wells, and result in fewer wells being drilled or redeveloped, causing a decrease in demand 
for our services. Federal and state regulatory agencies can impose administrative, civil, and criminal penalties, as well as 
injunctive relief, for non-compliance with air permits or other requirements of the CAA and associated state laws and 
regulations. 

Climate Change 

The EPA has determined that emissions of greenhouse gases, including carbon dioxide and methane, present a danger to 
public health and the environment because emissions of such gases are, according to the EPA, contributing to warming of the 
Earth’s atmosphere and other climatic changes. The EPA has established greenhouse gas emissions reporting requirements for 
sources in the oil and gas sector and has also promulgated rules requiring certain large stationary sources of greenhouse gases to 
obtain preconstruction permits under the CAA and follow “best available control technology” requirements. Although we are 
not likely to become subject to greenhouse gas emissions permitting and best available control technology requirements 
because none of our facilities are presently major sources of greenhouse gas emissions, such requirements could become 
applicable to our customers. In addition, the EPA has used the CAA to impose additional greenhouse gas emissions control 
requirements upon our customers. Furthermore, the Inflation Reduction Act (“IRA 2022”) imposes a methane emissions charge 
on certain emissions from specific classes of sources that are required to report their greenhouse gas emissions, which began in 
calendar year 2024. This fee as well as additional requirements on greenhouse gas emissions from our customers could have an 
adverse effect on their costs of operations or financial performance, thereby adversely affecting our business, financial 
condition, and results of operations. Also, the U.S. Congress has from time to time considered adopting legislation to reduce 
emissions of greenhouse gases, and many states have already established regional greenhouse gas “cap-and-trade” programs. 
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The adoption of any legislation or regulation that restricts emissions of greenhouse gases from the equipment and operations of 
our customers or with respect to the oil and natural gas they produce could adversely affect demand for our products and 
services. 

Hydraulic Fracturing 

Our business is clearly dependent on hydraulic fracturing and horizontal drilling activities. As further described herein, 
hydraulic fracturing is an important and common practice that is used to stimulate production of hydrocarbons, particularly 
natural gas, from tight formations, including shale. The process, which involves the injection of water, sand, and chemicals 
under pressure into formations to fracture the surrounding rock and stimulate production, is typically regulated by state oil and 
natural gas commissions. However, federal agencies have asserted regulatory authority over certain aspects of the process. 
There is considerable legislative and regulatory focus on the emissions of methane, which may be released during hydraulic 
fracturing, chemicals used in the hydraulic fracturing process, the discharge of wastewater from hydraulic fracturing operations 
and concerns about the triggering of seismic activity by the injection of produced waters into underground wells. The adoption 
of new or revised legislation or regulation could make it significantly more difficult and/or costly to drill and operate oil and 
gas wells. If adopted, such legislation or regulation could result in a decline in the completion of new oil and gas wells or the 
recompletion of existing wells, which could negatively impact the drilling programs of our customers and, consequently, delay, 
limit or reduce the demand for our services. Given the long-term trend towards increasing regulation, future regulation in the 
industry remains a possibility. 

Some states, counties, and municipalities have enacted or are considering moratoria on hydraulic fracturing. For example, 
New York, Vermont, Maryland, and Washington have banned the use of high-volume hydraulic fracturing. Alternatively, some 
municipalities are, or have considered, zoning and other ordinances, the conditions of which could impose a de facto ban on 
drilling and/or hydraulic fracturing operations. Further, some states, counties, and municipalities are closely examining water 
use issues, such as permit and disposal options for processed water, which could have a material adverse impact on our 
financial condition, prospects, and results of operations if such additional permitting requirements are imposed upon our 
industry. If new laws or regulations that significantly restrict hydraulic fracturing are adopted, such laws could reduce demand 
for our business by making it more difficult or costly for certain customers to perform fracturing to stimulate production from 
tight formations. 

National Environmental Policy Act  

Businesses and operations of our customers that are carried out on federal lands may be subject to the National 
Environmental Policy Act (“NEPA”), which requires federal agencies, including the U.S. Department of the Interior, to evaluate 
major agency actions having the potential to significantly impact the human environment. In the course of such evaluations, an 
agency will evaluate the potential direct, indirect, and cumulative impacts of a proposed project and, if necessary, will prepare a 
detailed Environmental Impact Statement that must be made available for public review and comment. To the extent that our 
customers’ current activities, as well as proposed plans, on federal lands require governmental permits that are subject to the 
requirements of NEPA, this process has the potential to delay or impose additional conditions upon the development of oil and 
natural gas projects which in turn could reduce demand for our services. 

Endangered Species Act and Migratory Bird Treaty Act 

The federal Endangered Species Act (“ESA”) was established to protect endangered and threatened species. Pursuant to 
that act, if a species is listed as threatened or endangered, restrictions may be imposed on activities adversely affecting that 
species or its habitat. The U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service (the “FWS”) must also designate the species’ critical habitat and 
suitable habitat as part of the effort to ensure survival of the species. A critical habitat or suitable habitat designation could 
result in further material restrictions to land use and may materially delay or prohibit land access for oil and natural gas 
development and development of sand mines used for hydraulic fracturing. Similar protections are offered to migratory birds 
under the Migratory Bird Treaty Act (the “MBTA”), which makes it illegal to, among other things, hunt, capture, kill, possess, 
sell, or purchase migratory birds, nests, or eggs without a permit. This prohibition covers most bird species in the U.S. Future 
implementation of the rules implementing the ESA and the MBTA are uncertain. If we or our customers were to have areas 
within our respective operations designated as critical or suitable habitat for a protected species, it could decrease demand for 
our services and have a material adverse effect on our business. 
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Canadian Laws and Regulations 

Companies such as us offering energy services that include hydraulic fracturing, engineering, and wireline services in the 
Provinces of Alberta and British Columbia in Canada are regulated by both the provincial governments of Alberta and British 
Columbia (“Province”) and the federal government of Canada (“Canada”). This includes, but is not limited to, regulation 
related to environmental protection legislation, climate change legislation, fracking legislation, and legislation related to 
wildlife. In addition to being regulated by the Province and Canada, energy services companies may also be subject to other 
international, national, and subnational laws, regulations, and policies. 

Provincial Legislation 

Energy services companies are primarily regulated by provincial governments in Canada. For example, in Alberta, 
provincial legislation potentially applicable to our Canadian operations includes the Environmental Protection and 
Enhancement Act, RSA 2000, e E-12. This Act promotes the protection, enhancement and wise use of the environment, and 
deals with matters such as air emissions, water discharges, and the handling of hazardous substances and waste control (for 
example, under the Waste Control Regulation, Alta Reg 192/1996). Other environmental legislation in the Province that applies 
to energy service companies includes: the Water Act, RSA 2000, c W-3 and associated regulations, under which companies 
must apply for a license for any water use; and the Wildlife Act, RSA 2000, c W-10 which provides for the protection and 
conservation of wild animals and endangered species in Alberta. 

Other potentially applicable provincial legislation in Alberta includes legislation directed at the transportation of 
dangerous goods, including oil (the Dangerous Goods Transportation and Handling Act, RSA 2000, c D-4 and associated 
regulations), legislation intended to provide for the responsible management of oil wells and associated sites, including 
remediation responsibilities (the Oil and Gas Conservation Act, RSA 2000, c O-6 and associated regulations), legislation 
establishing regulatory bodies overseeing oil and gas and electricity in Alberta (the Responsible Energy Development Act, SA 
2012, c R-17.3 and the Alberta Utilities Commission Act, SA 2007, c A-37.2), legislation governing the removal of gas or 
propane from Alberta (the Gas Resources Preservation Act, RSA 2000, c G-4), legislation to effect conservation and prevent 
waste of the oil sands resource in Alberta (the Oil Sands Conservation Act, RSA 2000, c O-7), and legislation governing worker 
safety (the Occupational Health and Safety Act, SA 2017, c O-2.1). 

The Alberta Energy Regulator has a number of directives that are applicable to energy services companies, such as 
Directive 050, updated in November 2024, which addresses salinity ranges for soils that can receive drilling wastes, Directive 
058, updated in October 2022, which sets out regulatory requirements for the handling, treatment, and disposal of upstream 
oilfield waste, and Directive 083, updated in November 2024, which sets out the requirements for managing subsurface 
integrity associated with hydraulic fracturing, including seismic monitoring in certain areas of Alberta. Other provinces in 
Canada have their own statutory regime applicable to oilfield service companies. 

Federal Legislation 

The Federal government in Canada shares certain jurisdiction with the provinces over certain environmental matters. 
Federal legislation potentially applicable to our Canadian operations includes legislation focused on regulating greenhouse 
gases (the Greenhouse Gas Pollution Pricing Act, SC 2018, c 12, s 186), legislation aimed at protecting wildlife (the Species at 
Risk Act, SC 2002, c 29, Fisheries Act, RSC 1985, c F-14, and Migratory Birds Convention Act, 1994, SC 1994, c 22), and 
legislation governing the transportation of potentially dangerous substances and prevention of pollution (the Transportation of 
Dangerous Goods Act, 1992, SC 1992, c 34 and Canadian Environmental Protection Act, 1999, SC 1999, c 33). 

Environmental assessment of major projects in Canada is shared between the federal and provincial governments. The 
federal environmental assessment legislation, the Impact Assessment Act, SC 2019, c 28, s1, governs approvals for federally 
regulated projects and was amended in June 2024. 

Properties 

Properties 

Our corporate headquarters are located at 950 17th Street, Suite 2400, Denver, Colorado 80202. We lease our general 
office space at our corporate headquarters. The lease expires in December 2027. We currently own or lease the following 
additional principal properties: 
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District Facility Location  Size  Leased or Owned 
Midland, TX  90,000 sq. ft on 35 acres  Owned 
Midland, TX  70,000 sq. ft on 12 acres  Owned 
Midland, TX  14,000 sq. ft on 22 acres  Owned 
Odessa, TX  77,500 sq. ft on 48 acres  Owned 
Cibolo, TX  90,000 sq. ft on 34 acres  Owned 
Kermit, TX  5,000 acres  Owned 
Monahans, TX  3,200 acres  Owned 
Magnolia, TX  63,350 sq. ft  Leased (through May 31, 2031) 
Magnolia, TX  29,402 sq. ft  Leased (through December 31, 2026) 
Orla, TX  4 acres  Leased 
Shreveport, LA  215,000 sq ft. on 45 acres  Owned 
Cheyenne, WY  115,000 sq. ft on 60 acres  Owned 
Henderson, CO  50,000 sq. ft on 13 acres  Leased (through December 31, 2034) 
Henderson, CO  96,582 sq. ft on 12 acres  Owned 
Briggsdale, CO  7 acres  Leased 
Williston, ND  55,000 sq. ft on 50 acres  Owned 
Vernal, UT  30,901 sq. ft on 10 acres  Leased (through September 30, 2025) 
El Reno, OK  80,000 sq. ft on 33 acres  Owned 
Red Deer, AB  170,000 sq. ft on 42 acres  Owned 
Grand Prairie, AB  135,000 sq. ft on 40 acres  Owned 

We also lease several smaller facilities, which leases generally have terms of one to six years. We believe that our existing 
facilities are adequate for our operations and their locations allow us to efficiently serve our customers. We do not believe that 
any single facility is material to our operations and, if necessary, we could readily obtain a replacement facility. 

Marketing and Customers 

We have developed long-term partnerships with our customers through a continuous dialogue focused on their production 
economics. Further, we have a proven track record of executing our customers’ plans and delivering on time and in line with 
expected costs. Our customer base includes a broad range of integrated and independent E&P companies, including some of the 
largest E&P companies in our areas of operation. Our technological innovations, customer-tailored approach and track record of 
consistently providing high-quality, safe and reliable service has allowed us to develop long-term customer partnerships, which 
we believe makes us the service provider of choice for many of our customers. 

Our sales and marketing activities typically are performed through our local sales representatives in each geographic 
region and are supported by our corporate headquarters. For the years ended December 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022, our top five 
customers collectively accounted for approximately 43%, 34%, and 30% of our revenues, respectively. For the year ended 
December 31, 2024, Occidental Petroleum Corporation accounted for more than 10% of consolidated revenues. For the years 
ended December 31, 2023, and 2022, no customers accounted for more than 10% of consolidated revenues. 

Suppliers and Raw Materials 

We have a dedicated supply chain team that manages sourcing and logistics to ensure flexibility and continuity of supply 
in a cost-effective manner across our areas of operation. We have built long-term relationships with multiple industry leading 
suppliers of proppant, chemicals and hydraulic fracturing equipment and have started to internally design and assemble key 
pump and maintenance parts. In addition, we have built a strong relationship with the assemblers of our custom-designed 
hydraulic fracturing fleets and believe we will continue to have timely access to new, high capability fleets as we continue to 
grow. In 2018, we vertically integrated a supplier of certain major components through the acquisition of ST9 Gas and Oil LLC, 
which subsequently changed its name to Liberty Advanced Equipment Technologies LLC, and now provides engineering 
design and packaging for certain equipment used in our operations. In October 2021, we vertically integrated a supplier of our 
containerized sand and last mile proppant logistics solutions with the acquisition of Proppant Express Solutions LLC. This, 
along with our two state-of-the-art sand mines in the Permian Basin, help us alleviate the risk of proppant supply shortages. 
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We purchase a wide variety of raw materials, parts and components that are manufactured and supplied for our operations. 
We are not dependent on any single source of supply for those parts, supplies or materials. To date, we have generally been able 
to obtain the equipment, parts and supplies necessary to support our operations, although we have experienced delivery delays 
and shortages on some items. While we believe that we will be able to make satisfactory alternative arrangements in the event 
of any interruption in the supply of these materials and/or products by one of our suppliers, we may not always be able to do so. 
In addition, certain materials for which we do not currently have long-term supply agreements could experience shortages and 
significant price increases in the future. As a result, we may be unable to mitigate any future supply shortages and our results of 
operations, prospects and financial condition could be adversely affected. 

Competition 

The markets in which we operate are highly competitive. We provide services in various geographic regions across the 
United States and Canada, and our competitors include many large and small oilfield service providers, including some of the 
largest integrated service companies. Our hydraulic fracturing services compete with large, integrated companies such as 
Halliburton Company as well as other companies including Patterson-UTI Energy Inc. and ProFrac Holding Corp. In addition, 
we compete regionally with ProPetro Services, Inc. and other smaller service providers. 

We believe that the principal competitive factors in the markets we serve are technical expertise, equipment capacity, 
work force competency, efficiency, safety record, reputation, experience and price. Additionally, projects are often awarded on a 
bid basis, which tends to create a highly competitive environment. We seek to differentiate ourselves from our competitors by 
delivering the highest-quality services and equipment possible, coupled with superior execution and operating efficiency in a 
safe working environment. 

Available Information 

We file or furnish annual, quarterly and current reports, proxy statements and other documents with the SEC under the 
Exchange Act. The SEC also maintains an internet website at www.sec.gov that contains reports, proxy and information 
statements and other information regarding issuers, including us, that file electronically with the SEC. 

We also make available free of charge through our website, www.libertyenergy.com, electronic copies of certain 
documents that we file with the SEC, including our annual reports on Form 10-K, quarterly reports on Form 10-Q, current 
reports on Form 8-K and amendments to those reports filed or furnished pursuant to Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Exchange Act 
as soon as reasonably practicable after we electronically file such material with, or furnish it to, the SEC. 
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Item 1A. Risk Factors 

Described below are certain risks that we believe apply to our business and the industry in which we operate. You should 
carefully consider each of the risks described below in conjunction with other information including the financial statements 
and related notes provided in this Annual Report and in our other public disclosures. The risks described below highlight 
potential events, trends or other circumstances that could adversely affect our business, financial condition, results of 
operations, cash flows, liquidity or access to sources of financing, and consequently, the market value of our Class A common 
stock, par value $0.01 per share (“Class A Common Stock”). These risks could cause our future results to differ materially from 
historical results and from guidance we may provide regarding our expectations of future financial performance. The risks 
described below are those that we have identified as material and is not an exhaustive list of all the risks we face. There may be 
other risks and uncertainties not currently known to us or that we currently deem to be immaterial which may also materially 
and adversely affect our business operations in the future. Please refer to the explanation of the qualifications and limitation on 
forward-looking statements set forth on page ii hereof. 
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Risks Related to the Oil and Natural Gas Industry 

Federal, state, local and other applicable legislative and regulatory initiatives relating to hydraulic fracturing may serve to 
limit future oil and natural gas E&P activities and could have a material adverse effect on our results of operations and 
business. 

Various federal, state, local and other applicable legislative and regulatory initiatives have been, or could be undertaken 
which could result in additional requirements or restrictions being imposed on hydraulic fracturing operations. Currently, 
hydraulic fracturing is generally exempt from federal regulation under the Safe Drinking Water Act Underground Injection 
Control (the “SDWA UIC”) program and is typically regulated by state oil and gas commissions or similar agencies but 
increased scrutiny and regulation by federal agencies does occur. For example, in late 2016, the EPA released a final report on 
the potential impacts of hydraulic fracturing on drinking water resources, concluding that “water cycle” activities associated 
with hydraulic fracturing may impact drinking water resources. Additionally, the EPA has asserted regulatory authority pursuant 
to the SDWA UIC program over hydraulic fracturing activities involving the use of diesel fuel in the fracturing fluid and issued 
guidance regarding the permitting of such activities. Furthermore, the U.S. Bureau of Land Management has previously 
published rules that established stringent standards relating to hydraulic fracturing on federal and Native American lands. 
Similarly, the EPA has adopted rules on the capture of methane and other emissions released during hydraulic fracturing. These 
rules have been the subject of ongoing legal challenges. In recent years, the EPA has enacted additional methane rules for new 
and existing petroleum operations. The EPA rules could make it more difficult and/or costly to drill and operate oil and gas 
wells. These rules may result in a decline in the completion of new oil and gas wells or the recompletion of existing wells, 
which could negatively impact the drilling programs of our customers and, consequently, delay, limit or reduce the demand for 
our services. In addition to federal regulatory actions, legislation has been introduced, but not enacted, in Congress to provide 
for further federal regulation of hydraulic fracturing and to require disclosure of the chemicals used in the hydraulic fracturing 
process. 

Moreover, many states and local governments have adopted, or are considering, regulations that impose new or more 
stringent permitting, disclosure, disposal and well-construction requirements on hydraulic fracturing operations, including states 
where we or our customers operate, such as Texas, Colorado and North Dakota. States could also elect to place prohibitions on 
hydraulic fracturing, as several states have already done. In addition, some states have adopted broader sets of requirements 
related to oil and gas development more generally that could impact hydraulic fracturing activities. For example, the Colorado 
legislature adopted SB 19-181, which gave greater regulatory authority to local jurisdictions and reoriented the mandate of the 
Colorado Oil and Gas Conservation Commission to place more emphasis on the protection of human health and the 
environment. In response, a reconstituted Colorado Oil and Gas Conservation Commission modified its rules to address the 
requirements of the legislation, adopting increased setback requirements, provisions for assessing alternative sites for well pads 
to minimize environmental impacts, and consideration to cumulative impacts, among other provisions. The Colorado 
Department of Public Health and the Environment also finalized rules related to the control of emissions from certain pre-
production activities. In Texas, there has been increased pressure on the Railroad Commission (“RRC”) to impose more 
stringent limitations on the flaring of gas from wells to prevent waste and because of increased concerns related to the 
environmental effects of flaring. The RRC continues to approve flaring permits, but at least one lawsuit was filed by a pipeline 
operator challenging the RRC’s flaring approval practices, but the suit was subsequently dismissed without any substantive 
opinion on the issue of flaring. Environmental groups, local citizens groups and others continue to seek to use a variety of 
means to force action on additional restrictions on hydraulic fracturing and oil and gas development generally. 

Additionally, some states have enacted legislation limiting PFAS usage in certain products or limiting PFAS usage 
generally. For example, Colorado has banned the use of PFAS in oil and gas products including hydraulic fracturing fluids, 
drilling fluids and proppants. Should PFAS be in hydraulic fracturing chemicals, this could open up a new front for the 
regulation of hydraulic fracturing and result in additional exposure to liability for contamination resulting from the use or 
release of hydraulic fracturing chemicals. Additionally, various regulatory actions have been taken with respect to PFAS, 
including listing of certain PFAS as hazardous substances under CERCLA, that may result in additional exposure to liability for 
contamination resulting from the use or release of these chemicals. 

Some states in which we operate require the disclosure of some or all of the chemicals used in our hydraulic fracturing 
operations. Certain aspects of one or more of these chemicals may be considered proprietary by us or our chemical suppliers.  
Disclosure of our proprietary chemical information to third parties or to the public, even if inadvertent, could diminish the value 
of our trade secrets or those of the chemicals suppliers and could result in competitive harm to us, which could have an adverse 
impact on our business, financial condition, prospects and results of operations. 

In recent years, there have been allegations that hydraulic fracturing may result in seismic activities. Although the extent 
of any correlation between hydraulic fracturing and seismic activity has been and remains the subject of studies and debate, 



 
 

 
14 
 

some parties believe that there is a causal relationship. As a result, federal and state legislatures and agencies may seek to 
further regulate, restrict or prohibit hydraulic fracturing. Such actions could result in a decline in the completion of new oil and 
gas wells, which could negatively impact the drilling programs of our customers and, consequently, delay, limit or reduce the 
demand for our services. 

Increased regulation and attention given to the hydraulic fracturing process could lead to greater opposition to, and 
litigation concerning, oil and natural gas production activities using hydraulic fracturing techniques. Additional legislation or 
regulation could also lead to operational delays for our customers or increased operating costs in the production of oil and 
natural gas, including from the developing shale plays, or could make it more difficult for (or could result in a prohibition for) 
us and our customers to perform hydraulic fracturing. The adoption of any additional laws or regulations regarding hydraulic 
fracturing or limitation in hydraulic fracturing could potentially cause a decrease in the completion of new oil and natural gas 
wells and an associated decrease in demand for our services and increased compliance costs and time. Such events could have a 
material adverse effect on our liquidity, consolidated results of operations, and consolidated financial condition. 

Additional legislation, executive actions, regulations or other regulatory initiatives to limit, delay or prohibit hydraulic 
fracturing or other aspects of oil and gas development may be pursued. In the event that these or other new federal restrictions, 
delays or prohibitions relating to the hydraulic fracturing process are adopted in areas where we or our customers conduct 
business, we or our customers may incur additional costs or permitting requirements to comply with such federal requirements 
that may be significant and, in the case of our customers, also could result in added restrictions or delays in the pursuit of 
exploration, development, or production activities, which would in turn reduce the demand for our services and have a material 
adverse effect on our results of operations. 

Federal legislation and regulatory initiatives relating to drilling on federal lands could harm our business and negatively 
impact the oil and natural gas industry. 

Businesses and operations of our customers may be carried out on federal lands. As an example, in January 2021, based 
on a directive from President Biden, the U.S. Department of the Interior issued an order that effectively suspended new oil and 
gas leases and drilling permits on non-Indian federal lands and waters for a period of 60 days. However, the suspension did not 
limit existing operations under valid leases.  

President Biden followed with an executive order directing the Secretary of the Interior to pause the issuance of new oil 
and gas leases on federal public lands and offshore waters pending completion of a comprehensive review of federal oil and gas 
permitting and leasing practices that take into consideration potential climate and other impacts associated with oil and gas 
activities. The leasing suspension was the subject of several lawsuits, resulting in conflicting decisions on the legality of the 
lease suspension. While the various lawsuits were pending, in August 2022, Congress passed the IRA 2022 which, among other 
things, made changes to the federal oil and gas leasing program (including increasing royalty rates and implementing policies to 
discourage venting and flaring) and require several oil and gas lease auctions, including some that had been suspended or 
cancelled.   

Additionally, in November 2021, the U.S. Department of the Interior released a report on the federal oil and gas leasing 
program, which found that the then current program failed to serve the public interest. The report made several 
recommendations, including increasing royalty rates and adding new restrictions on what lands are made available for oil and 
gas development to minimize leasing of lands with low potential for development. The U.S. Department of the Interior 
promulgated rules in 2024 based on the recommendations. In April 2022, the U.S. Department of the Interior also announced 
that the U.S. Bureau of Land Management would post notices for significantly reformed onshore lease sales that would 
promote the public interest in public lands while addressing deficiencies in the current federal oil and gas leasing program. The 
new lease sales will incorporate many of the recommendations in the U.S. Department of the Interior report on the federal 
leasing program. Such scheduled sales began in June 2022.   

Furthermore, a group of oil and gas related interests has also sued alleging that lease sales are not occurring as required 
under the Mineral Leasing Act. In addition, where lease sales have occurred, environmental groups have sued to block the sales. 
On June 1, 2022, the U.S. District Court for the District of Columbia granted a motion to voluntarily dismiss three cases after 
the U.S. Bureau of Land Management and other defendants agreed to conduct more robust environmental reviews of certain oil 
and gas leases and reconsider the cumulative climate effects of these leases. The settlement agreements apply to nearly four 
million acres of land in Colorado, Wyoming, Utah, Montana, and New Mexico. If the U.S. Bureau of Land Management fails 
to complete its obligations under the settlement agreements, the plaintiffs can reinstate the litigation.  

To the extent our customers operate on leased federal land, these and other regulatory actions could have a material 
adverse effect on the Company and our industry. 
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Our business depends on domestic capital spending by the oil and natural gas industry, and reductions in capital spending 
could have a material adverse effect on our liquidity, results of operations and financial condition. 

Our business is directly affected by our customers’ capital spending to explore for, develop and produce oil and natural 
gas in the United States and Canada. In addition, certain of our customers could become unable to pay their vendors and service 
providers, including us, as a result of a decline in commodity prices. Reduced discovery rates of new oil and natural gas 
reserves in our areas of operation as a result of decreased capital spending may also have a negative long-term impact on our 
business, even in an environment of stronger oil and natural gas prices. Any of these conditions or events could adversely affect 
our operating results. If current activity levels decrease or our customers further reduce their capital spending, it could have a 
material adverse effect on our liquidity, results of operations and financial condition. 

Industry conditions are influenced by numerous factors over which we have no control, including: 

• expected economic returns to E&P companies of new well completions; 

• domestic and foreign economic conditions and supply of and demand for oil and natural gas; 

• the level of prices, and expectations about future prices, of oil and natural gas; 

• the level of global oil and natural gas exploration and production; 

• the level of domestic and global oil and natural gas inventories; 

• the supply of and demand for hydraulic fracturing services and equipment in the United States and Canada; 

• federal, tribal, state and local laws, regulations and taxes, including the policies of governments regarding hydraulic 
fracturing, oil and natural gas exploration, development and production activities and the transportation of oil and gas 
by pipeline, as well as non-U.S. governmental regulations and taxes; 

• governmental regulations, including the policies of governments regarding the exploration for and production and 
development of their oil and natural gas reserves; 

• political and economic conditions in oil and natural gas producing countries; 

• actions by the members of the Organization of Petroleum Exporting Countries and other oil exporting nations 
(“OPEC+”) with respect to oil production levels and potential changes in such levels; 

• global weather conditions and natural disasters; 

• worldwide political, military and armed conflict, and economic conditions; 

• the cost of producing and delivering oil and natural gas; 

• lead times associated with acquiring equipment and products and availability of qualified personnel; 

• the discovery rates of new oil and natural gas reserves; 

• the production decline rate of existing oil and gas wells; 

• stockholder activism or activities by non-governmental organizations to limit certain sources of funding for the energy 
sector or to restrict the exploration, development, production and transportation of oil and natural gas; 

• the availability of water resources, suitable proppant and chemical additives in sufficient quantities for use in hydraulic 
fracturing fluids; 

• advances in exploration, development and production technologies or in technologies affecting energy consumption; 

• the availability, proximity and capacity of oil and natural gas pipelines and other transportation facilities; 

• merger and divestiture activity among oil and natural gas producers; 

• the price and availability of alternative fuels and energy sources; and 

• uncertainty in capital and commodities markets and the ability of oil and natural gas companies to raise equity capital 
and debt financing. 
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The volatility of oil and natural gas prices may adversely affect the demand for our hydraulic fracturing services and 
negatively impact our results of operations. 

The demand for our hydraulic fracturing services is primarily determined by current and anticipated oil and natural gas 
prices and the related levels of capital spending and drilling activity in the areas in which we have operations. Volatility or 
weakness in oil prices or natural gas prices (or the perception that oil prices or natural gas prices will decrease) affects the 
spending patterns of our customers and may result in the drilling of fewer new wells. This, in turn, could lead to lower demand 
for our services and may cause lower utilization of our assets. We have experienced, and may in the future experience 
significant fluctuations in operating results as a result of the reactions of our customers to changes in oil and natural gas prices. 

Prices for oil and natural gas historically have been volatile and are expected to continue to be volatile. During the year 
2024, the posted WTI price traded at an average of $76.63 per barrel (“Bbl”), as compared to the 2023 average of $77.58 per 
Bbl and the 2022 average of $94.90 per Bbl. During this three-year period, the WTI price fluctuated between a high of $123.64 
per Bbl and a low of $66.61 per Bbl. If the prices of oil and natural gas remain or become more volatile, our operations, 
financial condition, cash flows and level of expenditures may be materially and adversely affected. 

Delays or restrictions in obtaining permits by us for our operations or by our customers for their operations could impair 
our business. 

In most states, our hydraulic fracturing services, our natural gas compression and CNG delivery operations, and the 
operations of our oil and natural gas producing customers require permits from one or more governmental agencies in order to 
perform drilling and completion activities, secure water rights, or other regulated activities. Such permits are typically issued by 
state agencies, but federal and local governmental permits may also be required. The requirements for such permits vary 
depending on the location where such regulated activities will be conducted. As with all governmental permitting processes, 
there is a degree of uncertainty as to whether a permit will be granted, the time it will take for a permit to be issued, and the 
conditions that may be imposed in connection with the granting of the permit. In addition, some of our customers’ drilling and 
completion activities may take place on federal land or Native American lands, requiring leases and other approvals from the 
federal government or Native American tribes to conduct such drilling and completion activities or other regulated activities. 
Under certain circumstances, federal agencies may cancel proposed leases for federal lands and refuse to grant or delay required 
approvals. Therefore, our customers’ operations in certain areas may be interrupted or suspended for varying lengths of time, 
causing a loss of revenue to us and adversely affecting our results of operations in support of those customers. 

Oil and natural gas companies’ operations using hydraulic fracturing are substantially dependent on the availability of 
water. Restrictions on the ability to obtain water for E&P activities and the disposal of flowback and produced water may 
impact their operations and have a corresponding adverse effect on our business, results of operations and financial 
condition. 

Water is an essential component of shale oil and natural gas production during both the drilling and hydraulic fracturing 
processes. Our oil and natural gas producing customers’ access to water to be used in these processes may be adversely affected 
due to reasons such as periods of extended drought, privatization, third party competition for water in localized areas or the 
implementation of local or state governmental programs to monitor or restrict the beneficial use of water subject to their 
jurisdiction for hydraulic fracturing to assure adequate local water supplies. The occurrence of these or similar developments 
may result in limitations being placed on allocations of water due to needs by third party businesses with more senior 
contractual or permitting rights to the water. Our customers’ inability to locate or contractually acquire and sustain the receipt of 
sufficient amounts of water could adversely impact their E&P operations and have a corresponding adverse effect on our 
business, results of operations and financial condition. 

Moreover, the imposition of new environmental regulations and other regulatory initiatives could include increased 
restrictions on our producing customers’ ability to dispose of flowback and produced water generated in hydraulic fracturing or 
other fluids resulting from E&P activities. Applicable laws impose restrictions and strict controls regarding the discharge of 
pollutants into waters of the United States and require that permits or other approvals be obtained to discharge pollutants to 
such waters. Additionally, in 2016, the EPA adopted a pretreatment standard that prohibits the discharge of wastewater 
pollutants from onshore unconventional oil and gas extraction facilities to publicly owned treatment works. Further, regulations 
implemented under both federal and state laws prohibit the discharge of produced water and sand, drilling fluids, drill cuttings 
and certain other substances related to the natural gas and oil industry into coastal waters. These laws provide for civil, criminal 
and administrative penalties for any unauthorized discharges of pollutants and unauthorized discharges of reportable quantities 
of oil and hazardous substances. Compliance with current and future environmental regulations and permit requirements 
governing the withdrawal, storage and use of surface water or groundwater necessary for hydraulic fracturing of wells and any 
inability to secure transportation and access to disposal wells with sufficient capacity to accept all of our flowback and 
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produced water on economic terms may increase our customers’ operating costs and could result in restrictions, delays, or 
cancellations of our customers’ operations, the extent of which cannot be predicted. 

Our operations are subject to risks associated with climate change and potential regulatory programs meant to address 
climate change; these programs may impact or limit our business plans, result in significant expenditures or reduce demand 
for our services and reduce our revenues. 

Climate change continues to be the focus of political and societal attention. Numerous proposals have been made and are 
likely to be forthcoming on the international, national, regional, state and local levels to reduce GHG emissions. These efforts 
have included or may include cap-and-trade programs, carbon taxes, GHG reporting obligations and other regulatory programs 
that limit or require control of GHG’s from certain sources. Programs addressing climate change may limit the ability to 
produce crude oil and natural gas, require stricter limits on the release of methane or other GHGs, increase reporting and/or 
other compliance obligations associated with GHG emissions, limit the ability to explore in new areas, limit the construction of 
pipelines and related equipment or may make it more expensive to produce, any of which may decrease the demand for our 
services and our revenues. 

Incentives to conserve energy or use alternative energy sources, which can be part of climate change programs, may 
increase the competitiveness of alternative energy sources (such as wind, solar, geothermal, tidal and biofuels) or increase the 
focus on reducing the use of combustion engines in transportation (such as governmental mandates that ban the sale of new 
gasoline-powered automobiles). At various Conferences of the Parties of the United Nations Framework Convention on 
Climate Change, the parties adopted a statement calling for “transitioning away from fossil fuels” and an increased focus on 
renewable energy capacity and energy efficiency. These actions could, in turn, reduce demand for hydrocarbons and therefore 
for our services, which would lead to a reduction in our revenues.  

An increased societal and governmental focus on ESG and climate change issues may adversely impact our business, impact 
our access to investors and financing, and decrease demand for our services. 

An increased expectation that companies address ESG matters (including climate change) may have a myriad of impacts 
on our business. Some investors and lenders are factoring these issues into investment and financing decisions. They may rely 
upon companies that assign ratings to a company’s ESG performance. Unfavorable ESG ratings, as well as recent activism 
around fossil fuels, may dissuade investors or lenders from us and toward other industries, which could negatively impact our 
stock price or our access to capital. Additionally, some potential sources of investment or financing have announced an 
intention to avoid or limit investment in companies that engage in hydraulic fracturing. While a substantial number of major 
banks and financing sources remain active in investments related to hydraulic fracturing, it is possible that the investment 
avoidance or limitation theme could expand in the future and restrict access to capital for companies like us. 

Moreover, while we have and may continue to create and publish voluntary disclosures regarding ESG matters from time 
to time, many of the statements in those voluntary disclosures are based on hypothetical expectations and assumptions that may 
or may not be representative of current or actual risks or events or forecasts of expected risks or events, including the costs 
associated therewith. Such expectations and assumptions are necessarily uncertain and may be prone to error or subject to 
misinterpretation given the long timelines involved and the lack of an established single approach to identifying, measuring and 
reporting on many ESG matters. Additionally, to the extent that we report GHG emissions data, the methodologies that we use 
to calculate our emissions may change over time based upon changing industry standards. We note that standards and 
expectations regarding the processes for measuring and counting GHG emissions and GHG emission reductions are evolving, 
and it is possible that our approach to measuring our emissions maybe considered inconsistent with common or best practices 
with respect to measuring and accounting for such matters. If our approaches to such matters fall out of step with common or 
best practice, we may be subject to additional scrutiny, criticism, regulatory and investor engagement or litigation, any of which 
may adversely impact our business, financial condition or results of operation. 

In 2023, the State of California enacted legislation that will require large U.S. companies doing business in California to 
make broad-based climate-related disclosures starting as early as 2026, and other jurisdictions, domestically and internationally, 
are also considering various climate change disclosure requirements. 

In addition, ESG and climate change issues may cause consumer preference to shift toward other alternative sources of 
energy, lowering demand for oil and natural gas and consequently lowering demand for our services.  In some areas these 
concerns have caused governments to adopt or consider adopting regulations to transition to a lower-carbon economy. These 
measures may include adoption of cap-and-trade programs, carbon taxes, increased efficiency standards, prohibitions on the 
manufacture of certain types of equipment (such as new automobiles with internal combustion engines), and requirements for 
the use of alternate energy sources such as wind or solar. These types of programs may reduce the demand for oil and natural 
gas and consequently the demand for our services. 
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Approaches to climate change and a transition to a lower-carbon economy, including government regulation, company 
policies, and consumer behavior, are continuously evolving. At this time, we cannot predict how such approaches may develop 
or otherwise reasonably or reliably estimate their impact on our financial condition, results of operations and ability to compete. 
However, any long-term material adverse effect on the oil and gas industry may adversely affect our financial condition, results 
of operations and cash flows. 

Our operations are subject to significant risks, some of which are beyond our control. These risks may be self-insured, or 
may not be fully covered under our insurance policies. 

Our operations are subject to significant hazards often found in the oil and natural gas industry, such as, but not limited to, 
accidents, including accidents related to trucking operations provided in connection with our services, blowouts, explosions, 
craterings, fires, natural gas leaks, oil and produced water spills and releases of hydraulic fracturing fluids or other well fluids 
into the environment. These conditions can cause: 

• disruption in operations; 

• substantial repair or remediation costs; 

• personal injury or loss of human life; 

• significant damage to or destruction of property, and equipment; 

• environmental pollution, including groundwater contamination; 

• unusual or unexpected geological formations or pressures and industrial accidents; 

• impairment or suspension of operations; and 

• substantial revenue loss. 

In addition, our operations are subject to, and exposed to, employee/employer liabilities and risks such as wrongful 
termination, discrimination, labor organizing, retaliation claims and general human resource related matters. 

The occurrence of a significant event or adverse claim in excess of the insurance coverage that we maintain or that is not 
covered by insurance could have a material adverse effect on our liquidity, consolidated results of operations and financial 
condition. Claims for loss of oil and natural gas production and damage to formations can occur in the well services industry. 
Litigation arising from a catastrophic occurrence at a location where our equipment and services are being used or trucking 
services provided in connection therewith may result in our being named as a defendant in lawsuits asserting large claims. 

We do not have insurance against all foreseeable risks, either because insurance is not available or because of the high 
premium costs. The occurrence of an event not fully insured against or the failure of an insurer to meet its insurance obligations 
could result in substantial losses. In addition, we may not be able to maintain adequate insurance in the future at rates we 
consider reasonable. Insurance may not be available to cover any or all of the risks to which we are subject, or, even if 
available, it may be inadequate, or insurance premiums or other costs could rise significantly in the future so as to make such 
insurance prohibitively expensive. 

We could experience continued or increased severity of trucking related issues or trucking accidents, which could materially 
affect our results of operations. 

Trucking services can be adversely impacted by traffic congestion, shortage of drivers and weather delays which could 
hinder our service levels. We have experienced in the past, and we may experience in the future, a shortage of available 
trucking services in the United States due to the industry not having enough qualified drivers, which impacted our field 
operations at times. In addition, our field employees are generally required to have a commercial driver’s license (“CDL”) so 
they can drive trucks and move our frac pumps and other equipment from location to location. Obtaining employees with CDLs 
can be challenging during times when the trucking industry has driver shortages, as competition for qualified employees is 
often more intense. If we are unable to obtain trucking services on a timely basis or the services of a sufficient number of field 
employees with CDLs, it could have a material adverse impact on our financial condition, results of operations and cash flows.  

In addition, potential liability and unfavorable publicity associated with accidents in the trucking industry can be severe 
and occurrences are unpredictable. The number and severity of litigation claims may be worsened by distracted driving by both 
truck drivers and other motorists. Our transportation operations often involve traveling on unpaved roads located in rural areas, 
increasing the risk of accidents. If we are involved in an accident involving hazardous substances, if there are releases of 
hazardous substances we transport, if soil or groundwater contamination is found at our facilities or results from our operations, 
or if we are found to be in violation of applicable environmental laws or regulations, we could owe cleanup costs and incur 
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related liabilities, including substantial fines or penalties or civil and criminal liability. A material increase in the frequency or 
severity of accidents or workers’ compensation claims or the unfavorable development of existing claims could materially 
adversely affect our results of operations. In the event that accidents occur, we may be unable to obtain desired contractual 
indemnities, and our insurance may be inadequate in certain cases which could result in substantial losses. Any such lawsuits in 
the future may result in the payment of substantial settlements or damages and increases to our insurance costs. 

We may be subject to claims for personal injury and property damage, which could materially adversely affect our financial 
condition, prospects and results of operations. 

Our services are subject to inherent risks that can cause personal injury or loss of life, damage to or destruction of 
property, equipment or the environment or the suspension of our operations. Litigation arising from operations where our 
services are provided, may cause us to be named as a defendant in lawsuits asserting potentially large claims including claims 
for exemplary damages. We maintain what we believe is customary and reasonable insurance to protect our business against 
these potential losses, but such insurance may not be adequate to cover our liabilities, and we are not fully insured against all 
risks. 

In addition, our customers usually assume responsibility for, including control and removal of, all other pollution or 
contamination which may occur during operations, including that which may result from seepage or any other uncontrolled 
flow of drilling and completion fluids. We may have liability in such cases if we are grossly negligent or commit willful acts. 
Our customers generally agree to indemnify us against claims arising from their employees’ personal injury or death to the 
extent that, in the case of our hydraulic fracturing operations, their employees are injured by such operations, unless resulting 
from our gross negligence or willful misconduct. Our customers also generally agree to indemnify us for loss or destruction of 
customer-owned property or equipment. In turn, we agree to indemnify our customers for loss or destruction of property or 
equipment we own and for liabilities arising from personal injury to or death of any of our employees, unless resulting from 
gross negligence or willful misconduct of the customer. However, we might not succeed in enforcing such contractual liability 
allocation or might incur an unforeseen liability falling outside the scope of such allocation. As a result, we may incur 
substantial losses which could materially and adversely affect our financial condition and results of operation. 

We are subject to environmental and occupational health and safety laws and regulations that may expose us to significant 
costs and liabilities. 

Our operations and the operations of our customers are subject to numerous federal, tribal, regional, state and local laws 
and regulations relating to protection of the environment including natural resources, health and safety aspects of our operations 
and waste management, including the transportation and disposal of waste and other materials. These laws and regulations may 
impose numerous obligations on our operations and the operations of our customers, including the acquisition of permits or 
other approvals to conduct regulated activities, the imposition of restrictions on the types, quantities and concentrations of 
various substances that may be released into the environment or injected in non-productive formations below ground in 
connection with oil and natural gas drilling and production activities, the incurrence of capital expenditures to mitigate or 
prevent releases of materials from our equipment, facilities or from customer locations where we are providing services, the 
imposition of substantial liabilities for pollution resulting from our operations, and the application of specific health and safety 
criteria addressing worker protection. Any failure on our part or the part of our customers to comply with these laws and 
regulations could result in assessment of sanctions including administrative, civil and criminal penalties; imposition of 
investigatory, remedial or corrective action obligations or the incurrence of capital expenditures; the occurrence of restrictions, 
delays or cancellations in the permitting, performance or development of projects or operations; and the issuance of orders 
enjoining performance of some or all of our operations in a particular area. In addition to civil and other penalties associated 
with enforcement activities regarding compliance with occupational health and safety laws, our operations may be subject to 
abatement obligations that could require significant modifications to existing operations to achieve compliance. 

Our business activities present risks of incurring significant environmental costs and liabilities, including costs and 
liabilities resulting from our handling of oilfield and other wastes, because of air emissions and wastewater discharges related to 
our operations, and due to historical oilfield industry operations and waste disposal practices. Moreover, accidental releases or 
spills may occur in the course of our operations or at facilities where our wastes are taken for reclamation or disposal, and we 
cannot assure you that we will not incur significant costs and liabilities as a result of such releases or spills, including any third-
party claims for injuries to persons or damages to properties or natural resources. Some environmental laws and regulations 
may impose strict liability, which means that in some situations we could be exposed to liability as a result of our conduct that 
was lawful at the time it occurred or the conduct of, or conditions caused by, prior operators or other third parties. Remedial and 
abatement costs and other damages arising as a result of environmental and occupational health and safety laws and costs 
associated with changes in these laws and regulations could be significant and have a material adverse effect on our liquidity, 
consolidated results of operations and financial condition. 
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Laws and regulations protecting the environment generally have become more stringent in recent years and are expected 
to continue to do so, which could lead to material increases in costs for future environmental compliance and remediation. In 
particular, the ESA restricts activities that may result in a “take” of endangered or threatened species and provides for 
substantial penalties in cases where listed species are taken by being harmed. The dunes sagebrush lizard is one example of a 
species that was recently listed as an endangered species. The State of Texas has filed suit challenging the listing. The dunes 
sagebrush lizard is found in the active and semi-stable shinnery oak dunes of southeastern New Mexico and adjacent portions of 
Texas, including areas where our customers operate and our frac sand facilities are located. The listing of the dunes sagebrush 
lizard as an endangered species, may impact our operations and the operations of our customers in any area that is designated as 
the dunes sagebrush lizard’s habitat. Depending on the locations of our operations, we and our customers may be required to 
comply with expensive mitigation measures intended to protect the dunes sagebrush lizard and its habitat. If the U.S. 
Department of the Interior and Fish and Wildlife Service lists additional species as endangered or protected, it could negatively 
impact our business activities or the business activities of our customers which could subsequently impact demand for our 
services and thereafter our revenue. Furthermore, new laws and regulations, amendment of existing laws and regulations, 
reinterpretation of legal requirements or increased governmental enforcement with respect to environmental matters could 
restrict, delay or curtail exploratory or developmental drilling for oil and natural gas by our customers and could limit our well 
servicing opportunities. 

Oilfield anti-indemnity provisions enacted by many states may restrict or prohibit a party’s indemnification of us. 

We typically enter into agreements with our customers governing the provision of our services, which usually include 
certain indemnification provisions for losses resulting from operations. Such agreements may require each party to indemnify 
the other against certain claims regardless of the negligence or other fault of the indemnified party; however, many states place 
limitations on contractual indemnity agreements, particularly agreements that indemnify a party against the consequences of its 
own negligence. Furthermore, certain states, including Texas, New Mexico and Wyoming, have enacted statutes generally 
referred to as “oilfield anti-indemnity acts” expressly prohibiting certain indemnity agreements contained in or related to 
oilfield services agreements. Such anti-indemnity acts may restrict or void a party’s indemnification of us, which could have a 
material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, prospects and results of operations. 

Technology advancements in well service technologies, including those involving hydraulic fracturing, could have a 
material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations. 

The hydraulic fracturing industry is characterized by rapid and significant technological advancements and introductions 
of new products and services using new technologies. As competitors and others use or develop new technologies or 
technologies comparable to ours in the future, we may lose market share or be placed at a competitive disadvantage. Further, 
we may face competitive pressure to implement or acquire certain new technologies at a substantial cost. Some of our 
competitors may have greater financial, technical and personnel resources than we do, which may allow them to gain 
technological advantages or implement new technologies before we can. Additionally, we may be unable to implement new 
technologies or services at all, on a timely basis or at an acceptable cost. New technology could also make it easier for our 
customers to vertically integrate their operations, thereby reducing or eliminating the need for our services. Limits on our 
ability to effectively use or implement new technologies may have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition 
and results of operations. 

The ability or willingness of OPEC+ and other oil exporting nations to set and maintain production levels and/or the impact 
of sanctions and global conflicts may have a significant impact on natural gas commodity prices. 

OPEC+ is an intergovernmental organization that seeks to manage the price and supply of oil on the global energy market. 
Actions taken by OPEC+ members, including those taken alongside other oil exporting nations, have a significant impact on 
global oil supply and pricing. For example, OPEC+ and certain other oil exporting nations have previously agreed to take 
measures, including production cuts, to support crude oil prices. In 2020, largely as a result of the COVID-19 pandemic, oil 
prices decreased dramatically, and OPEC+ agreed to historic production cuts in an effort to support prices. Conversely, 
sanctions imposed on Russia as a result of the Russia-Ukraine conflict in 2022 increased prices. In October 2022, OPEC+ again 
determined to reduce production of oil, by approximately 2 million barrels per day. At its meeting on December 4, 2022, 
OPEC+ agreed to keep its current policy unchanged as the oil markets struggle to assess the impact of a slowing Chinese 
economy on demand, and the Group of Seven Nations agreed on a price cap on Russian oil supply. In June 2023, OPEC+ 
members announced they would extend crude oil production cuts through 2024, limiting global crude oil supplies. In November 
2023, OPEC+ agreed to cut production by an additional 1 million barrels per day beginning in January 2024. In December 
2024, OPEC+ agreed to delay the beginning of output rises and extended the full unwinding of previous production cuts until 
the end of 2026. 
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There can be no assurance that OPEC+ members and other oil exporting nations will agree to future production cuts or 
other actions to support and stabilize oil prices, nor can there be any assurance that sanctions or other global conflicts, including 
the Russia-Ukraine conflict and various conflicts in the broader Middle East, will not further impact oil prices. Uncertainty 
regarding future sanctions or actions to be taken by OPEC+ members or other oil exporting countries could lead to increased 
volatility in the price of oil and natural gas, which could adversely affect our business, future financial condition and results of 
operations. 

Risks Related to the TRAs 

The Company is required to make payments under the TRAs for certain tax benefits that it may claim, and the amounts of 
such payments could be significant. 

In connection with the Company’s initial public offering (the “IPO”), on January 17, 2018, the Company entered into two 
Tax Receivable Agreements (the “TRAs”) with R/C Energy IV Direct Partnership, L.P. and the then-existing owners of Liberty 
Oilfield Services Holdings LLC (“Liberty Holdings”) that continued to own Liberty LLC Units (each such person and any 
permitted transferee, a “TRA Holder”). The TRAs generally provide for the payment by the Company to each TRA Holder of 
85% of the net cash savings, if any, in U.S. federal, state, and local income tax and franchise tax (computed using simplifying 
assumptions to address the impact of state and local taxes) that the Company actually recognizes (or is deemed to recognize in 
certain circumstances) as a result of certain increases in tax basis, net operating losses available to the Company as a result of 
the corporate reorganization performed in connection with the IPO (the “Corporate Reorganization”), and certain benefits 
attributable to imputed interest. The Company will retain the benefit of the remaining 15% of these cash savings. 

The Company is a holding company and has no material assets other than its direct and indirect equity interests in its 
subsidiaries. Because the Company has no independent means of generating revenue, its ability to make payments under the 
TRAs is dependent on the ability of its subsidiaries to make distributions to the Company in an amount sufficient to cover its 
obligations under the TRAs. To the extent that the Company is unable to make payments under the TRAs for any reason, such 
payments will be deferred and will accrue interest until paid. 

The term of each of the TRAs continues until all tax benefits that are subject to such TRAs have been utilized or expired, 
unless the Company experiences a change of control (as defined in the TRAs, which includes certain mergers, asset sales and 
other forms of business combinations) or the TRAs are terminated early (at the Company’s election or as a result of its breach), 
and the Company makes the termination payments specified in such TRAs. In addition, payments the Company makes under 
the TRAs will be increased by any interest earned from the due date (without extensions) of the corresponding tax return. 
Payments under the TRAs commenced in 2020 and so long as the tax savings are recognized and the TRAs are not terminated, 
payments are anticipated to continue for 15 years after the date of the last redemption of the Liberty LLC Units, which occurred 
on January 31, 2023. Accordingly, if the applicable U.S. federal corporate tax rate is increased, then the amount of TRA 
payments paid in the future may also increase. 

In certain cases, if the Company experiences a change of control (as defined under the TRAs, which includes certain 
mergers, asset sales and other forms of business combinations) or the TRAs terminate early (at the Company’s election or as a 
result of its breach), the Company would be required to make an immediate lump-sum payment, and such payment may be 
significantly in advance of, and may materially exceed, the actual realization, if any, of the future tax benefits to which the 
payment relates. As a result, the Company’s obligations under the TRAs could have a substantial negative impact on its 
liquidity and could have the effect of delaying, deferring or preventing certain mergers, asset sales, or other forms of business 
combinations or changes of control. There can be no assurance we will be able to finance our obligations under the TRAs. 
Furthermore, as a result of this payment obligation, holders of our Class A Common Stock could receive substantially less 
consideration in connection with a change in control transaction than they would receive in the absence of such obligation. 
Because our payment obligations under the TRAs will not be conditioned upon the TRA Holders’ having continued interest in 
the Company or Liberty LLC, the TRA Holders’ interests may conflict with those of the holders of our Class A Common Stock. 

Payments under the TRAs are based on the tax reporting positions that we will determine. The TRA Holders will not 
reimburse us for any payments previously made under the TRAs if any tax benefits that have given rise to payments under the 
TRAs are subsequently disallowed in an audit, except that excess payments made to any TRA Holder will be netted against 
payments that would otherwise be made to such TRA Holder, if any, after our determination of such excess. As a result, in such 
circumstances the Company could make payments that are greater than its actual cash tax savings, if any, and may not be able 
to recoup those payments, which could adversely affect the Company’s liquidity. Furthermore, the payments under the TRAs 
will not be conditioned upon a holder of rights under each of the TRAs having a continued ownership interest in the Company 
or Liberty LLC. For further details of the TRAs, see Note 12—Income Taxes to the consolidated financial statements included 
in Part II, Item 8 of this Annual Report. 
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General Risks Related to our Business 

We may be adversely affected by uncertainty in the global financial markets and the deterioration of the financial condition 
of our customers. 

Our future results may be impacted by the uncertainty caused by an economic downturn, volatility or deterioration in the 
debt and equity capital markets, inflation, deflation or other adverse economic conditions that may negatively affect us or 
parties with whom we do business resulting in a reduction in our customers’ spending and their non-payment or inability to 
perform obligations owed to us, such as the failure of customers to honor their commitments or the failure of major suppliers to 
complete orders. Additionally, during times when the oil or natural gas markets weaken, our customers are more likely to 
experience financial difficulties, including being unable to access debt or equity financing, which could result in a reduction in 
our customers’ spending for our services. In addition, in the course of our business we hold accounts receivable from our 
customers. In the event of the financial distress or bankruptcy of a customer, we could lose all or a portion of such outstanding 
accounts receivable associated with that customer. Further, if a customer was to enter into bankruptcy, it could also result in the 
cancellation of all or a portion of our service contracts with such customer at significant expense or loss of expected revenues to 
us. 

Our business, financial condition and results of operations may be adversely impacted by the effects of inflation. 

Inflation has the potential to adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations by increasing our 
overall cost structure, particularly if we are unable to achieve commensurate increases in the prices we charge our customers. 
Other inflationary pressures could affect wages, the cost and availability of components, materials and other inputs and our 
ability to meet customer demand. Inflation may further exacerbate other risk factors, including supply chain disruptions, risks 
related to international operations and the recruitment and retention of qualified employees. 

Reliance upon a few large customers may adversely affect our revenue and operating results. 

Our top five customers represented approximately 43%, 34%, and 30%, of our consolidated revenue for the years ended 
December 31, 2024, 2023, and 2022, respectively. It is possible that we will derive a significant portion of our revenue from a 
concentrated group of customers in the future. If a major customer fails to pay us, revenue would be impacted, and our 
operating results and financial condition could be materially harmed. Additionally, if we were to lose any material customer or 
our customers were to consolidate or merge with other operators, we may not be able to redeploy our equipment at similar 
utilization or pricing levels or within a short period of time and such loss could have a material adverse effect on our business 
until the equipment is redeployed at similar utilization or pricing levels. 

We are subject to cyber security risks. A cyber incident could occur and result in information theft, data corruption, 
operational disruption and/or financial loss. 

The oil and natural gas industry has become increasingly dependent on digital technologies to conduct certain processing 
activities. For example, we depend on digital technologies to perform many of our services and to process and record financial 
and operating data. At the same time, cyber incidents, including deliberate attacks, have increased. The U.S. government has 
issued public warnings that indicate that energy assets might be specific targets of cyber security threats. In early 2020, we 
experienced a denial of service cyberattack that targeted a portion of our non-financial data. We immediately shutdown critical 
systems, diagnosed the root cause of the attack and then methodically returned systems online. This cyberattack disrupted 
certain non-financial aspects of our internal system for a period of less than one day, while limited and non-critical portions of 
our systems were kept offline for up to one week in order to properly evaluate the breach. We determined that this cyberattack 
did not materially affect us or any of our operations. We engaged in extensive data evaluation for potential damage and 
concluded that minimal to no data loss had occurred as a result of this cyberattack. Our technologies, systems and networks, 
and those of our vendors, suppliers and other business partners, may become the target of cyberattacks or information security 
breaches in the future that could result in the unauthorized release, gathering, monitoring, misuse, loss or destruction of 
proprietary and other information, or other disruption of business operations. In addition, certain cyber incidents, such as 
surveillance, may remain undetected for an extended period. Our systems and insurance coverage for protecting against cyber 
security risks may not be sufficient. As cyber incidents continue to evolve, we will likely be required to expend additional 
resources to continue to modify or enhance our protective measures or to investigate and remediate any vulnerability to cyber 
incidents. Our insurance coverage for cyberattacks may not be sufficient to cover all the losses we may experience as a result of 
such cyberattacks. 
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Our assets require significant amounts of capital for maintenance, upgrades and refurbishment and may require significant 
capital expenditures for new equipment. 

Our hydraulic fracturing fleets and other completion service-related equipment require significant capital investment in 
maintenance, upgrades and refurbishment to maintain their competitiveness. The costs of components and labor have increased 
in the past and may increase in the future with increases in demand, which will require us to incur additional costs for any fleets 
we may acquire in the future. Our fleets and other equipment typically do not generate revenue while they are undergoing 
maintenance, upgrades or refurbishment. Any maintenance, upgrade or refurbishment project for our assets could increase our 
indebtedness or reduce cash available for other opportunities. Furthermore, such projects may require proportionally greater 
capital investments as a percentage of total asset value, which may make such projects difficult to finance on acceptable terms. 
To the extent we are unable to fund such projects, we may have less equipment available for service or our equipment may not 
be attractive to potential or current customers. Additionally, competition or advances in technology within our industry may 
require us to update or replace existing fleets or build or acquire new fleets. Such demands on our capital or reductions in 
demand for our hydraulic fracturing fleets and the increase in cost of labor necessary for such maintenance and improvement, in 
each case, could have a material adverse effect on our business, liquidity position, financial condition, prospects and results of 
operations and may increase our costs. 

We rely on certain third parties for materials, and delays in deliveries of such materials, increases in the cost of such 
materials or our contractual obligations to pay for materials that we ultimately do not require could harm our business, 
results of operations and financial condition. 

We have established relationships with certain suppliers of our materials (such as, but not limited to, proppant and 
chemical additives) and other parts, supplies and items needed for our operations. Delays or shortages in materials can result 
from a variety of reasons, including those caused by weather and natural disasters. Historically, the United States has undergone 
supply chain disruptions due to backlogged ports and trucking shortages, and our business is not immune from these effects. 
Even once the root cause of the supply chain disruption or any future shortage or delay has passed, it can take time for our 
supply chain to recover and run in a regular fashion. Should the nationwide supply chain disruption continue, or should any of 
our current suppliers be unable to provide the necessary materials or otherwise fail to deliver the materials in a timely manner 
and in the quantities required, any resulting delays in the provision of services could have a material adverse effect on our 
business, results of operations and financial condition. Additionally, increasing costs of such materials may negatively impact 
demand for our services or the profitability of our business operations. In the past, our industry faced sporadic proppant 
shortages associated with hydraulic fracturing operations requiring work stoppages, which are believed to have adversely 
impacted the operating results of several competitors. We may not be able to mitigate any future shortages of materials, 
including proppant, or the impact of supply chain disruptions. Furthermore, to the extent our contracts require us to purchase 
more materials, including proppant, than we ultimately require, we may be forced to pay for the excess amount under “take or 
pay” contract provisions. 

We currently utilize a limited number of assemblers and suppliers for major equipment to both build new fleets and upgrade 
any fleets we acquire to our preferred specifications, and our reliance on these vendors exposes us to risks including price 
and timing of delivery. 

We currently utilize a limited number of assemblers and suppliers for major equipment to both build our new fleets and 
upgrade any fleets we may acquire to our custom design. If demand for hydraulic fracturing fleets or the components necessary 
to build such fleets increases or these vendors face financial distress or bankruptcy, these vendors may not be able to provide 
the new or upgraded fleets on schedule or at the current price. If this were to occur, we could be required to seek another 
assembler or other suppliers for major equipment to build or upgrade our fleets, which may adversely affect our revenues or 
increase our costs. 

Interruptions of service on the rail lines by which we receive proppant could adversely affect our results of operations. 

We receive a portion of the proppant used in our hydraulic fracturing services by rail. Rail operations are subject to 
various risks that may result in a delay or lack of service, including lack of available capacity, mechanical problems, extreme 
weather conditions, work stoppages, labor strikes, terrorist attacks and operating hazards. Additionally, if we increase the 
amount of proppant we require for delivery of our services, we may face difficulty in securing rail transportation for such 
additional amount of proppant. Any delay or failure in the rail services on which we rely could have a material adverse effect on 
our financial condition and results of operations. 

Changes in transportation regulations may increase our costs and negatively impact our results of operations. 

We are subject to various transportation regulations including as a motor carrier by the Department of Transportation and 
by various federal, state, provincial and tribal agencies, whose regulations include certain permit requirements of highway and 
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safety authorities. These regulatory authorities exercise broad powers over our equipment transportation operations, generally 
governing such matters as the authorization to engage in motor carrier operations, safety, equipment testing, driver requirements 
and specifications and insurance requirements. The trucking industry is subject to possible regulatory and legislative changes 
that may impact our operations, such as changes in fuel emissions limits, hours of service regulations that govern the amount of 
time a driver may drive or work in any specific period and requiring onboard electronic logging devices or limits on vehicle 
weight and size. As the federal government continues to develop and propose regulations relating to fuel quality, engine 
efficiency and greenhouse gasses emissions, we may experience an increase in costs related to truck purchases and 
maintenance, impairment of equipment productivity, a decrease in the residual value of vehicles, unpredictable fluctuations in 
fuel prices and an increase in operating expenses. Additionally, we rely on third parties to provide trucking services, including 
hauling proppant to our customer work sites, and these third parties may fail to comply with various transportation regulations, 
resulting in our inability to use such third-party providers. Increased truck traffic may contribute to deteriorating road 
conditions in some areas where our operations are performed. Our operations, including routing and weight restrictions, could 
be affected by road construction, road repairs, detours and state and local regulations and ordinances restricting access to certain 
roads. Proposals to increase federal, state, provincial or local taxes, including taxes on motor fuels, are also made from time to 
time, and any such increase would increase our operating costs. Also, state and local regulation of permitted routes and times on 
specific roadways could adversely affect our operations. We cannot predict whether, or in what form, any legislative or 
regulatory changes or municipal ordinances applicable to our logistics operations will be enacted and to what extent any such 
legislation or regulations could increase our costs or otherwise adversely affect our business or operations. 

We face a variety of risks related to our diversification and entry into a new line of business. 

The proposed diversification of our business as a scaled distributed power and energy storage solutions provider carries a 
number of risks.  We will become subject to laws and regulations previously inapplicable to our existing business and this could 
lead to additional litigation and regulatory risk.  Our expansion into the distributed power solutions business will create the 
need for additional capital and other resources, the cost and availability of which may depend on market conditions, regulatory 
landscape, financial and operating results, interest rates, inflationary considerations, compliance with covenants under our 
credit facility, and other considerations.  Furthermore, while our management team has a track record of successfully executing 
on the growth of our existing business, the team has not directly engaged in the distributed power solutions business before and 
this lack of experience could have adverse impacts and complications such as on cost and timing to execute on the new business 
and the overall success of the program.  If we are unable to successfully execute on this new line of business, our revenue and 
profitability may not grow as expected, our competitiveness may be materially and adversely affected, and our reputation and 
business may be harmed. 

As we continue our diversification into a new line of business, the market price for our common stock will become subject to 
factors different from those that have historically and currently impacted our common stock. 

Our financial performance and results of operations with respect to the proposed new line of business will be subject to 
certain factors that may differ or be inapplicable to our existing business.  Accordingly, the market price and performance of our 
common stock may be impacted differently in connection with our expansion into the distributed power systems line of 
business. 

Our current and future indebtedness could adversely affect our financial condition. 

Effective January 23, 2023, using proceeds from borrowings on our ABL Facility (as defined herein), we repaid all 
amounts outstanding under the Term Loan Facility (as defined herein). As of February 3, 2025, the Company had $261.0 
million outstanding under our ABL Facility, in addition to letters of credit in the amount of $14.0 million, with $93.0 million of 
remaining availability. Please see “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations—
Liquidity and Capital Resources.” 

Moreover, subject to the limits contained in our ABL Facility, we may incur substantial additional debt from time to time. 
Any borrowings we may incur in the future would have several important consequences for our future operations, including 
that: 

• covenants contained in the documents governing such indebtedness may require us to meet or maintain certain 
financial tests, which may affect our flexibility in planning for, and reacting to, changes in our industry, such as being 
able to take advantage of acquisition opportunities when they arise; 

• our ability to obtain additional financing for working capital, capital expenditures, acquisitions, general corporate and 
other purposes may be limited; 
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• our ability to use operating cash flow in other areas of our business may be limited because we must dedicate a 
substantial portion of these funds to make principal and interest payments on our indebtedness; 

• we may be more vulnerable to interest rate increases to the extent that we incur variable rate indebtedness; 

• we may be competitively disadvantaged to our competitors that are less leveraged or have greater access to capital 
resources; and 

• we may be more vulnerable to adverse economic and industry conditions. 

If we incur indebtedness in the future, we may have significant principal payments due at specified future dates under the 
documents governing such indebtedness. Our ability to meet such principal obligations will be dependent upon future 
performance, which in turn will be subject to general economic conditions, industry cycles and financial, business and other 
factors affecting our operations, many of which are beyond our control. Our business may not continue to generate sufficient 
cash flow from operations to repay any incurred indebtedness. If we are unable to generate sufficient cash flow from operations, 
we may be required to sell assets, to refinance all or a portion of such indebtedness or to obtain additional financing. 

Unsatisfactory safety performance may negatively affect our customer relationships and, to the extent we fail to retain 
existing customers or attract new customers, adversely impact our revenues. 

Our ability to retain existing customers and attract new business is dependent on many factors, including our ability to 
demonstrate that we can reliably and safely operate our business in a manner that is consistent with applicable laws, rules and 
permits, which legal requirements are subject to change. Existing and potential customers consider the safety record of their 
third-party service providers to be of high importance in their decision to engage such providers. If one or more accidents were 
to occur at one of our operating sites, the affected customer may seek to terminate or cancel its use of our equipment or services 
and may be less likely to continue to use our services, which could cause us to lose substantial revenues. Furthermore, our 
ability to attract new customers may be impaired if they elect not to engage us because they view our safety record as 
unacceptable. In addition, it is possible that we will experience multiple or particularly severe accidents in the future, causing 
our safety record to deteriorate. This may be more likely as we continue to grow, if we experience high employee turnover or 
labor shortage, or hire inexperienced personnel to bolster our staffing needs. 

If we are unable to fully protect our intellectual property rights, we may suffer a loss in our competitive advantage or market 
share. 

We do not have patents or patent applications relating to many of our key processes and technology. If we are not able to 
maintain the confidentiality of our trade secrets, or if our competitors are able to replicate our technology or services, our 
competitive advantage would be diminished. We also cannot ensure that any patents we may obtain in the future would provide 
us with any significant commercial benefit or would allow us to prevent our competitors from employing comparable 
technologies or processes. 

We may be adversely affected by disputes regarding intellectual property rights of third parties. 

Third parties from time to time may initiate litigation against us by asserting that the conduct of our business infringes, 
misappropriates or otherwise violates intellectual property rights. We may not prevail in any such legal proceedings related to 
such claims, and our products and services may be found to infringe, impair, misappropriate, dilute or otherwise violate the 
intellectual property rights of others. If we are sued for infringement and lose, we could be required to pay substantial damages 
and/or be enjoined from using or selling the infringing products or technology. Any legal proceeding concerning intellectual 
property could be protracted and costly regardless of the merits of any claim and is inherently unpredictable and could have a 
material adverse effect on our financial condition, regardless of its outcome. 

If we were to discover that our technologies or products infringe valid intellectual property rights of third parties, we may 
need to obtain licenses from these parties or substantially re-engineer our products in order to avoid infringement. We may not 
be able to obtain the necessary licenses on acceptable terms, or at all, or be able to re-engineer our products successfully. If our 
inability to obtain required licenses for our technologies or products prevents us from selling our products, that could adversely 
impact our financial condition and results of operations. 

Additionally, we currently license certain third-party intellectual property in connection with our business, and the loss of 
any such license could adversely impact our financial condition and results of operations. 

Seasonal weather conditions, natural disasters, public health crises, and other catastrophic events outside of our control 
could severely disrupt normal operations and harm our business. 
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Our operations are located in different regions of the United States and Canada. Some of these areas, including the DJ 
Basin, Powder River Basin, Williston Basin and our Canadian operations, are adversely affected by seasonal weather 
conditions, primarily in the winter and spring. Weather-related hazards exist in almost all the areas where we operate. During 
periods of heavy snow, ice or rain, we may be unable to move our equipment between locations or obtain adequate supplies of 
raw material or fuel, thereby reducing our ability to provide services and generate revenues. The exploration activities of our 
customers may also be affected during such periods of adverse weather conditions. Additionally, extended drought conditions in 
our operating regions could impact our ability or our customers’ ability to source sufficient water or increase the cost for such 
water. As a result, a natural disaster or inclement weather conditions could severely disrupt the normal operation of our business 
and adversely impact our financial condition and results of operations. Furthermore, if the area in which we operate or the 
market demand for oil and natural gas is affected by a public health crisis, such as the COVID-19 pandemic, or other similar 
catastrophic event outside of our control, our business and results of operations could be adversely impacted. 

The sand mining operations are subject to a number of risks relating to the proppant industry. 

We operate two sand mines in the Permian Basin. Sand mining operations are subject to risks normally encountered in the 
proppant industry. These risks include, among others: unanticipated ground, grade or water conditions; inability to acquire or 
maintain, or public or nongovernmental organization opposition to, necessary permits for mining, access or water rights; our 
ability to timely obtain necessary authorizations, approvals and permits from regulatory agencies (including environmental 
agencies, such as the FWS, where our operations in West Texas may be slowed, limited or halted due to conservation efforts 
targeted at the habitat of the dunes sagebrush lizard); pit wall or pond failures, and sluffing events; costs associated with 
environmental compliance or as a result of unauthorized releases into the environment; restrictions imposed on our operations 
related to the protection of natural resources, including plant and animal species; and reduction in the amount of water available 
for processing. Any of these risks could result in delays, limitations or cancellations in mining or processing activities, losses or 
possible legal liability. 

Silica-related legislation, health issues and litigation could have a material adverse effect on our business, reputation or 
results of operations. 

We are subject to laws and regulations relating to human exposure to crystalline silica. Historically, our environmental 
compliance costs with respect to existing crystalline silica requirements have not had a material adverse effect on our results of 
operations; however, federal regulatory authorities and analogous state agencies may continue to propose changes in their 
regulations regarding workplace exposure to crystalline silica, such as permissible exposure limits, required controls and 
personal protective equipment. We may not be able to comply with any new laws and regulations that are adopted, and any new 
laws and regulations could have a material adverse effect on our operating results by requiring us to modify or cease our 
operations. 

In addition, the inhalation of respirable crystalline silica is associated with the lung disease silicosis. There is evidence of 
an association between crystalline silica exposure or silicosis and lung cancer and a possible association with other diseases, 
including immune system disorders such as scleroderma. The actual or perceived health risks of handling hydraulic fracture 
sand could materially and adversely affect hydraulic fracturing service providers, including us, through reduced use of 
hydraulic fracture sand, the threat of product liability or employee lawsuits, increased scrutiny by federal, state and local 
regulatory authorities of us and our customers or reduced financing sources available to the industry. Furthermore, we may 
incur additional costs with respect to purchasing specialized equipment designed to reduce exposure to crystalline silica in 
connection with our operations or invest capital in new equipment. 

We are subject to the Federal Mine Safety and Health Act of 1977, which imposes stringent health and safety standards on 
certain aspects of our operations. 

Our operations are subject to the Federal Mine Safety and Health Act of 1977, as amended by the Mine Improvement and 
New Emergency Response Act of 2006, which imposes stringent health and safety standards on numerous aspects of mineral 
extraction and processing operations, including the training of personnel, operating procedures, operating equipment, and other 
matters. Our failure to comply with such standards, or changes in such standards or the re-interpretation or more stringent 
enforcement thereof, could have a material adverse effect on our business and financial condition or otherwise impose 
significant restrictions on its ability to conduct mineral extraction and processing operations. 

Distributed power systems involve long sales cycles. 

The sales cycle for distributed power systems, from initial contact with potential customers to the commencement of 
operations, may be lengthy. Customers generally consider a wide range of solutions before deciding to rent or to purchase 
power systems. Before a customer commits to rent or purchase power systems, they often require a significant technical review, 
assessment of competitive offerings and approval at a number of management levels within their organization. During the time 
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customers are evaluating our power solutions offerings, we may incur substantial sales and marketing, engineering, and 
research and development expenses. 

The occurrence of explosive incidents could disrupt our operations and could adversely affect our business, financial 
condition and results of operations. 

The wireline service we provide to oil and natural gas E&P customers involves the storage and handling of explosive 
materials. Despite the use of specialized facilities to store explosive materials and intensive employee training programs, the 
handling of explosive materials could result in incidents that temporarily shut down or otherwise disrupt our or E&P customers’ 
operations or could cause restrictions, delays or cancellations in the delivery of services. It is possible that an explosion could 
result in death or significant injuries to employees and other persons. Material property damage to us, E&P customers and third 
parties could also occur. Any explosive incident could expose us to adverse publicity or liability for damages or cause 
production restrictions, delays or cancellations, any of which developments could have a material adverse effect on our ability 
to compete, business, financial condition and results of operations. 

Geopolitical conditions, including political turmoil and volatility, regional conflicts, terrorism and war could result in 
market instability, which could adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations. 

The global economy has been negatively impacted by geopolitical conflicts, such as the continuing military conflict 
between Russia and Ukraine and the conflict between Israel and Hamas, which has resulted in instability in the Middle East. 
Such conflicts have led and may continue to lead to significant market and other disruptions, including significant volatility in 
commodity prices and supply of energy resources, instability in financial markets, higher inflation, supply chain interruptions, 
political and social instability, changes in consumer or purchaser preferences as well as increase in cyberattacks and espionage. 
As a result of the invasion and ongoing military conflict in Ukraine, governments in the European Union, the United States, the 
United Kingdom, Switzerland and other countries have implemented and may implement additional sanctions, export controls 
or other measures against Russia, Belarus and other countries, regions, officials, individuals or industries in the respective 
territories. Such sanctions, and other measures, as well as the existing and potential further responses from Russia or other 
countries to such sanctions, supply chain disruptions, tensions and military actions, could adversely affect the global economy 
and financial markets and could adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations, and could also 
aggravate the other risk factors that we identify herein. 

The choice of forum provisions in our charter and bylaws could limit our stockholders’ ability to obtain a favorable judicial 
forum for disputes with us.  

Our Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation (as amended, the “Charter”) provides that unless the Company 
consents in writing to the selection of an alternative forum, the Court of Chancery of the State of Delaware will, to the fullest 
extent permitted by applicable law, be the sole and exclusive forum for (i) any derivative action or proceeding brought on 
behalf of the Company, (ii) any action asserting a claim of breach of a fiduciary duty owed by any director, officer, employee or 
agent of the Company to the Company or the Company’s stockholders, (iii) any action asserting a claim against the Company or 
any director or officer or other employee of the Company arising pursuant to any provision of the General Corporation Law of 
the State of Delaware, the Charter or the Company’s bylaws, or (iv) any action asserting a claim against the Company or any 
director or officer or other employee of the Company governed by the internal affairs doctrine, in each such case subject to 
Court of Chancery having personal jurisdiction over the indispensable parties named as defendants therein. Our Second 
Amended and Restated Bylaws (the “Bylaws”) further provide that unless the Company consents in writing to the selection of 
an alternative forum, the federal district courts of the United States of America will be the sole and exclusive forum for the 
resolution of any complaint asserting a cause of action arising under the Securities Act. Under the Securities Act, federal and 
state courts have concurrent jurisdiction over all suits brought to enforce any duty or liability created by the Securities Act, and 
stockholders cannot waive compliance with the federal securities laws and the rules and regulations thereunder. Accordingly, 
there is uncertainty as to whether a court would enforce such a forum selection provision as written in connection with claims 
arising under the Securities Act. Any person or entity purchasing or otherwise acquiring any interest in shares of common stock 
of the Company will be deemed to have notice of and have consented to the provisions of our Charter and Bylaws related to 
choice of forum. The choice of forum provisions in our Charter and Bylaws may limit our stockholders’ ability to obtain a 
favorable judicial forum for disputes with us. Additionally, the enforceability of choice of forum provisions in other companies’ 
governing documents has been challenged in legal proceedings, and it is possible that, in connection with any applicable action 
brought against us, a court could find the choice of forum provisions contained in our Charter and Bylaws to be inapplicable or 
unenforceable in such action. If so, we may incur additional costs associated with resolving such action in other jurisdictions, 
which could harm our business, results of operations, and financial condition. 
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There can be no assurance we will repurchase shares of our Class A Common Stock in any particular amounts. 

The stock markets in general have experienced substantial price and trading fluctuations, which have resulted in volatility 
in the market prices of securities that often are unrelated or disproportionate to changes in operating performance. These broad 
market fluctuations may adversely affect the trading price of our Class A Common Stock. Price volatility over a given period 
may also cause the average price at which we repurchase our own Class A Common Stock to exceed the stock’s price at a given 
point in time. In addition, significant changes in the trading price of our Class A Common Stock and our ability to access capital 
on terms favorable to us could impact our ability to repurchase shares of our Class A Common Stock. The timing and amount of 
any repurchases will be determined by the Company’s management based on its evaluation of market conditions, capital 
allocation alternatives and other factors beyond our control. Our share repurchase program may be modified, suspended, 
extended or terminated by the Company at any time and without notice. 
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Item 1B. Unresolved Staff Comments 

None. 

Item 1C. Cybersecurity 

Risk Management and Strategy 

We recognize the critical importance of developing, implementing, and maintaining robust cybersecurity measures to 
safeguard our information systems and protect the confidentiality, integrity, and availability of our information systems and the 
data residing therein.   

We have integrated cybersecurity risk management into our broader risk management framework to promote a company-
wide practice of cybersecurity risk management. This integration ensures that cybersecurity considerations are part of our 
decision-making processes. Our cybersecurity risk management processes include technical security controls, policy 
enforcement mechanisms, monitoring systems, employee training, contractual arrangements, tools and related services from 
third-party providers, and management oversight to identify, assess, and manage material risks from cybersecurity threats. As 
part of our cybersecurity risk management process, we have conducted simulated cybersecurity incidents to ensure that we are 
prepared to respond to such an incident and to highlight any areas for potential improvement in our cyber incident 
preparedness.  

Engagement of Third-Parties 

Recognizing the complexity and evolving nature of cybersecurity threats, we may periodically engage a range of external 
experts, including cybersecurity assessors, consultants, and auditors to evaluate and test our information systems. These 
partnerships enable us to leverage specialized knowledge and insights, ensuring our cybersecurity strategies and processes 
generally follow industry-recognized standards and frameworks, and are compliant with applicable laws.  

Oversight of Third-Party Risk 

Because we are aware of the risks associated with third-party service providers, we implement processes to oversee and 
manage these risks. We conduct security assessments of critical third-party providers before engagement and maintain ongoing 
monitoring to ensure compliance with our cybersecurity standards. The monitoring includes regular assessments by our Chief 
Information Officer (“CIO”) and cybersecurity staff and advisors. This approach is designed to mitigate risks related to data 
breaches or other security incidents involving third-parties. 

Risks from Cybersecurity Threats 

We have experienced, and may in the future experience, directly or indirectly through our third-party service providers, 
cybersecurity incidents. While prior cybersecurity incidents have not had a material impact on us, future incidents could have a 
material impact on our business strategy, results of operations, and financial condition. For more information about the 
cybersecurity risks we face, see “We are subject to cyber security risks. A cyber incident could occur and result in information 
theft, data corruption, operational disruption and/or financial loss” in “Risk Factors” in Part I, Item 1A of this Annual Report on 
Form 10-K.  

Cybersecurity Governance 

Board of Directors Oversight 

Our Board of Directors (the “Board”) has designated the Audit Committee to oversee risk management associated with 
cybersecurity threats. The Audit Committee is comprised of board members with diverse expertise including risk management, 
technology, and finance, which we believe enables them to oversee cybersecurity risks. 

Management’s Role 

We have a cybersecurity risk management committee comprised of senior leadership, including our CIO. The committee 
evaluates and addresses cybersecurity risks in alignment with our business objectives and operational needs. The Company’s 
cybersecurity risk management committee is also responsible for informing the Audit Committee on cybersecurity risks. The 
committee provides briefings to the Audit Committee on at least a quarterly basis, performs a comprehensive annual review of 
cybersecurity risks and threats, and assesses and adjusts the Company’s processes to prevent, detect, mitigate, and remediate 
any such risks and threats.  

Primary responsibility for assessing, monitoring and managing our cybersecurity risks rests with our CIO. With over 30 
years of experience in the field of information systems and cybersecurity, our CIO brings a wealth of expertise to this role. His 
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background includes extensive experience as an enterprise CIO and his in-depth knowledge and experience are instrumental in 
developing and executing our cybersecurity strategies. Our CIO oversees our governance programs, tests our compliance with 
standards, remediates known risks, and leads our employee training program as such items relate to cybersecurity.  Our CIO 
manages our cybersecurity risks with the help of key personnel overseeing cybersecurity, information technology networks and 
infrastructure, operational technology, and critical software applications. 

Our CIO and information technology team are continually informed about the latest developments in cybersecurity, 
including potential threats and innovative risk management techniques. The CIO and information technology team implements 
and oversees processes for the regular monitoring of our information systems. This includes the deployment of advanced 
security measures and regular system audits to identify potential vulnerabilities. In the event of a cybersecurity incident, the 
CIO and information technology team are equipped with a well-defined incident response plan, which includes escalation to the 
cybersecurity risk management committee and the Audit Committee, and relevant public disclosure, as appropriate.  

Item 2. Properties 

Information regarding our properties is contained in “Item 1. Business” and is incorporated by reference herein. 

Item 3. Legal Proceedings 

The information with respect to this Item 3. Legal Proceedings is set forth in Note 15—Commitments & Contingencies in 
Part II, Item 8 of this Annual Report. 
Item 4. Mine Safety Disclosures 

Our mining operations are subject to regulation by the federal Mine Safety and Health Administration under the Federal 
Mine Safety and Health Act of 1977. Information concerning mine safety violations or other regulatory matters required by 
section 1503(a) of the Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act and Item 104 of Regulation S-K is 
included in Exhibit 95 to this Annual Report.       
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PART II 

Item 5. Market for Registrant’s Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of Equity 
Securities 

Market Information 

On January 17, 2018, we consummated an initial public offering of our Class A Common Stock at a price of $17.00 per 
share. Our Class A Common Stock is traded on the NYSE under the symbol “LBRT.” Prior to that time, there was no public 
market for our Class A Common Stock. There is no public market for our Class B Common Stock. 

Holders of our Common Stock 

As of February 3, 2025, there were 14 stockholders of record of our Class A Common Stock and no stockholders of record 
of our Class B Common Stock. The number of record holders is based upon the actual number of holders registered on the 
books of the Company at such date and does not include holders of shares in “street names” or persons, partnerships, 
associations, corporations or other entities identified in security position listings maintained by depositories. 

Dividend Policy 

The Company has paid consecutive quarterly cash dividends since December 2022. Dividends are usually declared in 
January, April, July, and October, paid on the 20th of March, June, September, and December to stockholders of record as of the 
6th of each respective payment month. If the record or payment date falls on a weekend or holiday, it is moved to the preceding 
or following business day. 

The declaration of dividends is subject to approval by the Board and to the Board’s continuing determination that such 
declaration of dividends is in the best interests of the Company and its stockholders. Future dividends may be adjusted at the 
Board’s discretion based on market conditions and capital availability. We are not required to pay dividends, and our 
stockholders will not be guaranteed, or have contractual or other rights to receive, dividends. 

See Note 10—Equity to the consolidated financial statements included in Part II, Item 8 of this Annual Report for further 
details. 

Recent Sales of Unregistered Equity Securities 

We had no sales of unregistered equity securities during the period covered by this Annual Report that were not previously 
reported in a Current Report on Form 8-K (or on Form 10-Q in lieu of Form 8-K). 

Purchase of Equity Securities by the Issuer and Affiliated Purchasers 

On July 25, 2022, the Board authorized and the Company announced a share repurchase program that allowed the 
Company to repurchase up to $250.0 million of the Company’s Class A Common Stock beginning immediately and continuing 
through July 31, 2024. Additionally, on January 24, 2023, the Board authorized and the Company announced an increase of the 
cumulative repurchase authorization to $500.0 million. Furthermore, on January 23, 2024, the Board authorized and the 
Company announced an increase of the cumulative repurchase authorization to $750.0 million and extended the authorization 
through July 31, 2026 (collectively “the Share Repurchase Plan”). Shares may be repurchased from time to time for cash in 
open market transactions, through block trades, in privately negotiated transactions, through derivative transactions, or by other 
means in accordance with applicable federal securities laws. The timing and the amount of repurchases will be determined by 
the Company at its discretion based on an evaluation of market conditions, capital allocation alternatives and other factors. The 
share repurchase program does not require us to purchase any dollar amount or number of shares of our Class A Common Stock 
and may be modified, suspended, extended or terminated at any time without prior notice. The Company expects to fund any 
repurchases by using cash on hand, borrowings under the ABL Facility, and expected free cash flow to be generated through the 
duration of the share repurchase program. 

As of December 31, 2024, $294.2 million remained authorized for future repurchases of Class A Common Stock under the 
share repurchase program. 
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The following sets forth information with respect to our repurchases of shares of Class A Common Stock during the three 
months ended December 31, 2024: 

Period  
Total number of 
shares purchased  

Average price 
paid per share 
(2)  

Total number of shares 
purchased as part of 
publicly announced plans 
or programs (1)  

Approximate dollar value of 
shares that may yet be 
purchased under the plans or 
programs (1) 

October 1, 2024 - October 
31, 2024   539,005    17.60    539,005    313,005,770  
November 1, 2024 - 
November 30, 2024   700,687    17.92    700,687    300,451,128  
December 1, 2024 - 
December 31, 2024   341,803    18.31    341,803    294,191,766  
Total   1,581,495    17.90    1,581,495    294,191,766  

(1) All share repurchases are executed under the Share Repurchase Plan, as defined above. The shares may be repurchased 
from time to time in open market transactions, through block trades, in privately negotiated transactions, through derivative 
transactions, or by other means in accordance with applicable state and federal securities laws. 

(2) The average price paid per share of $17.90 was calculated including commissions. 
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Stock Performance Graph  

The following graph and table compares the cumulative total return on our Class A Common Stock with the cumulative 
total return on the Standard & Poor’s 500 ® Index and the Philadelphia Oil Service Index, since December 31, 2019 and each 
annual period thereafter through December 31, 2024. The graph assumes that $100 was invested in our Class A Common Stock 
in each index on December 31, 2019 and that any dividends were reinvested on the last day of the month in which they were 
paid. The cumulative total return set forth is not necessarily indicative of future performance.  

The following graph and related information shall not be deemed “soliciting material” or to be “filed” with the SEC, nor 
shall such information be incorporated by reference into any future filing under the Securities Act or the Exchange Act, except 
to the extent that we specifically incorporate it by reference into such filing.  

 
  For the Years Ended December 31 
 2019  2020  2021  2022  2023  2024 
Liberty Energy Inc. $ 100.00   $ 94.44   $ 88.85   $ 147.11   $ 169.06   $ 188.06  
Standard & Poor’s 500 ® Index  100.00    118.40    152.39    124.79    157.59    197.02  
Philadelphia Oil Service Index   100.00    57.92    69.93    112.94    115.11    101.68  
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Item 6. [Reserved] 
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Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations 

The following discussion and analysis of our financial condition and results of operations should be read in conjunction 
with our audited consolidated financial statements and related notes appearing elsewhere in this Annual Report. The following 
discussion contains “forward-looking statements” that reflect our future plans, estimates, beliefs and expected performance. 
Our actual results may differ materially from those anticipated in these forward-looking statements as a result of a variety of 
risks and uncertainties, including those described in this Annual Report under “Cautionary Note Regarding Forward-Looking 
Statements” and “Item 1A. Risk Factors.” Except as required by law, we assume no obligation to update any of these forward-
looking statements. This section of this Annual Report generally discusses 2024 and 2023 items and year-to-year comparisons 
between 2024 and 2023. For discussion of year ended December 31, 2022, as well as the year ended 2023 compared to the 
year ended December 31, 2022, refer to Part II, Item 7— Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and 
Results of Operations of our 2023 Annual Report. 
Overview 

The Company, together with its subsidiaries, is a leading integrated energy services and technology company focused on 
providing innovative hydraulic fracturing services and related technologies to onshore oil and natural gas E&P companies. We 
offer customers hydraulic fracturing services, together with complementary services including wireline services, proppant 
delivery solutions, field gas processing and treating, CNG delivery, data analytics, related goods (including our sand mine 
operations), and technologies to facilitate lower emission completions, thereby helping our customers reduce their emissions 
profile. We have grown from one active hydraulic fracturing fleet in December 2011 to approximately 40 active fleets as of 
December 31, 2024. We provide our services primarily in the Permian Basin, the Williston Basin, the Haynesville Shale, the 
Eagle Ford Shale, the Denver-Julesburg Basin (the “DJ Basin”), the Western Canadian Sedimentary Basin, the Powder River 
Basin, and the Appalachian Basin (Marcellus Shale and Utica Shale). Our operations also extend to a few smaller shale basins, 
including the Anadarko Basin, the Uinta Basin, the San Juan Basin, and the Beetaloo Basin in Northern Territory, Australia, as 
well as to two sand mines in the Permian Basin. 

In early 2023, the Company launched Liberty Power Innovations LLC (“LPI”), an integrated alternative fuel and power 
solutions provider for remote applications. LPI provides CNG supply, field gas processing and treating, and well site fueling 
and logistics. LPI was formed with the initial focus on supporting the Company’s transition towards our next generation 
digiFleets℠ and dual fuel fleets, as CNG fueling services can be limited in the market, yet critical to maintaining highly 
efficient well site operations. Through 2024, LPI was primarily focused on supporting an industry transition to natural gas 
fueled technologies, serving as a key enabler of the next step of cost and emissions reductions in the oilfield. In January 2025, 
we announced LPI’s expansion into the distributed power business, where we expect to leverage our experience in providing 
electric power for our digiFrac pumps into other areas inside and outside of the oilfield. 

We believe technical innovation and strong relationships with our customer and supplier bases distinguish us from our 
competitors and are the foundations of our business. We expect that E&P companies will continue to focus on technological 
innovation as completion complexity and fracture intensity of horizontal wells increases, particularly as customers are 
increasingly focused on reducing emissions from their completions operations. We remain proactive in developing innovative 
solutions to industry challenges, including developing: (i) our databases of U.S. unconventional wells to which we apply our 
proprietary multi-variable statistical analysis technologies to provide differential insight into fracture design optimization; (ii) 
our Liberty Quiet Fleet® design which significantly reduces noise levels compared to conventional hydraulic fracturing fleets; 
(iii) hydraulic fracturing fluid systems tailored to the specific reservoir properties in the basins in which we operate; (iv) our 
dual fuel dynamic gas blending (“DGB”) fleets that allow our engines to run diesel or a combination of diesel and natural gas, 
to optimize fuel use, reduce emissions and lower costs; (v) our digiFleets℠, comprising of digiFrac℠ and digiPrime℠ pumps 
and other complementary equipment, including power generation units (together “digiTechnologies℠”), our innovative, 
purpose-built electric and hybrid frac pumps that have approximately 25% lower CO2e emission profile than the Tier IV DGB; 
(vi) our wet sand handling technology which eliminates the need to dry sand, enabling the deployment of mobile mines nearer 
to wellsites; and (vii) the launch of LPI to support the transition to our digiFleets as well as the transition to lower costs and 
emissions in the oilfield. In addition, our integrated supply chain includes proppant, chemicals, equipment, natural gas fueling 
services, logistics and integrated software which we believe promotes wellsite efficiency and leads to more pumping hours and 
higher productivity throughout the year to better service our customers. In order to achieve our technological objectives, we 
carefully manage our liquidity and debt position to promote operational flexibility and invest in the business throughout the full 
commodity cycle in the regions we operate. 



36 
 

Recent Trends and Outlook 

Moderate declines in frac activity, that started in 2023, continued throughout 2024. However, the market appears to have 
reached an inflection point in early 2025 as completions activity emerges from 2024 lows. In 2025, E&P operators, especially 
those with an oil exploration focus, are working to maintain production levels from 2024. Improving natural gas fundamentals 
are encouraging as well. For the full year, industry-wide lateral footage completed is expected to be approximately flat with 
2024. 

The slowing pace of activity in late 2024 resulted in near term price pressure to start 2025, most notably impacting 
conventional fleets. The fundamental outlook for next generation, higher quality fleets remains strong, as operators continue to 
demand technologies that provide significant emissions reductions, fuel savings, and operational efficiency advantages. The 
growing complexities of E&P demands and the continued drive for efficiency gains promote continued investment in 
technology and partnering with high quality service companies. 

Global oil markets reflect ongoing uncertainties in geopolitics, Chinese economic growth, OPEC+ production plans, and a 
change in the domestic political climate, but the resulting commodity price fluctuation has not led to a meaningful change in 
E&P activity plans. Natural gas demand is supported by LNG export capacity expansion and a large projected multi-year 
increase in North American power consumption. 

During the year 2024, the posted WTI price traded at an average of $76.63 per barrel (“Bbl”), as compared to the 2023 
average of $77.58 per Bbl, and the 2022 average of $94.90 per Bbl. In addition, the average domestic onshore rig count for the 
United States and Canada was 765 rigs reported in the fourth quarter of 2024, down from the average in the fourth quarter of 
2023 of 781, according to a report from Baker Hughes. 

Acquisitions 

On April 6, 2023, LPI accelerated its expansion by acquiring Siren, a Permian focused integrated natural gas compression 
and CNG delivery business with 16 MMcf per day of natural gas compression capacity at two expandable Permian sites and 
transportation, logistics, and pressure reduction services, for cash consideration of $75.7 million, after post-closing adjustments 
and net of cash received. LPI currently delivers fuel to customers in both the drilling and completions markets, and its logistics 
system is designed to deliver CNG, renewable natural gas, or hydrogen to remote locations. We believe that the added natural 
gas compression capability is a key enabler of the next step of cost and emissions reductions in the industry. 

Increase in Drilling Efficiency and Service Intensity of Completions 

Over the past decade, E&P companies have focused on exploiting the vast resource potential available across many of 
North America’s unconventional resource plays through the application of horizontal drilling and completion technologies, 
including the use of multi-stage hydraulic fracturing, in order to increase recovery of oil and natural gas. As E&P companies 
have improved drilling and completion techniques to maximize return and efficiency, we believe that well economics have 
improved, and unconventional oil and gas production is globally competitive. Liberty has been a significant partner with our 
customers in driving these continued improvements. 

Improved drilling economics from horizontal drilling and greater rig efficiencies. According to Baker Hughes, as reported 
on January 24, 2025, horizontal rigs accounted for approximately 90% of all rigs drilling in the United States and Canada, up 
from 77% as of December 26, 2014. Over the past several years, North American E&P companies have benefited from 
improved drilling economics driven by technologies that reduce the number of days, and the cost, of drilling wells. North 
American drilling rigs have incorporated newer technologies, which allow them to drill rock more effectively and quickly, 
meaning each rig can drill more wells in a given period. These include improved drilling technologies and the incorporation of 
geosteering techniques which allow better placement of the wellbore. Drilling rigs have also incorporated new technology 
which allows fully assembled rigs to automatically “walk” from one location to the next without disassembling and 
reassembling the rig, greatly reducing the time it takes to move from one drilling location to the next. Today the majority of 
E&P drilling is on multi-well pad development, allowing efficient drilling of multiple horizontal wellbores from the same pad 
or location. The aggregate effect of these improved techniques and technologies have reduced the average days required to drill 
a well, which according to Lium Research, has dropped from 28 days in 2014 to 16 days in 2024. 

Increased complexity and service intensity of horizontal well completions. In addition to improved rig efficiencies 
discussed above, E&P companies are also improving the subsurface techniques and technologies used to exploit unconventional 
resources. These improvements have targeted increasing the exposure of each wellbore to the reservoir by drilling longer 
horizontal lateral sections of the wellbore. To complete the well, hydraulic fracturing is applied in stages along the wellbore to 
break-up the resource so that oil and gas can be produced. As wellbores have increased in length, the number of frac stages 
and/or the number of perforation clusters (frac initiation points) has also increased. Further, E&P companies have improved 
production from each stage by applying increasing amounts of proppant in each stage, which better connects the well to the 
resource. The aggregate effect of increased number of stages and the increasing amount of proppant in each stage has greatly 
increased the total amount of proppant used in each well, according to Liberty’s FracTrends database, from six million pounds 
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per well in 2014 to roughly 22 million pounds per well in 2024. Further efficiency gains are being sought via the “simul-frac,” 
“trimul-frac,” and other techniques. When compared to typical zipper-frac operations, these methods allow operators to 
complete a pad of wells quicker, thereby shortening the time from spud to first production. 

These industry trends continue to keep our customers as important suppliers to the global oil and natural gas markets, 
which directly benefit hydraulic fracturing companies like us that have the expertise and innovative technology to effectively 
service today’s more efficient oilfield drilling activity and the increasing complexity and intensity of well completions. Given 
the expected returns that E&P companies have reported for new well development activities due to improved rig efficiencies 
and increasing well completion complexity and intensity, we expect these industry trends to continue. 

Recent Leadership Updates 

On February 3, 2025, Christopher A. Wright, our Chief Executive Officer and Chairman of the Board, was confirmed to 
the position of Secretary of Energy of the United States and resigned from his positions as Chairman of the Board, Director, and 
Chief Executive Officer of the Company. Also, on February 3, 2025, in accordance with the Company’s succession plan, the 
Board appointed William Kimble as the non-executive Chairman of the Board and Ron Gusek as the Company’s Chief 
Executive Officer and Director. Lastly, on January 22, 2025, the Board approved an increase to the size of the Board from nine 
to 10 directors and appointed Arjun Murti to fill the newly created vacancy. 

How We Generate Revenue  

We currently generate revenue through the provision of hydraulic fracturing, wireline services and goods, including sand 
from our Permian Basin sand mines, proppant delivery and logistics, and natural gas compression and delivery. These services 
and goods are provided under a variety of contract structures, primarily master service agreements (“MSAs”) as supplemented 
by statements of work, pricing agreements and specific quotes. A portion of our statements of work, under MSAs, include 
provisions that establish pricing arrangements for a period of up to approximately one year in length. However, the majority of 
those agreements provide for pricing adjustments based on market conditions. The majority of our services are priced based on 
prevailing market conditions and changing input costs at the time the services are provided, giving consideration to the specific 
requirements of the customer. 

Our hydraulic fracturing and wireline services are performed in sections, which we refer to as fracturing stages. The 
estimated number of fracturing stages to be completed for a particular horizontal well is determined by the customer’s well 
completion design. We primarily recognize revenue based on pump hours, fracturing stages, or days on location, although total 
revenue depends on the actual volumes and types of proppants, chemicals, and fluid utilized on each pad. The number of 
fracturing stages that we are able to complete in a period is directly related to the number and utilization of our deployed fleets 
and size of stages. 

Costs of Conducting Our Business 

The principal expenses involved in conducting our business are direct cost of personnel, services, and materials used in 
the provision of services, general and administrative expenses, and depreciation, depletion, and amortization. A large portion of 
the costs we incur in our business are variable based on the number of hydraulic fracturing jobs and the requirements of 
services provided to our customers. We manage the level of our fixed costs, except depreciation, depletion, and amortization, 
based on several factors, including industry conditions and expected demand for our services. 

How We Evaluate Our Operations 

We use a variety of qualitative, operational and financial metrics to assess our performance. First and foremost, of these is 
a qualitative assessment of customer satisfaction because ensuring we are a valuable partner to our customers is the key to 
achieving our quantitative business metrics. Among other measures, management considers each of the following: 

• Revenue; 
• Operating Income; 
• Net Income; 
• EBITDA; and 
• Adjusted EBITDA; 

Revenue 

We analyze our revenue by comparing actual revenue to our internal projections for a given period and to prior periods to 
assess our performance. 
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Operating Income  

We analyze our operating income, which we define as revenues less direct operating expenses, depreciation, depletion, 
and amortization and general and administrative expenses, to measure our financial performance. We believe operating income 
is a meaningful metric because it provides insight on profitability and true operating performance based on the historical cost 
basis of our assets. We also compare operating income to our internal projections for a given period and to prior periods. 

Net Income 

We analyze our net income, which we define as operating income adjusted for other income or expense, net, including 
interest expense, net, and income tax expense. We analyze net income by comparing actual net income to our internal 
projections for a given period and to prior periods to assess our performance. 

EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA  

We view EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA as important indicators of performance. We define EBITDA as net income 
before interest, income taxes, and depreciation, depletion, and amortization. We define Adjusted EBITDA as EBITDA adjusted 
to eliminate the effects of items such as non-cash stock-based compensation, new fleet or new basin start-up costs, fleet lay-
down costs, costs of asset acquisitions, gain or loss on the disposal of assets, provision for credit losses, transaction, severance, 
and other costs, the gain or loss on remeasurement of liability under our tax receivable agreements, the gain or loss on 
investments, and other non-recurring expenses that management does not consider in assessing ongoing performance. See 
“Comparison of Non-GAAP Financial Measures” for more information and a reconciliation of EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA 
to net income, the most comparable financial measures calculated and presented in accordance with GAAP. 

Results of Operations 

Year Ended December 31, 2024, Compared to Year Ended December 31, 2023  
 Years Ended December 31, 
Description 2024  2023  Change 
 (in thousands) 
Revenue $ 4,315,161   $ 4,747,928   $ (432,767) 
Cost of services, excluding depreciation, depletion, and amortization shown 
separately  3,200,506    3,349,370    (148,864) 
General and administrative  225,474    221,406    4,068  
Transaction and other costs  —    2,053    (2,053) 
Depreciation, depletion, and amortization  505,050    421,514    83,536  
Gain on disposal of assets, net  (5,337)   (6,994)   1,657  
Operating income  389,468    760,579    (371,111) 
Other (income) expense, net  (13,803)   25,689    (39,492) 
Net income before income taxes  403,271    734,890    (331,619) 
Income tax expense  87,261    178,482    (91,221) 
Net income  316,010    556,408    (240,398) 
Less: Net income attributable to non-controlling interests  —    91    (91) 
Net income attributable to Liberty Energy Inc. stockholders $ 316,010   $ 556,317   $ (240,307) 

Revenue 

Our revenue decreased $432.8 million, or 9%, to $4.3 billion for the year ended December 31, 2024 compared to $4.7 
billion for the year ended December 31, 2023. The decrease in revenue was primarily attributable to a decrease in service and 
materials pricing, partially offset by higher activity levels primarily from increased fleet efficiency. 

Cost of Services 

Cost of services (excluding depreciation, depletion, and amortization) decreased $148.9 million, or 4%, to $3.2 billion for 
the year ended December 31, 2024 compared to $3.3 billion for the year ended December 31, 2023. The decrease in expense 
was primarily related to decreases in materials costs and lower repairs and maintenance costs, partially offset by increased 
personnel costs related to higher activity levels discussed above, during the year ended December 31, 2024. 

General and Administrative 

General and administrative expenses increased $4.1 million, or 2%, to $225.5 million for the year ended December 31, 
2024 compared to $221.4 million for the year ended December 31, 2023 primarily related to increased corporate costs to 
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support our additional service offerings, partially offset by a decrease in cash incentive and stock-based compensation expense 
due to lower operating results compared to the prior year period. 

Transaction and Other Costs 

Transaction and other costs decreased $2.1 million, or 100%, as the Company did not incur such costs for the year ended 
December 31, 2024 compared to $2.1 million for the year ended December 31, 2023. The costs incurred during the year ended 
December 31, 2023 primarily consisted of due diligence and integration costs for the Siren Acquisition. See Note 3—
Acquisitions to the consolidated financial statements included in Part II, Item 8 of this Annual Report for further details. 

Depreciation, Depletion, and Amortization 

Depreciation, depletion, and amortization expense increased $83.5 million, or 20%, to $505.1 million for the year ended 
December 31, 2024 compared to $421.5 million for the year ended December 31, 2023. The increase in 2024 was due to 
additional equipment placed in service since the prior year period, including equipment related to the deployment of our 
digiTechnologiesSM. 

Gain on Disposal of Assets, net 

The Company recorded a gain on disposal of assets, net of $5.3 million for the year ended December 31, 2024 compared 
to $7.0 million for the year ended December 31, 2023. The gain recognized in the year ended December 31, 2024 was primarily 
related to the disposal of used older technology field equipment that was no longer operational. The gain recognized in the year 
ended December 31, 2023 was a result of the Company selling used field equipment and light duty trucks in a strong used 
vehicle and equipment market. 

Other (Income) Expense, net 

Other (income) expense, net changed by $39.5 million to $13.8 million income for the year ended December 31, 2024 
compared to $25.7 million expense during the year ended December 31, 2023. Other (income) expense, net is comprised of loss 
on remeasurement of liability under the TRAs of $3.2 million during the year ended December 31, 2024, compared to a gain of 
$1.8 million for the year ended December 31, 2023. It also includes an unrealized gain on investments, net of $49.2 million 
related to investments in equity securities measured at fair value during the year ended December 31, 2024, compared to $0 for 
the year ended December 31, 2023. Interest expense, net increased $3.2 million primarily as a result of the addition of finance 
lease liabilities, refer to “Liquidity and Capital Resources” below for further discussion of the Company’s finance leases. 
Additionally, interest income—related party decreased $1.5 million related to a note receivable agreement executed in 
December 2022, amended in August 2023, and fully collected in March 2024. 

Income Tax Expense 

The Company recognized income tax expense of $87.3 million for the year ended December 31, 2024, an effective rate of 
21.6%, compared to $178.5 million, for the year ended December 31, 2023, an effective rate of 24.3%. The decrease in income 
tax expense was primarily attributable to the decrease in net income before income taxes and increased U.S. federal tax credits. 

Comparison of Non-GAAP Financial Measures 

We view EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA as important indicators of performance. We define EBITDA as net income 
before interest, income taxes, and depreciation, depletion, and amortization. We define Adjusted EBITDA as EBITDA adjusted 
to eliminate the effects of items such as non-cash stock-based compensation, new fleet or new basin start-up costs, fleet lay-
down costs, gain or loss on the disposal of assets, net, bad debt reserves, transaction and other costs, the gain or loss on 
remeasurement of liability under our tax receivable agreements, the unrealized gain or loss on investments, net, and other non-
recurring expenses that management does not consider in assessing ongoing performance. 

Our Board, management, investors, and lenders use EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA to assess our financial performance 
because it allows them to compare our operating performance on a consistent basis across periods by removing the effects of 
our capital structure (such as varying levels of interest expense), asset base (such as depreciation, depletion, and amortization) 
and other items that impact the comparability of financial results from period to period. We present EBITDA and Adjusted 
EBITDA because we believe they provide useful information regarding the factors and trends affecting our business in addition 
to measures calculated under GAAP. 
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Note Regarding Non-GAAP Financial Measures 

EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA are not financial measures presented in accordance with GAAP. We believe that the 
presentation of these non-GAAP financial measures will provide useful information to investors in assessing our financial 
performance and results of operations. Net income is the GAAP financial measure most directly comparable to EBITDA and 
Adjusted EBITDA. Our non-GAAP financial measures should not be considered as alternatives to the most directly comparable 
GAAP financial measure. Each of these non-GAAP financial measures has important limitations as an analytical tool due to 
exclusion of some but not all items that affect the most directly comparable GAAP financial measures. You should not consider 
EBITDA or Adjusted EBITDA in isolation or as substitutes for an analysis of our results as reported under GAAP. Because 
EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA may be defined differently by other companies in our industry, our definitions of these non-
GAAP financial measures may not be comparable to similarly titled measures of other companies, thereby diminishing their 
utility. 

The following tables present a reconciliation of EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA to our net income, which is the most 
directly comparable GAAP financial measure for the periods presented:  

Year Ended December 31, 2024, Compared to Year Ended December 31, 2023: EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA 
 Years Ended December 31, 
Description 2024  2023  Change 
 (in thousands) 
Net income $ 316,010   $ 556,408   $ (240,398) 
Depreciation, depletion, and amortization  505,050    421,514    83,536  
Interest expense, net  32,214    27,506    4,708  
Income tax expense  87,261    178,482    (91,221) 
EBITDA $ 940,535   $ 1,183,910   $ (243,375) 
Stock-based compensation expense  32,412    33,026    (614) 
Gain on disposal of assets, net  (5,337)   (6,994)   1,657  
Unrealized gain on investments, net  (49,227)   —    (49,227) 
Loss (gain) on remeasurement of liability under tax receivable agreements  3,210    (1,817)   5,027  
Provision for credit losses  —    808    (808) 
Transaction and other costs  —    2,053    (2,053) 
Fleet start-up and lay-down costs  —    2,082    (2,082) 
Adjusted EBITDA $ 921,593   $ 1,213,068   $ (291,475) 

EBITDA was $940.5 million for the year ended December 31, 2024 compared to $1.2 billion for the year ended 
December 31, 2023. Adjusted EBITDA was $921.6 million for the year ended December 31, 2024 compared to $1.2 billion for 
the year ended December 31, 2023. The decreases in EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA primarily resulted from lower pricing and 
partially offset by changes in activity levels in 2024 as described above under the captions Revenue, Cost of Services, and 
General and Administrative Expenses for the Year Ended December 31, 2024, Compared to Year Ended December 31, 2023. 

Liquidity and Capital Resources 

Overview 

Our primary sources of liquidity consist of cash flows from operations and borrowings under our ABL Facility (as defined 
below). We believe that we can fund operations and current organic growth plans with these sources. We monitor the 
availability and cost of capital resources such as equity, debt, and lease financings that could be leveraged for current or future 
financial obligations including those related to acquisitions, capital expenditures, working capital, and other liquidity 
requirements. We may incur additional indebtedness or issue equity in order to meet our capital expenditure activities and 
liquidity requirements, as well as to fund organic and other growth opportunities that we pursue, including via acquisition. Our 
primary uses of capital have been capital expenditures to support organic growth and funding ongoing operations, including 
maintenance and fleet upgrades, as well as the repurchases of, and dividends on, shares of our Class A Common Stock. 

Cash and cash equivalents decreased by $16.8 million to $20.0 million as of December 31, 2024 compared to $36.8 
million as of December 31, 2023, while working capital excluding cash and current liabilities under debt and lease 
arrangements decreased $88.2 million. 
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On September 19, 2017, the Company entered into two credit agreements, (i) a revolving line of credit up to $250.0 
million, subsequently increased to $525.0 million, see below, (the “ABL Facility”) and (ii) a $175.0 million term loan (the 
“Term Loan Facility”, and together with the ABL Facility the “Credit Facilities”).  

As of December 31, 2024, the Company had $525.0 million committed under the ABL Facility, subject to certain 
borrowing base limitations based on a percentage of eligible accounts receivable and inventory available to finance working 
capital needs. As of December 31, 2024, the borrowing base was calculated to be $319.8 million, and the Company had $190.5 
million outstanding, in addition to letters of credit totaling $14.0 million, with $115.3 million of remaining availability.  

On January 23, 2023, the Company entered into an Eighth Amendment to the ABL Facility (the “Eighth ABL 
Amendment”). The Eighth ABL Amendment amends certain terms, provisions and covenants of the ABL Facility, including, 
among other things: (i) increasing the maximum revolver amount from $425.0 million to $525.0 million (the “Upsized 
Revolver”); (ii) increasing the amount of the accordion feature from $75.0 million to $100.0 million; (iii) extending the 
maturity date from October 22, 2026 to January 23, 2028; (iv) modifying the dollar amounts of various credit facility triggers 
and tests proportionally to the Upsized Revolver; (v) permitting repayment under the Term Loan Facility prior to February 10, 
2023; and (vi) increasing certain indebtedness, intercompany advance, and investment baskets. The Eighth ABL Amendment 
also includes an agreement from Wells Fargo Bank, National Association, as administrative agent, to release its second priority 
liens and security interests on all collateral that served as first priority collateral under the Term Loan Facility. This release was 
completed during the three months ended June 30, 2023. 

Additionally, on January 23, 2023, the Company borrowed $106.7 million on the ABL Facility and used the proceeds to 
pay off and terminate the Term Loan Facility. The amount paid included the balance of the Term Loan Facility upon payoff of 
$104.7 million, $0.9 million of accrued interest, and a $1.1 million prepayment premium. Additionally, there were $0.2 million 
in administrative agent and lender legal fees included in the pay off. 

The ABL Facility contains covenants that restrict our ability to take certain actions. At December 31, 2024, we were in 
compliance with all debt covenants. 

See Note 8—Debt to the consolidated financial statements included in Part II, Item 8 of this Annual Report for further 
details. 

We have no material off balance sheet arrangements as of December 31, 2024, except for purchase commitments under 
supply agreements as disclosed below under Note 15—Commitments & Contingencies in Part II, Item 8 of this Annual Report. 
As such, we are not materially exposed to any other financing, liquidity, market, or credit risk that could arise if we had 
engaged in such financing arrangements. 

Share Repurchase Program 

Under our share repurchase program, the Company is authorized to repurchase up to $750.0 million of outstanding Class 
A Common Stock through and including July 31, 2026. Shares may be repurchased from time to time for cash in open market 
transactions, through block trades, in privately negotiated transactions, through derivative transactions, or by other means in 
accordance with applicable federal securities laws. The timing and the amount of repurchases will be determined by the 
Company at its discretion based on an evaluation of market conditions, capital allocation alternatives and other factors. The 
share repurchase program does not require us to purchase any dollar amount or number of shares of our Class A Common Stock 
and may be modified, suspended, extended or terminated at any time without prior notice. The Company expects to fund any 
repurchases by using cash on hand, borrowings under the ABL Facility, and expected free cash flow to be generated through the 
duration of the share repurchase program. During the year ended December 31, 2024, the Company repurchased and retired 
shares of Class A Common Stock for $127.4 million, under the share repurchase program. 

Cash Flows 

The following table summarizes our cash flows for the periods indicated: 
 Years Ended December 31, 
Description 2024  2023  Change 
 (in thousands) 
Net cash provided by operating activities $ 829,374   $ 1,014,583   $ (185,209) 
Net cash used in investing activities  (643,113)   (672,328)   29,215  
Net cash used in financing activities  (202,705)   (349,315)   146,610  
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Analysis of Cash Flow Changes Between the Years Ended December 31, 2024 and December 31, 2023  

Operating Activities. Net cash provided by operating activities was $829.4 million for the year ended December 31, 2024, 
compared to $1.0 billion for the year ended December 31, 2023. The $185.2 million decrease in cash from operating activities 
is primarily attributable to a $432.8 million decrease in revenues, offset by a $145.3 million decrease in cash operating 
expenses, interest expense, net, and income tax expense, and a $9.4 million decrease in cash from changes in working capital 
for the year ended December 31, 2024, compared to a $111.7 million decrease in cash from changes in working capital for the 
year ended December 31, 2023.  

Investing Activities. Net cash used in investing activities was $643.1 million for the year ended December 31, 2024, 
compared to $672.3 million for the year ended December 31, 2023. Cash used in investing activities was lower during the year 
ended December 31, 2024, compared to the year ended December 31, 2023 primarily due to the Siren Acquisition and higher 
equity investments in the prior year period, offset by higher capital spending in the current year period, and lower proceeds 
from asset sales. The Company purchased Siren Energy for $75.7 million in cash, net of cash received, during the year ended 
December 31, 2023. Refer to Note 3—Acquisitions to the consolidated financial statements in Part II, Item 8 of this Annual 
Report for additional information related to the Siren Acquisition. Investments in equipment, including the new 
digiTechnologiesSM suite and capitalized maintenance of existing equipment increased $47.7 million, from $603.3 million for 
the year ended December 31, 2023 to $651.0 million for the year ended December 31, 2024. Proceeds from asset sales 
decreased $2.9 million, from $26.9 million to $24.0 million as the Company benefited from strong used vehicle and equipment 
markets in the prior period. Finally, during the year ended December 31, 2024, the Company invested $16.1 million for equity 
investments in Tamboran Resources Corporation, Empire Energy Group Ltd., and Falcon Oil & Gas Ltd, compared to $20.3 
million for equity investments in Tamboran Resources Corporation and Oklo Inc. during the year ended December 31, 2023. 

Financing Activities. Net cash used in financing activities was $202.7 million for the year ended December 31, 2024, 
compared to $349.3 million for the year ended December 31, 2023. The $146.6 million decrease in cash used in financing 
activities was primarily due to net borrowings of $50.5 million during the current year period compared to $79.7 million in net 
repayment of borrowings during the prior year as well as a $73.9 million decrease in share repurchases for the year ended 
December 31, 2024, compared to the year ended December 31, 2023.  These decreases in cash used in financing activities were 
offset by a $32.9 million increase in cash paid for finance leases, a $10.5 million increase in cash tax withholding on restricted 
stock unit vestings, and a $10.6 million increase in dividends paid.  

Cash Requirements 

Our material cash commitments consist primarily of obligations under long-term debt on the ABL Facility, TRAs, finance 
and operating leases for property and equipment, cash used to pay for repurchases of, and dividends on, shares of our Class A 
Common Stock, and purchase obligations as part of normal operations. Certain amounts included in our contractual obligations 
as of December 31, 2024 are based on our estimates and assumptions about these obligations, including pricing, volumes, and 
duration. We have no material off balance sheet arrangements as of December 31, 2024, except for purchase commitments 
under supply agreements disclosed below. 

See Note 8—Debt to the consolidated financial statements included in Part II, Item 8 of this Annual Report for 
information regarding scheduled maturities of our long-term debt. See Note 6—Leases to the consolidated financial statements 
included in Part II, Item 8 of this Annual Report for information regarding scheduled maturities of finance and operating leases.  

During the year ended December 31, 2024, the Company expanded its equipment lease facilities resulting in the addition 
of $149.0 million in new finance lease obligations. The term on these new leases range from three to five years. As of 
December 31, 2024, the Company had finance lease obligations of $87.5 million payable within the next twelve months and 
$222.5 million payable thereafter. Included in those liabilities, the Company had expected cash payments for estimated interest 
on our finance lease obligations of $17.1 million payable within the next twelve months and $22.4 million payable thereafter. 

On January 23, 2023, the Company borrowed $106.7 million on the ABL Facility and used the proceeds to pay off and 
terminate the Term Loan Facility. The balance of the Term Loan Facility at pay off was $104.7 million and included $0.9 
million of accrued interest, and a $1.1 million prepayment premium. As such, the only outstanding debt facility as of December 
31, 2024 and 2023 was the ABL Facility. 

As of December 31, 2024, the Company has purchase obligations of $26.3 million payable within the next twelve months. 
See Note 15—Commitments & Contingencies to the consolidated financial statements in Part II, Item 8 of this Annual Report 
for information regarding scheduled contractual obligations. 

As of December 31, 2024, the Company expects to make a $40.8 million payment under the TRAs within the next twelve 
months. Future amounts payable under the TRAs are dependent upon future events.  See Note 12—Income Taxes to the 
consolidated financial statements included in Part II, Item 8 of this Annual Report for information regarding the TRAs.  

There have been no other material changes to cash requirements during the year ended December 31, 2024. 
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Other Factors Affecting Liquidity 

Customer receivables: In line with industry practice, we typically bill our customers for services provided in arrears 
dependent upon contractual terms. In weak economic environments, we may experience delays in collection from our 
customers. In the past, we have experienced delays in customer payments and periodically agreed to extended payment terms, 
however, we have not experienced any material non-payment events. 

Tax Receivable Agreements 

In connection with the IPO, on January 17, 2018, the Company entered into two TRAs with the TRA Holders. The TRAs 
generally provide for the payment by the Company of 85% of the net cash savings, if any, in U.S. federal, state, and local 
income tax and franchise tax (computed using simplifying assumptions to address the impact of state and local taxes) that the 
Company actually recognizes (or is deemed to recognize in certain circumstances) in periods after the IPO as a result, as 
applicable to each of the TRA Holders, of (i) certain increases in tax basis that occur as a result of the Company’s acquisition 
(or deemed acquisition for U.S. federal income tax purposes) of all or a portion of such TRA Holders’ Liberty LLC Units in 
connection with the IPO or pursuant to the exercise of the right of each Liberty Unit Holder (the “Redemption Right”), subject 
to certain limitations, to cause Liberty LLC to acquire all or a portion of its Liberty LLC Units for, at Liberty LLC’s election, 
(A) shares of our Class A Common Stock at the specific redemption ratio or (B) an equivalent amount of cash, or, upon the 
exercise of the Redemption Right, the right of the Company (instead of Liberty LLC) to, for administrative convenience, 
acquire each tendered Liberty LLC Unit directly from the redeeming Liberty Unit Holder (the “Call Right”) for, at its election, 
(1) one share of Class A Common Stock or (2) an equivalent amount of cash, (ii) any net operating losses available to the 
Company as a result of the Corporate Reorganization, and (iii) imputed interest deemed to be paid by the Company as a result 
of, and additional tax basis arising from, any payments the Company makes under the TRAs. On January 31, 2023, the last 
redemption of the Liberty LLC Units occurred. 

With respect to obligations the Company expects to incur under the TRAs (except in cases where the Company elects to 
terminate the TRAs early, the TRAs are terminated early due to certain mergers, asset sales, or other changes of control or the 
Company has available cash but fails to make payments when due), generally the Company may elect to defer payments due 
under the TRAs if the Company does not have available cash to satisfy its payment obligations under the TRAs or if its 
contractual obligations limit its ability to make such payments. Any such deferred payments under the TRAs generally will 
accrue interest. In certain cases, payments under the TRAs may be accelerated and/or significantly exceed the actual benefits, if 
any, the Company realizes in respect of the tax attributes subject to the TRAs. The Company accounts for amounts payable 
under the TRAs in accordance with Accounting Standard Codification (“ASC”) Topic 450, Contingencies (“ASC Topic 450”). 

If the Company experiences a change of control (as defined under the TRAs) or the TRAs otherwise terminate early, the 
Company’s obligations under the TRAs could have a substantial negative impact on its liquidity and could have the effect of 
delaying, deferring or preventing certain mergers, asset sales, or other forms of business combinations or changes of control. 
There can be no assurance that we will be able to finance our obligations under the TRAs. 

Income Taxes 

The Company is a corporation and is subject to U.S. federal, state, and local income tax. The Company is also subject to 
Canada and Australia federal and provincial income tax on its foreign operations. 

The effective global income tax rate applicable to the Company for the year ended December 31, 2024 was 21.6% 
compared to 24.3% for the year ended December 31, 2023. The Company’s effective tax rate for both years is greater than the 
statutory federal income tax rate of 21.0% due to the Company’s Canadian operations, state income taxes in the states the 
Company operates, as well as nondeductible executive compensation, partially offset by U.S. federal income tax credits. 

The Company recognized income tax expense of $87.3 million and $178.5 million for the years ended December 31, 2024 
and 2023, respectively. The Company’s effective tax rate can be volatile and may change with, among other things, the amount 
of jurisdiction pre-tax income or loss, ability to utilize foreign tax credits, excess tax benefits or deficiencies from share-based 
compensation and changes in tax laws in the jurisdictions that we operate. 

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are recognized for the estimated future tax consequences attributable to 
differences between the financial reporting and tax bases of assets and liabilities, and are measured using enacted tax rates in 
effect for the year in which those temporary differences are expected to be recovered or settled. In the year ended December 31, 
2024, the Company’s U.S. net deferred tax liabilities were $137.7 million and Canada net deferred tax assets were $1.5 million. 
The Company has no valuation allowances recorded against the deferred tax assets for the year ended December 31, 2024 and 
2023. 

Refer to Note 12— Income Taxes to the consolidated financial statements in Part II, Item 8 of this Annual Report for 
additional information related to income tax expense. 
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Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates 

The preparation of financial statements requires the use of judgments and estimates. Our critical accounting policies are 
described below to provide a better understanding of how we develop our assumptions and judgments about future events and 
related estimates and how they can impact our financial statements. A critical accounting estimate is one that requires our most 
difficult, subjective or complex estimates and assessments and is fundamental to our results of operations. 

We base our estimates on historical experience and on various other assumptions we believe to be reasonable according to 
the current facts and circumstances, the results of which form the basis for making judgments about the carrying values of 
assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. We believe the following are the critical accounting 
policies used in the preparation of our consolidated financial statements, as well as the significant estimates and judgments 
affecting the application of these policies. This discussion and analysis should be read in conjunction with our consolidated 
financial statements and related notes included in Part II, Item 8 of this Annual Report. 

Revenue Recognition: Revenue from hydraulic fracturing services is recognized as specific services are provided in 
accordance with contractual arrangements. If our assessment of performance under a particular contract change, our revenue 
and / or costs under that contract may change. In connection with ASC Topic 842 - Leases (“Topic 842”), the Company 
determined that certain of its service revenue contracts contain a lease component. The Company elected to adopt a practical 
expedient available to lessors, which allows the Company to combine the lease and service component for certain of the 
Company’s service contracts when the service component is the predominant component and continues to account for the 
combined component under ASC Topic 606 - Revenue from Contracts with Customers. 

Inventory: Inventory consists of raw materials used in the hydraulic fracturing process, such as proppants, chemicals and 
field service equipment maintenance parts, and is stated at the lower of cost or net realizable value, determined using the 
weighted average cost method. Net realizable value is determined based on our estimates of selling prices in the ordinary course 
of business, less reasonably predictable cost of completion, disposal, and transportation, each of which require us to apply 
judgment. 

Property and Equipment: We calculate depreciation and amortization on our assets based on the estimated useful lives and 
estimated salvage values that we believe are reasonable. The estimated useful lives and salvage values are subject to key 
assumptions such as maintenance, utilization and job variation. These estimates may change due to a number of factors such as 
changes in operating conditions or advances in technology. 

We incur maintenance costs on our major equipment. The determination of whether an expenditure should be capitalized 
or expensed requires management judgment in the application of how the costs benefit future periods, relative to our 
capitalization policy. Costs that either establish or increase the efficiency, productivity, functionality or life of a fixed asset are 
capitalized and depreciated over the remaining useful life of the asset. 

Impairment of long-lived assets: Long-lived assets, such as property and equipment, right-of-use lease assets and 
intangible assets, are evaluated for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that their carrying value 
may not be recoverable. Possible indicators of impairment may include events or changes in circumstances affecting the manner 
in which the assets are being used, historical and estimated future profitability measures, and other adverse events or changes 
that could affect the value of the assets. If a triggering event is identified, recoverability is assessed using undiscounted future 
net cash flows of assets grouped at the lowest level for which there are identifiable cash flows independent of the cash flows of 
other groups of assets. When alternative courses of action to recover the carrying amount of the asset group are under 
consideration, estimates of future undiscounted cash flows take into account possible outcomes and probabilities of their 
occurrence, which require us to apply judgment. If the carrying amount of the asset is not recoverable based on its estimated 
undiscounted cash flows expected to result from the use and eventual disposition, an impairment loss is recognized in an 
amount by which its carrying amount exceeds its estimated fair value. The inputs used to determine such fair value are 
primarily based upon internally developed cash flow models. Our cash flow models are based on a number of estimates 
regarding future operations that may be subject to significant variability, are sensitive to changes in market conditions, and are 
reasonably likely to change in the future. 

Leases: In accordance with ASC Topic 842, Leases, the Company determines if an arrangement is a lease at inception and 
evaluates identified leases for operating or finance lease treatment. Operating or finance lease right-of-use assets and liabilities 
are recognized at the commencement date based on the present value of lease payments over the lease term. We use our 
incremental borrowing rate based on the information available at the commencement date in determining the present value of 
lease payments. Lease terms may include options to renew; however, we typically cannot determine our intent to renew a lease 
with reasonable certainty at inception. 

Tax Receivable Agreements: In connection with the IPO, on January 17, 2018, the Company entered into two TRAs with 
the TRA Holders. The TRAs generally provide for the payment by the Company of 85% of the net cash savings, if any, in U.S. 
federal, state, and local income tax and franchise tax that the Company actually realizes in periods after the IPO as a result of 



45 
 

certain tax attributes applicable to each TRA Holder. The Company accounts for amounts payable under the TRAs in 
accordance with ASC Topic 450, Contingencies. 

Share Repurchases: The Company accounts for the purchase price of repurchased Class A Common Stock in excess of par 
value ($0.01 per share of Class A Common Stock) as a reduction of additional paid-in capital, and will continue to do so until 
additional paid-in capital is reduced to zero. Thereafter, any excess purchase price will be recorded as a reduction to retained 
earnings. All Class A Common Stock shares repurchased to date have been retired upon repurchase. 
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Item 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosure about Market Risk 

Industry Risk 

The demand, pricing and terms for hydraulic fracturing services and related goods provided by us are largely dependent 
upon the level of drilling and completions activity in the U.S. oil and natural gas industry, as well as the available supply of 
hydraulic fracturing equipment. These activity levels are influenced by numerous factors over which we have no control, 
including, but not limited to: the supply of and demand for oil and natural gas; the level of prices, and expectations about future 
prices of oil and natural gas; the cost of exploring for, developing, producing and delivering oil and natural gas; the expected 
rates of declining current production; the discovery rates of new oil and natural gas reserves; supply of actively marketed and 
staffed fracturing fleets; available rail and other transportation capacity; weather conditions; domestic and worldwide economic 
conditions; political instability in oil-producing countries; environmental regulations; technical advances affecting energy 
consumption; the price and availability of alternative fuels; the ability of E&P companies to raise equity capital and debt 
financing; and merger and divestiture activity among E&P companies. 

The level of U.S. oil and natural gas drilling can be volatile. Expected trends in oil and natural gas production activities 
may not materialize and demand for our services may not reflect the level of activity in the industry. Any prolonged and 
substantial reduction in oil and natural gas prices would likely affect oil and natural gas production levels and therefore affect 
demand for our services. A material decline in oil and natural gas prices or U.S. activity levels could have a material adverse 
effect on our business, financial condition, results of operations and cash flows. 

Interest Rate Risk 

As of December 31, 2024, the Company had $190.5 million of debt outstanding, with a weighted average interest rate of 
6.8%. Interest is calculated under the terms of our ABL Facility based on our selection, from time to time, of one of the index 
rates available to us plus an applicable margin that varies based on certain factors. See Item 7. Management’s Discussion and 
Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations—Liquidity and Capital Resources. Assuming no change in the 
amount outstanding, the impact on interest expense of a 1% increase or decrease in the weighted average interest rate would be 
approximately $1.9 million per year. We do not currently have or intend to enter into any derivative arrangements to protect 
against fluctuations in interest rates applicable to our outstanding indebtedness. 

Commodity Price Risk 

Our material and fuel purchases expose us to commodity price risk. Material costs primarily include inventory consumed 
while performing hydraulic fracturing services. Fuel costs consist of diesel fuel and natural gas used by trucks and other 
motorized equipment used for hydraulic fracturing services. At times, we have been able to pass along price increases for 
material costs and fuel costs to customers and conversely have been required to pass along price decreases for material costs to 
our customers, depending on market conditions. Further, we have purchase commitments with certain vendors to supply 
proppant inventory used in our operations at a fixed purchase price, including certain commitments which include minimum 
purchase obligations. Refer to Note 15—Commitments & Contingencies included in Part II, Item 8. of this Annual Report for 
further discussion regarding purchase commitments. 

Foreign Translation Risk 

Our consolidated financial statements are expressed in U.S. dollars but a portion of our operations is conducted in a 
currency other than U.S. dollars. The Canadian dollar and the Australian dollar are the functional currencies of the Company’s 
foreign subsidiaries as it is the primary currency within the economic environment in which the subsidiaries operate. Changes 
in the exchange rate can affect our revenues, earnings, and the carrying value of our assets and liabilities in our consolidated 
balance sheet, either positively or negatively. Adjustments resulting from the translation of the subsidiary’s financial statements 
are reported in other comprehensive (loss) income. During the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023, the Company 
recorded a foreign currency translation loss of $13.7 million and a foreign currency translation gain of $1.3 million to 
comprehensive income, respectively. 

Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data 

Our financial statements and supplementary data are included in this Annual Report beginning on page F-1 and 
incorporated by reference herein. 

Item 9. Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure 

None. 
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Item 9A. Controls and Procedures 

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures 

In accordance with the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 Rules 13a-15 and 15d-15, we carried out an evaluation, under the 
supervision and with the participation of management, including our principal executive officer and principal financial officer, 
of the effectiveness of our disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) of the Exchange 
Act) as of the end of the period covered by this report. Based on that evaluation, our principal executive officer and principal 
financial officer concluded that our disclosure controls and procedures were effective as of December 31, 2024 to provide 
reasonable assurance that information required to be disclosed in our reports filed or submitted under the Exchange Act is 
recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time periods specified in the rules and forms of the SEC. Our 
disclosure controls and procedures include controls and procedures designed to ensure that information required to be disclosed 
in reports filed or submitted under the Exchange Act is accumulated and communicated to our management, including our 
principal executive officer and principal financial officer, as appropriate, to allow timely decisions regarding required 
disclosures. 

There were no changes to our internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f) under 
the Exchange Act) that occurred during our last fiscal quarter that have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to 
materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting. 

See page F-1 for Management’s Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting and page F-4 for Report of 
Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm on its assessment of our internal control over financial reporting. 

Item 9B. Other Information 

During the quarter ended December 31, 2024, none of our directors or Section 16 officers informed us of the adoption, 
modification, or termination of any “Rule 10b5-1 trading arrangement” or “non-Rule 10b5-1 trading arrangement” (in each 
case, as defined in Item 408(a) of Regulation S-K). 
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PART III 

Item 10. Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate Governance 

The information required by this item concerning our executive officers, directors and corporate governance is 
incorporated herein by reference to our definitive proxy statement for our 2025 annual meeting of stockholders, which will be 
filed with the SEC no later than 120 days after December 31, 2024, under the captions “Proposal 1 — Election of Directors,” 
“The Board and its Committees,” “Executive Officers” and “Delinquent Section 16(a) Reports.”  

Item 11. Executive Compensation 

The information required by this item concerning executive compensation is incorporated herein by reference to our 
definitive proxy statement for our 2025 annual meeting of stockholders, which will be filed with the SEC no later than 120 days 
after December 31, 2024, under the captions “The Board and its Committees,” “Compensation Discussion & Analysis,” 
“Compensation Committee Report,” “Executive Compensation Tables,” “Director Compensation,” and “CEO Pay Ratio,” 
except for the information required by Item 402(v) of Regulation S-K, which is specifically not incorporated by reference. 

Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder Matters 

The information required by this item concerning the security ownership of certain beneficial owners and management 
and related stockholder matters are incorporated herein by reference to our definitive proxy statement for our 2025 annual 
meeting of stockholders, which will be filed with the SEC no later than 120 days after December 31, 2024, under the captions 
“Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management” and “Equity Compensation Plan Information.” 

Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions, and Director Independence 

The information required by this item concerning certain relationships and related person transactions and director 
independence is incorporated herein by reference to our definitive proxy statement for our 2025 annual meeting of 
stockholders, which will be filed with the SEC no later than 120 days after December 31, 2024, under the captions “Certain 
Relationships and Related Party Transactions” and “the Board and its Committees.” 

Item 14. Principal Accountant Fees and Services 

The information required by this item concerning principal accounting fees and services is incorporated herein by 
reference to our definitive proxy statement for our 2025 annual meeting of stockholders, which will be filed with the SEC no 
later than 120 days after December 31, 2024, under the caption “Proposal 3 — Ratification of Appointment of the Company’s 
Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm.” 
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PART IV 

Item 15. Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedules 

(a) Financial Statements and Financial Statement Schedules 

Refer to Index to Financial Statements on page 53. 

All schedules are omitted as information required is inapplicable or the information is presented in the consolidated 
financial statements and the related notes.  

(b) Exhibits 

The documents listed in the Index to Exhibits are filed, furnished or incorporated by reference as part of this Annual 
Report, and such Index to Exhibits are incorporated herein by reference. 
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Item 16. Form 10-K Summary 

None. 
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INDEX TO EXHIBITS 
Exhibit 
Number  Description 

   2.1 

 

Master Reorganization Agreement, dated as of January 11, 2018, by and among Liberty Oilfield Services Inc., 
Liberty Oilfield Services Holdings LLC, Liberty Oilfield Services New HoldCo LLC, and the other parties 
named therein (2) 

   2.2 

 

Master Transaction Agreement, dated as of August 31, 2020, by and among Schlumberger Technology 
Corporation, Schlumberger Canada Limited, Liberty Oilfield Services Holdings LLC, Liberty Canada 
Operations Inc. and Liberty Oilfield Services Inc. (10) 

   3.1  Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of Liberty Oilfield Services Inc. (2) 
   3.2  Certificate of Amendment to Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation (13) 
   3.3  Second Amended and Restated Bylaws of Liberty Energy Inc., as amended effective January 24, 2023 (17) 
   4.1 

 
Description of the Registrant’s Securities Registered pursuant to Section 12 of the Securities Exchange Act of 
1934. (20) 

   10.1 
 

Second Amended and Restated Limited Liability Company Operating Agreement of Liberty Oilfield Services 
New HoldCo LLC (2) 

   10.2 
 

Form of Joinder Agreement to Second Amended and Restated Limited Liability Company Operating 
Agreement of Liberty Oilfield Services New HoldCo LLC (12) 

   10.3 
 

Tax Receivable Agreement, dated January 17, 2018, by and among Liberty Oilfield Services Inc., R/C Energy 
IV Direct Partnership, L.P., and R/C Energy IV Direct Partnership, L.P., as agent (2) 

   10.4 
 

Tax Receivable Agreement, dated January 17, 2018, by and among Liberty Oilfield Services Inc., and the other 
parties named therein (2) 

   10.5 
 

Agent Designation Amendment to the Tax Receivable Agreement, dated as of February 22, 2022, by and 
among Liberty Oilfield Services Inc. and R/C Energy IV Direct Partnership, L.P. (15) 

   10.6 

 

Credit Agreement, dated September 19, 2017, by and among Wells Fargo Bank, National Association, as 
Administrative Agent, Wells Fargo Bank, National Association, JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A. and Citibank, 
N.A., as Joint Lead Arrangers, Wells Fargo Bank, National Association, as Book Runner, JPMorgan Chase 
Bank, N.A. and Citibank, N.A., as Syndication Agents, the lender parties thereto, Liberty Oilfield Services 
Holdings LLC, as Parent and Liberty Oilfield Services LLC and LOS Acquisition Co I LLC, each as a 
Borrower (1) 

   10.7 

 

Amendment and Parent Joinder to Credit Agreement, dated January 17, 2018, by and among Liberty Oilfield 
Services Holdings LLC, Liberty Oilfield Services LLC, LOS Acquisition Co I LLC, Liberty Oilfield Services 
Inc., Liberty Oilfield Services New Holdco LLC, Wells Fargo Bank, National Association, as Administrative 
Agent, and the lenders signatory thereto (3) 

   10.8 

 

Second Amendment and Parent Joinder to Credit Agreement, dated March 21, 2018, by and among Liberty 
Oilfield Services LLC, LOS Acquisition Co I LLC, Liberty Oilfield Services Inc., Liberty Oilfield Services 
New Holdco LLC, R/C IV Non-U.S. LOS Corp, Wells Fargo Bank, National Association, as Administrative 
Agent, and the lenders signatory thereto (3) 

   10.9 

 

Third Amendment to Credit Agreement, dated May 29, 2020, by and among Liberty Oilfield Services LLC, 
Liberty Oilfield Services Inc., Liberty Oilfield Services New Holdco LLC, R/C IV Non-U.S. LOS Corp, and 
Wells Fargo Bank, National Association as Administrative Agent, and the lenders signatory thereto (8) 

   10.10 

 

Fourth Amendment to Credit Agreement, dated August 12, 2020, by and among Liberty Oilfield Services LLC, 
Liberty Oilfield Services Inc., Liberty Oilfield Services New Holdco LLC, R/C IV Non-U.S. LOS Corp, Wells 
Fargo Bank, National Association, as Administrative Agent, and the lenders signatory thereto (9) 

   10.11 

 

Consent and Fifth Amendment to Credit Agreement, dated December 29, 2020, by and among Liberty Oilfield 
Services LLC, Liberty Oilfield Services Inc., Liberty Oilfield Services New Holdco LLC, R/C IV Non-U.S. 
LOS Corp, LOS Cibolo RE Investments, LLC, LOS Odessa RE Investments, LLC, ST9 Gas and Oil LLC, 
Wells Fargo Bank, National Association, as Administrative Agent, and the lenders signatory thereto (11) 
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https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1694028/000169402822000015/lbrt_coi.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1694028/000169402823000006/secondamendedandrestatedby.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1694028/000169402824000006/a41descriptionofsecurities.htm
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https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1694028/000119312518013495/d513358dex101.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1694028/000169402821000042/joinderagreement-libertyoi.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1694028/000169402821000042/joinderagreement-libertyoi.htm
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https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1694028/000119312517338194/d313047dex109.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1694028/000119312517338194/d313047dex109.htm
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https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1694028/000162828018003509/a109wellsamendmentandjoind.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1694028/000162828018003509/a109wellsamendmentandjoind.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1694028/000162828018003509/a109wellsamendmentandjoind.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1694028/000162828018003509/a109wellsamendmentandjoind.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1694028/000162828018003509/a1010wellssecondamendmenta.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1694028/000162828018003509/a1010wellssecondamendmenta.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1694028/000162828018003509/a1010wellssecondamendmenta.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1694028/000162828018003509/a1010wellssecondamendmenta.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1694028/000169402820000037/a8-kamendmenttocredita.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1694028/000169402820000037/a8-kamendmenttocredita.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1694028/000169402820000037/a8-kamendmenttocredita.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1694028/000169402820000061/ex101amendmenttocredit.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1694028/000169402820000061/ex101amendmenttocredit.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1694028/000169402820000061/ex101amendmenttocredit.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1694028/000169402821000007/wfconsentandfifthamendment.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1694028/000169402821000007/wfconsentandfifthamendment.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1694028/000169402821000007/wfconsentandfifthamendment.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1694028/000169402821000007/wfconsentandfifthamendment.htm
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10.12     

 

Sixth Amendment to Credit Agreement and Second Amendment to Guaranty and Security Agreement, dated 
October 22, 2021, by and among Liberty Oilfield Services LLC, Liberty Oilfield Services Inc., Liberty Oilfield 
Services New HoldCo LLC, R/C IV Non-U.S. LOS Corp, LOS Solar Acquisition LLC, Freedom Proppant 
LLC, LOS Kermit LLC, LOS Cibolo RE Investments, LLC, LOS Odessa RE Investments, LLC, ST9 Gas and 
Oil LLC, Wells Fargo Bank, National Association, as Administrative Agent, and the lenders signatory thereto 
(12) 

   10.13 

 

Increase Joinder and Seventh Amendment to Credit Agreement, dated July 18, 2022, by and among Liberty 
Oilfield Services LLC, Liberty Energy Inc., Liberty Oilfield Services New Holdco LLC, R/C IV Non-U.S. 
LOS Corp, Freedom Proppant LLC, LOS Kermit LLC, LOS Leasing Company LLC, LOS Cibolo RE 
Investments, LLC, LOS Odessa RE Investments, LLC, Proppant Express Solutions, LLC, ST9 Gas and Oil 
LLC, Well Fargo Bank, National Association, as Administrative Agent, and the lenders signatory thereto. (14) 

   10.14 

 

Eighth Amendment to Credit Agreement, dated January 23, 2023, by and among Liberty Oilfield Services 
LLC, Liberty Energy Inc., Liberty Oilfield Services New Holdco LLC, R/C IV Non-U.S. LOS Corp, Freedom 
Proppant LLC, LOS Kermit LLC, LOS Leasing Company LLC, LOS Cibolo RE Investments, LLC, LOS 
Odessa RE Investments, LLC, Proppant Express Solutions, LLC, ST9 Gas and Oil LLC, Well Fargo Bank, 
National Association, as Administrative Agent, and the lenders signatory thereto. (17) 

   10.15 
 

Joinder Agreement, dated December 31, 2021, by and among LOS Leasing Company LLC and Wells Fargo 
Bank, National Association, as Administrative Agent (16) 

   10.16  Liberty Energy Services 401(k) Savings Plan * 
   10.17 

 
Form of Restricted Stock Unit Grant Notice and Restricted Stock Unit Award Agreement under the Long Term 
Incentive Plan (4)† 

   10.18  Form of Restricted Stock Unit Grant Notice under the Long Term Incentive Plan (11)† 
   10.19 

 
Form of Performance Restricted Stock Unit Grant Notice and Performance Restricted Stock Unit Agreement 
under the Liberty Oilfield Services Inc. Long Term Incentive Plan (5)†  

   10.20  Liberty Energy Inc. Amended and Restated Long Term Incentive Plan (18)† 
   10.21 

 
Form of Performance Restricted Stock unit Grant Notice and Agreement under the Liberty Energy Inc. 
Amended and Restated Long Term Incentive Plan (19)† 

   10.22 
 

Form of Restricted Stock unit Grant Notice and Agreement under the Liberty Energy Inc. Amended and 
Restated Long Term Incentive Plan (19)† 

   10.23 
 

Form of Restricted Stock unit Grant Notice under the Liberty Energy Inc. Amended and Restated Long Term 
Incentive Plan (19)† 

   10.24  Form of Director and Officer Indemnification Agreement * 
   10.25  Form of Change in Control Agreement (6)† 
   10.26  Form of Indemnification Agreement between the Company and each of its Directors and Executive Officers (7) 
   19.1  Insider Trading Policy (20) 
   21.1  List of subsidiaries of Liberty Energy Inc. * 
   23.1  Consent of Deloitte & Touche LLP * 
   31.1 

 
Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a) as adopted pursuant to Section 302 of the 
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 * 

   31.2 
 

Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuant to 13a-14(a) as adopted pursuant to Section 302 of the 
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 * 

   32.1 
 

Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 
906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 ** 

   32.2 
 

Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 
of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 ** 

   95  Mine Safety Disclosure * 
   97  Compensation Recovery Policy (20) 
   101.INS  XBRL Instance Document * 
   101.SCH  XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document * 
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SIGNATURES 

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this 
report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized. 
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/s/ Ron Gusek 

Date: February 6, 2025 By:   Ron Gusek 
Chief Executive Officer 
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MANAGEMENT’S REPORT ON INTERNAL CONTROL OVER FINANCIAL REPORTING 

The management of Liberty Energy Inc. is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over 
financial reporting as defined in Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f) of the Securities Exchange Act. 

Internal control over financial reporting, no matter how well designed, has inherent limitations. Therefore, a system of 
internal control over financial reporting can provide only reasonable assurance and may not prevent or detect 
misstatements. Further, because of changes in conditions, effectiveness of internal controls over financial reporting may 
vary over time.  

Under the supervision of, and with the participation of our management, including our principal executive officer and 
principal financial officer, we conducted an evaluation of the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting 
as of December 31, 2024 based on the framework and criteria established in Internal Control-Integrated Framework 
(2013), issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission.  

Based on this evaluation, management concluded that, as of December 31, 2024, our internal control over financial 
reporting was effective. 
The effectiveness of Liberty Energy Inc.’s internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2024 has been 
audited by Deloitte & Touche LLP, an independent registered public accounting firm, as stated in their report that is 
included herein. 
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM  

To the stockholders and the Board of Directors of Liberty Energy Inc.  

Opinion on the Financial Statements 

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Liberty Energy Inc. and subsidiaries (the "Company") 
as of December 31, 2024 and 2023, the related consolidated statements of operations, comprehensive income, changes in 
equity, and cash flows, for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2024, and the related notes 
(collectively referred to as the "financial statements"). In our opinion, the financial statements present fairly, in all material 
respects, the financial position of the Company as of December 31, 2024 and 2023, and the results of its operations and its 
cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2024, in conformity with accounting principles 
generally accepted in the United States of America. 

We have also audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United 
States) (PCAOB), the Company’s internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2024, based on criteria 
established in Internal Control — Integrated Framework (2013) issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of 
the Treadway Commission and our report dated February 6, 2025, expressed an unqualified opinion on the Company’s 
internal control over financial reporting. 

Basis for Opinion 

These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion 
on the Company’s financial statements based on our audits. We are a public accounting firm registered with the PCAOB 
and are required to be independent with respect to the Company in accordance with the U.S. federal securities laws and the 
applicable rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB. 

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and 
perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement, 
whether due to error or fraud. Our audits included performing procedures to assess the risks of material misstatement of the 
financial statements, whether due to error or fraud, and performing procedures that respond to those risks. Such procedures 
included examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. Our audits 
also included evaluating the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as 
evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our 
opinion. 

Critical Audit Matters 

The critical audit matter communicated below is a matter arising from the current-period audit of the financial statements 
that was communicated or required to be communicated to the audit committee and that (1) relates to accounts or 
disclosures that are material to the financial statements and (2) involved our especially challenging, subjective, or complex 
judgments. The communication of critical audit matters does not alter in any way our opinion on the financial statements, 
taken as a whole, and we are not, by communicating the critical audit matter below, providing separate opinions on the 
critical audit matter or on the accounts or disclosures to which it relates. 

Property and equipment — Determination of Impairment Indicators — Refer to Note 2 to the financial statements 

Critical Audit Matter Description 

As described in Note 2 to the consolidated financial statements, the Company assesses its property and equipment for 
impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying value of an asset may not be 
recoverable, referred to as triggering events. Possible indications of impairment may include events or changes in 
circumstances affecting the manner in which the assets are being used, historical and estimated future profitability 
measures, and other adverse events or changes that could affect the value of the assets. If a triggering event is identified, 
the Company evaluates its property and equipment for impairment by comparing undiscounted future cash flows expected 
to be generated over the life of the assets to the respective carrying amount. If the carrying amount of the assets exceeds the 
undiscounted future cash flows, an analysis is performed to determine the fair value of the assets. 

We identified the evaluation of property and equipment for impairment triggering events as a critical audit matter. The 
Company makes assumptions to evaluate property and equipment for possible indications of impairment. Changes in these 
assumptions could have a significant impact on the assets identified for further analysis. For the year ended December 31, 
2024, the Company concluded that no triggering events had occurred, and no impairment was recognized. 

Given the Company’s evaluation of possible indications of impairment of property and equipment requires management to 
make assumptions, performing audit procedures to evaluate whether management appropriately identified events or 
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changes in circumstances indicating that the carrying amounts of property and equipment may not be recoverable required 
a high degree of auditor judgment. 

How the Critical Audit Matter Was Addressed in the Audit 

Our audit procedures related to the evaluation of property and equipment for possible indications of impairment included 
the following, among others: 

• We tested the effectiveness of internal controls over financial reporting related to management’s evaluation of 
impairment. This included controls related to the Company’s process to identify and evaluate triggering events, 
including the consideration of forecasted to actual results and market conditions in determining whether a triggering 
event exists.  

• We considered the completeness of management’s identification of impairment indicators by: 

◦ Considering industry and analysts reports and the impact of macroeconomic factors, such as adverse changes 
in the regulatory environment, legislation or other factors that may represent impairment indicators not 
previously contemplated in management’s analysis. 

◦ Inspecting minutes of the board of directors and committees to understand if there were factors that would 
represent potential impairment indicators for property and equipment. 

◦ Developing an independent expectation of impairment indicators and compared such expectation to 
management’s analysis.  

• We evaluated management’s determination of the property and equipment’s estimated useful life as well as any factors 
impacting the useful life, such as plans to sell and any relevant purchase and sales agreements for assets sold. 

/s/ DELOITTE & TOUCHE LLP 

Denver, Colorado   
February 6, 2025  

We have served as the Company’s auditor since 2016. 
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM  

To the stockholders and the Board of Directors of Liberty Energy Inc. 

Opinion on Internal Control over Financial Reporting 

We have audited the internal control over financial reporting of Liberty Energy Inc. (the “Company”) as of December 31, 2024, 
based on criteria established in Internal Control — Integrated Framework (2013) issued by the Committee of Sponsoring 
Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO). In our opinion, the Company maintained, in all material respects, 
effective internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2024, based on criteria established in Internal Control — 
Integrated Framework (2013) issued by COSO. 

We have also audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States) 
(PCAOB), the consolidated financial statements as of and for the year ended December 31, 2024, of the Company and our 
report dated February 6, 2025, expressed an unqualified opinion on those financial statements. 

Basis for Opinion  

The Company’s management is responsible for maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting and for its 
assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting, included in the accompanying Management's Report 
on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the Company’s internal control 
over financial reporting based on our audit. We are a public accounting firm registered with the PCAOB and are required to be 
independent with respect to the Company in accordance with the U.S. federal securities laws and the applicable rules and 
regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB. 

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the 
audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether effective internal control over financial reporting was maintained in all 
material respects. Our audit included obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial reporting, assessing the risk 
that a material weakness exists, testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control based on the 
assessed risk, and performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our audit 
provides a reasonable basis for our opinion. 

Definition and Limitations of Internal Control over Financial Reporting 

A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the 
reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally 
accepted accounting principles. A company’s internal control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures 
that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and 
dispositions of the assets of the company; (2) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit 
preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and 
expenditures of the company are being made only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the 
company; and (3) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or 
disposition of the company’s assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements. 

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also, 
projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate 
because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate. 

/s/ DELOITTE & TOUCHE LLP 

Denver, Colorado  
February 6, 2025 
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LIBERTY ENERGY INC. 
Consolidated Balance Sheets 

As of December 31, 2024 and 2023 
(Dollars in thousands, except share data) 

 2024  2023 
Assets  

Current assets:    
Cash and cash equivalents $ 19,984   $ 36,784  
Accounts receivable—trade, net of allowances for credit losses of $848 and $939, 
respectively   350,412    381,185  
Accounts receivable—related party  4,234    17,345  
Unbilled revenue (including amounts from related parties of $0 and $13,379, respectively)  185,210    188,940  
Inventories  203,469    205,865  
Prepaid and other current assets  85,214    124,135  

Total current assets  848,523    954,254  
Property and equipment, net  1,890,998    1,645,368  
Finance lease right-of-use assets  283,113    182,319  
Operating lease right-of-use assets  73,322    92,640  
Other assets (including amounts from related parties of $0 and $14,785, respectively)  119,402    127,330  
Investment in Nomad Proppant Services LLC  10,674    11,363  
Investment in Oklo Inc.  51,611    10,000  
Investment in Tamboran Resources Corporation  18,751    10,283  
Total assets $ 3,296,394   $ 3,033,557  

Liabilities and Equity    
Current liabilities:    

Accounts payable (including amounts due to related parties of $582 and $0, respectively) $ 314,123   $ 293,733  
Accrued liabilities  206,713    261,066  
Income taxes payable  9,693    12,060  
Current portion of payable pursuant to tax receivable agreements  40,776    5,170  
Current portion of finance lease liabilities  66,648    39,867  
Current portion of operating lease liabilities  28,570    27,528  

Total current liabilities  666,523    639,424  
Long-term debt  190,500    140,000  
Deferred tax liability  137,728    102,340  
Payable pursuant to tax receivable agreements  74,886    112,471  
Noncurrent portion of finance lease liabilities  203,511    133,654  
Noncurrent portion of operating lease liabilities  44,377    64,260  

Total liabilities  1,317,525    1,192,149  
Commitments & contingencies (Note 15)    
Stockholders’ equity:    

Preferred Stock, $0.01 par value, 10,000 shares authorized and none issued and outstanding  —    —  
Common Stock:    

Class A, $0.01 par value, 400,000,000 shares authorized and 161,858,784 issued and 
outstanding as of December 31, 2024 and 166,610,199 issued and outstanding as of 
December 31, 2023 

 1,619  
 

 1,666  

Class B, $0.01 par value, 400,000,000 shares authorized and none issued and 
outstanding  —    —  

Additional paid in capital  977,484    1,093,498  
Retained earnings  1,019,517    752,328  
Accumulated other comprehensive loss  (19,751)   (6,084) 

Total stockholders’ equity  1,978,869    1,841,408  
Total liabilities and equity $ 3,296,394   $ 3,033,557  

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements. 



        

F-6 

LIBERTY ENERGY INC. 
Consolidated Statements of Operations 

For the Years Ended December 31, 2024, 2023, and 2022  
(In thousands, except per share data) 

 2024  2023  2022 
Revenue:      

Revenue $ 4,183,821   $ 4,533,048   $ 4,000,780  
Revenue—related parties  131,340    214,880    148,448  

Total revenue  4,315,161    4,747,928    4,149,228  
Operating costs and expenses:      

Cost of services (exclusive of depreciation, depletion, and amortization shown 
separately below)  3,200,506    3,349,370    3,149,036  
General and administrative  225,474    221,406    180,040  
Transaction and other costs  —    2,053    5,837  
Depreciation, depletion, and amortization  505,050    421,514    323,028  
Gain on disposal of assets, net  (5,337)   (6,994)   (4,603) 

Total operating costs and expenses  3,925,693    3,987,349    3,653,338  
Operating income  389,468    760,579    495,890  
Other (income) expense:      

Loss (gain) on remeasurement of liability under tax receivable agreements  3,210    (1,817)   76,191  
Unrealized gain on investments, net  (49,227)   —    (2,525) 
Interest income—related party  (478)   (1,987)   —  
Interest expense, net  32,692    29,493    22,715  

Total other (income) expense, net  (13,803)   25,689    96,381  
Net income before income taxes  403,271    734,890    399,509  
Income tax expense (benefit)  87,261    178,482    (793) 
Net income  316,010    556,408    400,302  
Less: Net income attributable to non-controlling interests  —    91    700  
Net income attributable to Liberty Energy Inc. stockholders $ 316,010   $ 556,317   $ 399,602  
      
Net income attributable to Liberty Energy Inc. stockholders per common share:      

Basic $ 1.91   $ 3.24   $ 2.17  
Diluted $ 1.87   $ 3.15   $ 2.11  

Weighted average common shares outstanding:      
Basic  165,026   171,845  184,334 
Diluted  169,398   176,360  189,349 

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements. 
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LIBERTY ENERGY INC. 
Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income 

For the Years Ended December 31, 2024, 2023, and 2022  
(In thousands) 

 2024  2023  2022 
Net income $ 316,010   $ 556,408   $ 400,302  
Other comprehensive (loss) income      

Foreign currency translation adjustments  (13,667)   1,313    (7,097) 
Comprehensive income $ 302,343   $ 557,721   $ 393,205  
Comprehensive income attributable to non-controlling interest  —    92    693  
Comprehensive income attributable to Liberty Energy Inc. $ 302,343   $ 557,629   $ 392,512  

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements. 
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LIBERTY ENERGY INC. 
Consolidated Statements of Changes in Equity 

For the Years Ended December 31, 2024 and 2023  
(In thousands, except per share and per unit data) 

 
Shares of 
Class A 

Common 
Stock  

Shares of 
Class B 

Common 
Stock  

Class A 
Common 
Stock, Par 

Value  
Class B 

Common 
Stock, Par 

Value  
Additional 

Paid in 
Capital  Retained 

Earnings  
Accumulated 

Other 
Comprehensi

ve Loss  Total Equity 
Balance—December 31, 2023  166,610    —   $ 1,666   $ —   $ 1,093,498   $ 752,328   $ (6,084)  $ 1,841,408  
$0.29/share of Class A Common Stock 
dividend  —    —    —    —    —    (48,821)   —    (48,821) 
Share repurchases  (6,321)   —    (63)   —    (127,332)   —    —    (127,395) 
Excise tax on share repurchases  —    —    —    —    (924)   —    —    (924) 
Stock-based compensation expense  —    —    —    —    32,412    —    —    32,412  
Vesting of restricted stock units, net  1,570    —    16    —    (20,170)   —    —    (20,154) 
Currency translation adjustment  —    —    —    —    —    —    (13,667)   (13,667) 
Net income  —    —    —    —    —    316,010    —    316,010  
Balance—December 31, 2024  161,859    —   $ 1,619   $ —   $ 977,484   $ 1,019,517   $ (19,751)  $ 1,978,869  
                

 

 
Shares of 
Class A 

Common 
Stock  

Shares of 
Class B 

Common 
Stock  

Class A 
Common 
Stock, Par 

Value  
Class B 

Common 
Stock, Par 

Value  
Additional 

Paid in 
Capital  

(Accumulate
d Deficit) 
Retained 
Earnings  

Accumulated 
Other 

Comprehensi
ve Loss  

Total 
Stockholders’ 

equity  
Non-

controlling 
Interest  Total Equity 

Balance - December 31, 2022  178,753    250   $ 1,788   $ 3   $ 1,266,097   $ 234,525   $ (7,396)  $ 1,495,017   $ 2,289   $ 1,497,306  
Exchange of Class B Common Stock for 
Class A Common Stock  250    (250)   3    (3)   2,360    —    —    2,360    (2,360)   —  
Offering Costs  —    —    —    —    (223)   —    —    (223)   —    (223) 
Deferred tax and tax receivable 
agreements impact of Liberty LLC 
merger into the Company  —    —    —    —    6,681    —    —    6,681    —    6,681  
$0.22/share of Class A Common Stock 
dividend  —    —    —    —    —    (38,514)   —    (38,514)   —    (38,514) 
Share repurchases  (13,706)   —    (137)   —    (202,940)   —    —    (203,077)   (23)   (203,100) 
Excise tax on share repurchases  —    —    —    —    (1,855)   —    —    (1,855)   —    (1,855) 
Stock-based compensation expense  —    —    —    —    33,023    —    —    33,023    3    33,026  
Vesting of restricted stock units, net  1,313    —    12    —    (9,645)   —    —    (9,633)   (1)   (9,634) 
Currency translation adjustment  —    —    —    —    —    —    1,312    1,312    1    1,313  
Net income  —    —    —    —    —    556,317    —    556,317    91    556,408  
Balance - December 31, 2023  166,610    —   $ 1,666   $ —   $ 1,093,498   $ 752,328   $ (6,084)  $ 1,841,408   $ —   $ 1,841,408  

 
See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements. 
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LIBERTY ENERGY INC. 
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows 

For the Years Ended December 31, 2024, 2023, and 2022  
(Dollars in thousands) 

 2024  2023  2022 
Cash flows from operating activities:      

Net income $ 316,010   $ 556,408   $ 400,302  
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by operating activities:      

Depreciation, depletion, and amortization  505,050    421,514    323,028  
Gain on disposal of assets, net  (5,337)   (6,994)   (4,603) 
Stock-based compensation expense  32,412    33,026    23,108  
Deferred income tax expense (benefit)  33,844    120,312    (12,472) 
Unrealized gain on investments, net  (49,227)   —    (2,525) 
Cash return on equity method investment  3,967    —    —  
Loss (gain) on remeasurement of liability under tax receivable agreements   3,210    (1,817)   76,191  
Other non-cash items, net  178    7,111    7,986  
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:      

Accounts receivable and unbilled revenue  18,187    19,612    (166,605) 
Accounts receivable and unbilled revenue—related party  41,275    (19,855)   (25,522) 
Inventories  66    (114)   (84,989) 
Prepaid and other assets  (28,196)   (66,182)   (56,161) 
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities  (41,319)   (45,133)   57,203  
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities—related party  582    —    (1,864) 

Initial payment of operating lease liability  (1,328)   (3,305)   (2,713) 
Net cash provided by operating activities  829,374    1,014,583    530,364  

Cash flows from investing activities:      
Purchases of property and equipment and construction in-progress  (651,034)   (603,298)   (451,905) 
Investment in sand logistics  —    —    (7,415) 
Investment in equity securities  (16,056)   (20,283)   (15,000) 
Acquisition of Siren Energy, net of cash received  —    (75,656)   —  
Proceeds from sales of assets  23,977    26,909    23,664  

Net cash used in investing activities  (643,113)   (672,328)   (450,656) 
Cash flows from financing activities:      

Proceeds from borrowings on line-of-credit  2,238,000    1,153,000    713,000  
Repayments of borrowings on line-of-credit (2,187,500)  (1,128,000)   (616,000) 
Repayments of borrowings on term loan  —    (104,716)   (1,750) 
Payments on finance lease obligations  (50,302)   (17,392)   (6,947) 
Class A Common Stock dividends and dividend equivalents upon restricted stock 
vesting  (48,310)   (37,684)   (9,164) 
Per unit distributions to non-controlling interest unitholders  —    —    (13) 
Other distributions and advance payments to non-controlling interest unitholders  —    —    920  
Share repurchases, including related excise tax  (129,250)   (203,100)   (125,313) 
Tax withholding on restricted stock units  (20,154)   (9,634)   (9,716) 
Payments under TRA liability  (5,189)   —    —  
Payment of equity issuance costs  —    (223)   (79) 
Payments of debt issuance costs  —    (1,566)   (708) 

Net cash used in financing activities  (202,705)   (349,315)   (55,770) 
Net (decrease) increase in cash and cash equivalents  (16,444)   (7,060)   23,938  
Translation effect on cash  (356)   168    (260) 
Cash and cash equivalents—beginning of period  36,784    43,676    19,998  
Cash and cash equivalents—end of period $ 19,984   $ 36,784   $ 43,676  
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LIBERTY ENERGY INC. 
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows (cont.) 

For the Years Ended December 31, 2024, 2023, and 2022  
(Dollars in thousands) 

 2024  2023  2022 
Supplemental disclosure of cash flow information:      
Net cash paid for income taxes $ 35,857   $ 66,685   $ 10,744  
Cash paid for interest $ 33,077   $ 26,651   $ 20,310  
Non-cash investing and financing activities:      

Capital expenditures included in accounts payable and accrued liabilities $ 102,203   $ 99,165   $ 107,514  
Capital expenditures reclassified from prepaid and other current assets $ 58,288   $ 50,313   $ 14,922  
Capital expenditures reclassified from finance lease right-of-use assets $ 6,894   $ —   $ —  

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements. 
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Note 1—Organization and Basis of Presentation 

Organization 

Liberty Energy Inc., formerly known as Liberty Oilfield Services Inc. (the “Company”), was incorporated as a Delaware 
corporation on December 21, 2016, to become a holding corporation for Liberty Oilfield Services New HoldCo LLC (“Liberty 
LLC”) and its subsidiaries upon completion of a corporate reorganization (the “Corporate Reorganization”) and planned initial 
public offering of the Company (“IPO”). On April 19, 2022, the stockholders of the Company approved an amendment to the 
Company’s Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation for the purpose of changing the Company’s name from “Liberty 
Oilfield Services Inc.” to “Liberty Energy Inc.” and thereafter, the Company filed with the Secretary of State of the State of 
Delaware a Certificate of Amendment to the Company’s Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation to reflect the new 
name, effective April 25, 2022.  

Effective January 31, 2023, Liberty LLC was merged into the Company, with the Company surviving the merger (the 
“Merger”). In connection with the Merger, all outstanding shares of the Company’s Class B Common Stock, par value $0.01 
per share (the “Class B Common Stock”), were redeemed and exchanged for an equal number of shares of the Company’s Class 
A Common Stock, par value $0.01 per share (the “Class A Common Stock”). The Company did not make any distributions or 
receive any proceeds in connection with this exchange. The Merger did not have a significant impact on the Company’s 
consolidated financial statements. 

The Company, together with its subsidiaries, is a leading integrated energy services and technology company focused on 
providing innovative hydraulic fracturing services and related technologies to onshore oil and natural gas exploration and 
production (“E&P”) companies. We offer customers hydraulic fracturing services, together with complementary services 
including wireline services, proppant delivery solutions, field gas processing, compressed natural gas (“CNG”) delivery, data 
analytics, related goods (including our sand mine operations), and technologies to facilitate lower emission completions, 
thereby helping our customers reduce their emissions profile. 

Basis of Presentation 

The accompanying consolidated financial statements were prepared using generally accepted accounting principles in the 
United States of America (“GAAP”) and the instructions to Form 10-K, Regulation S-X and the rules and regulations of the 
Securities and Exchange Commission.  

The accompanying consolidated financial statements and related notes present the consolidated financial position of the 
Company and equity of the Company as of and for the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023, and the results of operations 
and cash flows of the Company for the years ended December 31, 2024, 2023, and 2022. 

The consolidated financial statements include the amounts of the Company and all majority owned subsidiaries where the 
Company has the ability to exercise control. All intercompany amounts have been eliminated in the presentation of the 
consolidated financial statements of the Company. 

Our chief operating decision maker (“CODM”), the Chief Executive Officer, manages the Company’s business activities 
as a single operating and reportable segment at the consolidated level. Accordingly, our CODM uses consolidated net income to 
measure segment profit or loss, allocate resources, and assess performance. Further, the CODM is regularly provided with and 
utilizes consolidated functional expenses, as presented in the accompanying consolidated statements of operations, and total 
assets at the consolidated level, as included in the consolidated balance sheets herein, to manage the Company’s operations. 
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Note 2—Significant Accounting Policies 

Business Combinations 

Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition method of accounting in accordance with the Accounting 
Standard Codification (“ASC”) Topic 805 - Business Combinations, as amended by Accounting Standards Update (“ASU”) 
2017-01, Business Combinations (Topic 805), Clarifying the Definition of a Business, and ASU No. 2021-08, Business 
Combinations: Accounting for Contract Assets and Contract Liabilities from Contracts with Customers. The purchase price is 
allocated to the assets acquired and liabilities assumed based on their estimated fair values. Fair value of the acquired assets and 
liabilities is measured in accordance with the guidance of ASC 850, Fair Value Measurements, using discounted cash flows and 
other applicable valuation techniques. Any acquisition related costs incurred by the Company are expensed as incurred. Any 
excess purchase price over the fair value of the net identifiable assets acquired is recorded as goodwill if the definition of a 
business is met. Operating results of an acquired business are included in our results of operations from the date of acquisition. 
Refer to Note 3—Acquisitions. 

Use of Estimates  

The preparation of consolidated financial statements in conformity with GAAP requires management to make estimates 
and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosures of contingent assets and liabilities at 
the date of the consolidated financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting 
period. Actual results could differ from those estimates. 

The consolidated financial statements include certain amounts that are based on management’s best estimates and 
judgments. The most significant estimates relate to the fair value of assets acquired and liabilities assumed, collectability of 
accounts receivable and estimates of allowance for doubtful accounts, the useful lives and salvage values of long-lived assets, 
future cash flows associated with long-lived assets, net realizable value of inventory, equity unit valuation, deferred taxes, and 
the tax receivable agreements value. These estimates may be adjusted as more current information becomes available. 

Cash and Cash Equivalents 

The Company considers all highly liquid instruments purchased with an original maturity of three months or less to be 
cash equivalents. The Company continually monitors its positions with, and the credit quality of, the financial institutions with 
which it has banking relationships. As of the balance sheet date, and periodically throughout the year, the Company has 
maintained balances in various operating accounts in excess of federally insured limits. 

Accounts Receivable 

In accordance with Accounting Standards Updates ASU 2016-13, Financial Instruments-Credit Losses (Topic 326): 
Measurement of Credit Losses on Financial Instruments (“ASU 2016-13”), the Company applies historic loss factors to its 
receivable portfolio segments that were not expected to be further impacted by current economic developments, and additional 
economic conditions factor to portfolio segments anticipated to experience greater losses in the current economic environment. 
Additionally, the Company continuously evaluates customers based on risk characteristics, such as historical losses and current 
economic conditions. Due to the cyclical nature of the oil and gas industry, the Company often evaluates its customers’ 
estimated losses on a case-by-case basis. The Company did not record an additional provision for credit losses during the year 
ended December 31, 2024 and 2022. During the year ended December 31, 2023, the Company recorded a provision for credit 
losses of $0.8 million, related to certain customers’ inability to pay.  Provisions for credit losses are included in general and 
administrative expenses in the accompanying consolidated statements of operations. Refer to “Credit Risk” within Note 9—Fair 
Value Measurements and Financial Instruments for additional disclosures required under ASU 2016-13. 

Inventories 

Inventories consist of raw materials used in the hydraulic fracturing process, such as proppants, chemicals, and field 
service equipment maintenance parts and other and are stated at the lower of cost, determined using the weighted average cost 
method, or net realizable value. Inventories are charged to cost of services as used when providing hydraulic fracturing 
services. Net realizable value is the estimated selling prices in the ordinary course of business, less reasonably predictable cost 
of completion, disposal, and transportation. 

Property and Equipment  

Property and equipment are stated at cost. Depreciation expense is recognized on property and equipment, excluding land, 
utilizing the straight-line method over the estimated useful lives, ranging from two to 30 years. The Company estimates salvage 
values that it does not depreciate. 
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Construction in-progress, a component of property and equipment, represents long-lived assets not yet in service or being 
developed by the Company. These assets are not subject to depreciation until they are completed and ready for their intended 
use, at which point the Company reclassifies them to field services equipment, vehicles, or buildings and facilities, as 
appropriate. 

The Company incurs maintenance costs on its major equipment. The determination of whether an expenditure should be 
capitalized or expensed requires management judgment in the application of how the costs incurred benefit future periods, 
relative to the Company’s capitalization policy. Costs that either establish or increase the efficiency, productivity, functionality 
or life of a fixed asset are capitalized and depreciated over the remaining useful life of the asset. 

Impairment of long-lived assets 

Long-lived assets, such as property and equipment, right-of-use lease assets and intangible assets, are evaluated for 
impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that their carrying value may not be recoverable. Possible 
indicators of impairment may include events or changes in circumstances affecting the manner in which the assets are being 
used, historical and estimated future profitability measures, and other adverse events or changes that could affect the value of 
the assets. If a triggering event is identified, recoverability is assessed using undiscounted future net cash flows of assets 
grouped at the lowest level for which there are identifiable cash flows independent of the cash flows of other groups of assets. 
The Company determined the lowest level of identifiable cash flows to be at the asset group, which is the aggregate of the 
Company’s hydraulic fracturing fleets that are in service. A long-lived asset is not recoverable if its carrying amount exceeds 
the sum of estimated undiscounted cash flows expected to result from the use and eventual disposition. When alternative 
courses of action to recover the carrying amount of the asset group are under consideration, estimates of future undiscounted 
cash flows take into account possible outcomes and probabilities of their occurrence. If the carrying amount of the asset is not 
recoverable, an impairment loss is recognized in an amount by which its carrying amount exceeds its estimated fair value, such 
that its carrying amount is adjusted to its estimated fair value, with an offsetting charge to impairment expense. 

The Company measures the fair value of its long-lived assets using the discounted cash flow method. The expected future 
cash flows used for impairment reviews and related fair value calculations are based on judgmental assessments of projected 
revenue growth, fleet count, utilization, gross margin rates, selling, general and administrative rates, working capital 
fluctuations, capital expenditures, discount rates and terminal growth rates. 

Goodwill 

Goodwill represents the excess of the acquisition purchase price over the estimated fair value of net tangible and 
intangible assets required. Goodwill is not amortized, but instead tested for impairment at least annually, June 30, or more 
frequently if events and circumstances indicate that the asset might be impaired. In testing goodwill for impairment, the 
Company performs a qualitative assessment to determine whether the existence of events or circumstances indicate that it is 
more likely than not that the fair value of a reporting unit is less than its carrying amount. If the qualitative assessment 
determines that an impairment is more likely than not, then the Company performs the one-step quantitative impairment test by 
determining the fair value of the reporting unit. The fair value of the reporting unit is determined using either the income 
approach by utilizing estimated discounted future cash flows or the market approach utilizing recent transaction activity for 
comparable properties. These approaches are considered Level 3 fair value measurements. If the carrying amount of a reporting 
unit exceeds the fair value, an impairment loss is recognized in the current period in an amount equal to the excess.  

For purposes of assessing goodwill, the Company has one reporting unit. No goodwill impairment was identified during 
the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023. 

Leases 

In accordance with ASC Topic 842, the Company determines if an arrangement is a lease at inception and evaluates 
identified leases for operating or finance lease treatment. Operating or finance lease right-of-use assets and liabilities are 
recognized at the commencement date based on the present value of lease payments over the lease term. The Company uses the 
rate implicit in the lease, when available, or an estimated fully collateralized incremental borrowing rate corresponding with the 
lease term and the information available at the commencement date in determining the present value of lease payments. Lease 
terms may include options to renew, however, the Company typically cannot determine its intent to renew a lease with 
reasonable certainty at inception. 

Additionally, the Company is a lessor in several operating leases in which the lease equipment is carried at amortized cost. 
Depreciation expense is recorded on a straight-line basis over its useful life to the estimated residual value. The lessee may not 
purchase the leased equipment and must return such equipment by the lease’s scheduled maturity date.  

Equity Investments 
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The Company may from time to time invest in equity securities of public and private companies. Equity investments are 
measured and recorded as follows: 

Marketable equity investments are equity investments with a readily determinable fair value and are recorded at fair value 
on a recurring basis with changes in fair value, whether realized or unrealized, recorded through the income statement. 
Unrealized gains and losses resulting from changes in fair value are recorded in unrealized gain on investments, net.  

Equity method investments are equity securities in investees we do not control, but over which we have the ability to 
exercise significant influence. Equity method investments are measured at cost minus impairment, if any, plus or minus the 
Company’s share of equity method investee income or loss, less distributions received as return on investment. 

The Company’s share of equity method investee income or loss is recorded as a component of cost of services as the 
investee is a supplier of the Company, refer to Note 14—Related Party Transactions Nomad Proppant Services LLC for further 
discussion of the Company’s equity method investment. Equity method investments are monitored for other-than-temporary 
decreases in investment value, which considers the severity and duration of a potential decline in fair value below cost and our 
ability and intent to hold the investment for a sufficient period of time to allow for recovery. 

Income Taxes 

Deferred income taxes are computed using the asset and liability method, which requires the recognition of deferred tax 
assets and liabilities for the expected future tax consequences of events that have been included in the consolidated financial 
statements. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured using the enacted tax rates in effect for the year in which the 
deferred tax asset or liability are expected to reverse. The Company classifies all deferred tax assets and liabilities as non-
current. The Company records Global Intangible Low-Tax Income inclusion as a current period expense. 

The Company evaluates its deferred tax assets quarterly and considers both positive and negative evidence in applying the 
guidance of ASC 740 Income Taxes (“ASC 740”) related to the realizability of its deferred tax assets. As of December 31, 2024 
and 2023 there were no valuation allowances recorded against the Company’s deferred tax assets. 

The Company recognizes the financial statement effects of a tax position when it is more-likely-than-not, based on the 
technical merits, that the position will be sustained upon examination. A tax position that meets the more-likely-than-not 
recognition threshold is measured as the largest amount of tax benefit that is greater than 50% likely of being realized upon 
ultimate settlement with a taxing authority. Previously recognized tax positions are reversed in the first period in which it is no 
longer more-likely-than-not that the tax position would be sustained upon examination. Income tax related interest and 
penalties, if applicable, are recorded as a component of the provision for income tax expense.  

Tax Receivable Agreements 

In connection with the IPO, on January 17, 2018, the Company entered into two Tax Receivable Agreements (the 
“TRAs”) with the R/C Energy IV Direct Partnership, L.P. and certain legacy owners that continued to own Liberty LLC Units 
(each such person and any permitted transferee, a “Tax Receivable Agreement Holder” and together, the “Tax Receivable 
Agreement Holders”). The TRAs generally provide for the payment by the Company of 85% of the net cash savings, if any, in 
U.S. federal, state, and local income tax and franchise tax (computed using simplifying assumptions to address the impact of 
state and local taxes) that the Company actually realizes (or is deemed to realize in certain circumstances) in periods after the 
IPO as a result, as applicable to each Tax Receivable Agreement Holder, of (i) certain increases in tax basis that occur as a 
result of the Company’s acquisition (or deemed acquisition for U.S. federal income tax purposes) of all or a portion of such Tax 
Receivable Agreement Holder’s Liberty LLC Units in connection with the IPO or pursuant to the exercise of the right (the 
“Redemption Right”) or the Company’s right (the “Call Right”), (ii) any net operating losses available to the Company as a 
result of the Corporate Reorganization, and (iii) imputed interest deemed to be paid by the Company as a result of, and 
additional tax basis arising from, any payments the Company makes under the TRAs. 

With respect to obligations the Company expects to incur under the TRAs (except in cases where the Company elects to 
terminate the TRAs early, the TRAs are terminated early due to certain mergers, asset sales, or other changes of control or the 
Company has available cash but fails to make payments when due), generally the Company may elect to defer payments due 
under the TRAs if the Company does not have available cash to satisfy its payment obligations under the TRAs or if its 
contractual obligations limit its ability to make such payments. Any such deferred payments under the TRAs generally will 
accrue interest. In certain cases, payments under the TRAs may be accelerated and/or significantly exceed the actual benefits, if 
any, the Company realizes in respect of the tax attributes subject to the TRAs. The Company accounts for amounts payable 
under the TRAs in accordance with ASC Topic 450, Contingencies. 

If the Company experiences a change of control (as defined under the TRAs) or the TRAs otherwise terminate early, the 
Company’s obligations under the TRAs could have a substantial negative impact on its liquidity and could have the effect of 
delaying, deferring or preventing certain mergers, asset sales, or other forms of business combinations or changes of control.  
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Share Repurchases 

 The Company accounts for the purchase price of repurchased Class A Common Stock in excess of par value ($0.01 per 
share of Class A Common Stock) as a reduction of additional paid-in capital, and will continue to do so until additional paid-in 
capital is reduced to zero. Thereafter, any excess purchase price will be recorded as a reduction to retained earnings. All Class A 
Common Stock shares repurchased to date have been retired upon repurchase. 

Revenue Recognition 

Under ASC Topic 606-Revenue from Contracts with Customers, revenue recognition is based on the transfer of control, or 
the customer’s ability to benefit from the services and products in an amount that reflects the consideration expected to be 
received in exchange for those services and products. In recognizing revenue for services and products, the transaction price is 
determined from sales orders or contracts with customers. Revenue is recognized at the completion of each fracturing stage, and 
in most cases the price at the end of each stage is fixed, however, in limited circumstances contracts may contain variable 
consideration. 

Variable consideration typically may relate to discounts, price concessions and incentives. The Company estimates 
variable consideration based on the amount of consideration we expect to receive. The Company accrues revenue on an 
ongoing basis to reflect updated information for variable consideration as performance obligations are met. 

The Company also assesses customers’ ability and intention to pay, which is based on a variety of factors including 
historical payment experience and financial condition. Payment terms and conditions vary by contract type, although terms 
generally include a requirement of payment within 30 to 45 days. 

In connection with the adoption of ASC Topic 842, the Company determined that certain of its service revenue contracts 
contain a lease component. The Company elected to adopt a practical expedient available to lessors, which allows the Company 
to combine the lease and non-lease components and account for the combined component in accordance with the accounting 
treatment for the predominant component. Therefore, the Company combines the lease and service component for certain of the 
Company’s service contracts and continues to account for the combined component under ASC Topic 606, Revenue from 
Contracts with Customers. 

Transaction and Other Costs 

During 2024, the Company did not incur transaction and integration related costs. 

During 2023, the Company incurred transaction and integration related costs in connection with the Siren Acquisition (as 
defined in Note 3—Acquisitions). Such costs include investment banking, legal, accounting and other professional services 
provided in connection with closing the transaction and are expensed as incurred.  

During 2022, the Company incurred transaction and integration related costs in connection with a prior period acquisition. 
Such costs include investment banking, legal, accounting and other professional services provided in connection with closing 
the transaction and are expensed as incurred.  

Foreign Currency Translation 

The Company records foreign currency translation adjustments from the process of translating the functional currency of 
the financial statements of its foreign subsidiaries into the U.S. dollar reporting currency. The Canadian dollar and the 
Australian dollar are the functional currencies of the Company’s foreign subsidiaries as they are the primary currencies within 
the economic environment in which the subsidiaries operates. Assets and liabilities of the subsidiary’s operations are translated 
into U.S. dollars at the rate of exchange in effect on the balance sheet date and income and expenses are translated at the 
average exchange rate in effect during the reporting period. Adjustments resulting from the translation of the subsidiary’s 
financial statements are reported in other comprehensive income. 

Recently Adopted Accounting Standards 

Segment Reporting: Improvements to Reportable Segment Disclosures 

In November 2023, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) issued Accounting Standards Update (“ASU”) 
No. 2023-07, Segment Reporting: Improvements to Reportable Segment Disclosures, which requires more detailed disclosures, 
on an annual and interim basis, related to the Company’s reportable segment. The guidance is effective for annual periods 
beginning after December 15, 2023, and interim periods within fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2024. The Company 
adopted this guidance during the most recent quarter. See Note 1—Organization and Basis of Presentation for further detail. 

Recently Issued Accounting Standards 

Income Taxes: Improvements to Income Tax Disclosures 
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In December 2023, the FASB issued ASU No. 2023-09, Income Taxes: Improvements to Income Tax Disclosures, which 
requires disaggregation of certain components included in the Company’s effective tax rate and income taxes paid disclosures. 
The guidance is effective for annual periods beginning after December 15, 2024. The Company is currently assessing the 
impact of this ASU on the Company’s financial statements but does not expect it will have a material impact. 

Income Statement - Reporting Comprehensive Income - Expense Disaggregation Disclosures: Disaggregation of Income 
Statement Expenses 

In November 2024, the FASB issued ASU No. 2024-03, Income Statement - Reporting Comprehensive Income - Expense 
Disaggregation Disclosures: Disaggregation of Income Statement Expenses, which requires disclosure of specified information 
about certain costs and expenses. The guidance is effective for annual periods beginning after December 15, 2026 and interim 
periods beginning after December 15, 2027. The Company is currently assessing the impact of this ASU on the Company’s 
financial statements. 

Reclassifications 

Certain amounts in the prior period financial statements have been reclassified to conform to current period financial 
statement presentation. Amounts in the prior period financial statements have been reclassified from “Tax withheld on vesting 
of restricted stock units” into “Vesting of restricted stock units, net” in the accompanying consolidated statements of changes in 
equity.  

In the accompanying consolidated balance sheets, amounts in the prior period financial statements have been reclassified 
from “Other assets” into “Investment in Nomad Proppant Services LLC,” “Investment in Oklo Inc.,” and “Investment in 
Tamboran Resources Corporation”. 

Additionally, in the accompanying consolidated statement of cash flows, amounts in the prior period financial statements 
have been reclassified from “Other non-cash items, net” into “Unrealized gain on investments, net”. 

These reclassifications had no effect on the previously reported net income. 

Note 3—Acquisitions 

Siren Acquisition 

On April 6, 2023, the Company completed the acquisition of a Permian focused integrated natural gas compression and 
compressed natural gas delivery business, Siren Energy & Logistics, LLC, for cash consideration of $75.7 million, after post 
closing adjustments and net of cash received (the “Siren Acquisition”). The Siren Acquisition was accounted for under the 
acquisition method of accounting for business combinations. Accordingly, the Company conducted assessments of the net 
assets acquired and recognized amounts for identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed at their estimated acquisition 
date fair values, while transaction and integration costs associated with the acquisition were expensed as incurred. In connection 
with the Siren Acquisition, the Company recorded goodwill of $42.0 million, property and equipment of $34.9 million, net 
working capital of $2.5 million, deferred revenue of $5.2 million, and other assets of $1.8 million. Goodwill is recorded in other 
assets in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets. Due to the immateriality of the Siren Acquisition, the related revenue 
and earnings, supplemental pro forma financial information, and detailed purchase price allocation are not disclosed. 

In accordance with ASC Topic 805, an acquirer is allowed a period, referred to as the measurement period, in which to 
complete its accounting for the transaction. Such measurement period ends at the earliest date that the acquirer a) receives the 
information necessary or b) determines that it cannot obtain further information, and such period may not exceed one year. As 
the Siren Acquisition closed on April 6, 2023, the Company completed the purchase price allocation during the year ended 
December 31, 2023. 
 

Note 4—Inventories 

Inventories consist of the following: 
 December 31, 
($ in thousands) 2024  2023 
Proppants $ 9,341   $ 17,124  
Chemicals  18,629    16,896  
Maintenance parts and other  175,499    171,845  
 $ 203,469   $ 205,865  
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During the years ended December 31, 2024, 2023, and 2022, the lower of cost or net realizable value analysis resulted in 
the Company recording write-downs to the inventory carrying value of $1.0 million, $5.8 million, and $1.7 million, 
respectively. All are included as a component in cost of services in the consolidated statements of operations.  

Note 5—Property and Equipment  

Property and equipment consist of the following: 

 Estimated 
useful lives 
(in years) 

 December 31, 
  2024  2023 
($ in thousands)      
Land N/A  $ 30,041   $ 29,384  
Field services equipment 2-10   3,068,681    2,520,336  
Vehicles 4-7   61,433    63,423  
Lease equipment 10   163,889    138,781  
Buildings and facilities 5-30   180,010    149,876  
Mineral reserves >25   80,070    76,823  
Office equipment and furniture 2-7   12,532    11,836  
    3,596,656    2,990,459  
Less accumulated depreciation and depletion    (1,917,551)   (1,501,685) 
    1,679,105    1,488,774  
Construction in-progress N/A   211,893    156,594  
Property and equipment, net   $ 1,890,998   $ 1,645,368  

Depreciation expense for the years ended December 31, 2024, 2023, and 2022 was $448.1 million, $387.8 million, and 
$302.3 million, respectively. Depletion expense for the years ended December 31, 2024, 2023, and 2022 was $1.2 million, $1.1 
million, and $1.2 million, respectively. 

As of December 31, 2024 and December 31, 2023, the Company concluded that no triggering events that could indicate 
possible impairment of property and equipment had occurred, other than related to the assets held for sale discussed below. 

As of December 31, 2024, the Company had no property that met the assets held for sale criteria. 

However, as of December 31, 2023, the Company classified $0.7 million of land and $0.8 million of buildings, net of 
accumulated depreciation, of one property as held for sale. 

During the year ended December 31, 2024, the Company sold two properties, including the property that was classified as 
held for sale as of December 31, 2023, resulting in a nominal gain included as a component of gain on disposal of assets, net in 
the accompanying consolidated statements of operations. 

Note 6—Leases 

Lessee Arrangements 

The Company has operating and finance leases primarily for vehicles, equipment, railcars, office space, and facilities. The 
terms and conditions for these leases vary by the type of underlying asset. 

Certain leases include variable lease payments for items such as property taxes, insurance, maintenance, and other 
operating expenses associated with leased assets. Payments that vary based on an index or rate are included in the measurement 
of lease assets and liabilities at the rate as of the commencement date. All other variable lease payments are excluded from the 
measurement of lease assets and liabilities, and are recognized in the period in which the obligation for those payments is 
incurred. 

The components of lease expense for the years ended as of December 31, 2024, and 2023 were as follows: 
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($ in thousands)  2024  2023 
Finance lease cost:     
  Amortization of right-of-use assets  $ 43,364   $ 19,040  

Interest on lease liabilities   16,972    6,060  
Operating lease cost   35,861    40,275  
Variable lease cost   6,392    5,116  
Short-term lease cost   3,422    7,717  
Total lease cost, net  $ 106,011   $ 78,208  

Supplemental cash flow and other information related to leases for the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023 were as 
follows: 
($ in thousands) 2024  2023 
Cash paid for amounts included in measurement of liabilities:    

Operating leases $ 35,653  $ 41,143  
Finance leases  67,181   23,463  

Right-of-use assets obtained in exchange for new lease liabilities:    
Operating leases  14,581   31,449  
Finance leases  149,005   160,546  

During the year ended December 31, 2024, the Company amended certain operating leases, the change in terms of which 
caused the leases to be reclassified as finance leases. Additionally, the Company recognized finance lease right-of-use assets of 
$4.4 million and liabilities of $4.3 million. There was no gain or loss recognized as a result of these amendments. During the 
year ended December 31, 2023, the Company did not amend any operating or finance leases. 

Lease terms and discount rates as of December 31, 2024 and 2023 were as follows: 

  
December 31, 

2024  
December 31, 

2023 
Weighted-average remaining lease term:     

Operating leases  3.8 years  4.3 years 
Finance leases  3.2 years  3.3 years 

Weighted-average discount rate:     
Operating leases  6.7 %  6.0 % 
Finance leases  7.4 %  8.0 % 

 

Future minimum lease commitments as of December 31, 2024 are as follows: 
($ in thousands)  Finance  Operating 
2025  $ 87,476   $ 31,771  
2026   85,503    21,496  
2027   55,016    11,932  
2028   60,381    3,935  
2029   21,625    2,795  
Thereafter   —    9,874  

Total lease payments   310,001    81,803  
Less imputed interest   39,842    8,856  

Total  $ 270,159   $ 72,947  

The Company’s vehicle leases typically include a residual value guarantee. For the Company’s vehicle leases classified as 
operating leases, the total residual value guaranteed as of December 31, 2024 is $11.6 million; the payment is not probable and 
therefore has not been included in the measurement of the lease liability and right-of-use asset. For vehicle leases that are 
classified as finance leases, the Company includes the residual value guarantee, estimated in the lease agreement, in the 
financing lease liability. 
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Lessor Arrangements 

The Company leases dry and wet sand containers, conveyor belts, and other equipment to customers through operating 
leases, where the lessor for tax purposes is considered to be the owner of the equipment during the term of the lease. The lease 
agreements do not include options for the lessee to purchase the underlying asset at the end of the lease term for either a stated 
fixed price or fair market value. However, some of the leases contain a termination clause in which the customer can cancel the 
contract. The leases can be subject to variable lease payments if the customer requests more units than what is agreed upon in 
the lease. The Company does not record any lease assets or liabilities related to these variable items. 

The carrying amount of equipment leased to others, included in property, plant and equipment, under operating leases as 
of December 31, 2024 and 2023 were as follows: 

($ in thousands)  December 31, 2024  December 31, 2023 
Equipment leased to others - at original cost  $ 163,889   $ 138,781  
Less: Accumulated depreciation   (41,223)   (25,819) 
Equipment leased to others - net  $ 122,666   $ 112,962  

Future payments receivable for operating leases as of December 31, 2024 are as follows: 

($ in thousands)   
2025  $ 5,412  
2026   2,239  
2027   —  
2028   —  
2029   —  
Thereafter   —  
Total  $ 7,651  

Revenues from operating leases for the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023 were $39.0 million and $36.6 million, 
respectively. 

Note 7—Accrued Liabilities 

Accrued liabilities consist of the following: 
($ in thousands)  December 31, 2024  December 31, 2023 
Accrued vendor invoices  $ 73,591   $ 99,620  
Operations accruals   56,375    61,150  
Accrued benefits and other   76,747    100,296  
  $ 206,713   $ 261,066  

 

Note 8—Debt 

Debt consists of the following: 
($ in thousands) December 31, 2024  December 31, 2023 
Revolving Line of Credit $ 190,500   $ 140,000  

On September 19, 2017, the Company entered into two credit agreements, (i) a revolving line of credit up to $250.0 
million, subsequently increased to $525.0 million, see below, (the “ABL Facility”) and (ii) a $175.0 million term loan (the 
“Term Loan Facility”). 

Effective January 23, 2023, the Company entered into an Eighth Amendment to the ABL Facility (the “Eighth ABL 
Amendment”). The Eighth ABL Amendment amends certain terms, provisions and covenants of the ABL Facility, including, 
among other things: (i) increasing the maximum revolver amount from $425.0 million to $525.0 million (the “Upsized 
Revolver”); (ii) increasing the amount of the accordion feature from $75.0 million to $100.0 million; (iii) extending the 
maturity date from October 22, 2026 to January 23, 2028; (iv) modifying the dollar amounts of various credit facility triggers 
and tests proportionally to the Upsized Revolver; (v) permitting repayment under the Term Loan Facility prior to February 10, 
2023; and (vi) increasing certain indebtedness, intercompany advance, and investment baskets. The Eighth ABL Amendment 
included an agreement from the Wells Fargo Bank, National Association, as administrative agent, to release its second priority 
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liens and security interests on all collateral that served as first priority collateral under the Term Loan Facility, which was 
completed during the three months ended June 30, 2023. 

Additionally, on January 23, 2023, the Company borrowed $106.7 million on the ABL Facility and used the proceeds to 
pay off and terminate the Term Loan Facility. The amount paid included the balance of the Term Loan Facility at pay off of 
$104.7 million, $0.9 million of accrued interest, and a $1.1 million prepayment premium. Additionally, there were $0.2 million 
in administrative and lender legal fees incurred in connection with the pay off. 

The weighted average interest rate on all borrowings outstanding as of December 31, 2024 and December 31, 2023 was 
6.8% and 7.6%, respectively. 

Term Loan Facility 

The Term Loan Facility provided for a $175.0 million term loan. In connection with the Eighth ABL Amendment and 
payoff of the Term Loan Facility, on January 23, 2023, the Company terminated the Term Loan Facility. See above for further 
discussion. 

ABL Facility 

Under the terms of the ABL Facility, up to $525.0 million may be borrowed, subject to certain borrowing base limitations 
based on a percentage of eligible accounts receivable and inventory. As of December 31, 2024, the borrowing base was 
calculated to be $319.8 million, and the Company had $190.5 million outstanding in addition to letters of credit totaling $14.0 
million, with $115.3 million of remaining availability. Borrowings under the ABL Facility bear interest at Secured Overnight 
Financing Rate (“SOFR”) or a base rate, plus an applicable SOFR margin of 1.5% to 2.0% or base rate margin of 0.5% to 1.0%, 
as described in the ABL Facility credit agreement (the “ABL Facility credit agreement”). Additionally, borrowings as of 
December 31, 2024 incurred interest at a weighted average rate of 6.8%. The average monthly unused commitment is subject to 
an unused commitment fee of 0.25% to 0.375%. Interest and fees are payable in arrears at the end of each month, or, in the case 
of SOFR loans, at the end of each interest period. The ABL Facility matures on January 23, 2028. Borrowings under the ABL 
Facility are collateralized by accounts receivable and inventory, and further secured by the Company, as parent guarantor. 

The ABL Facility includes certain non-financial covenants, including but not limited to restrictions on incurring additional 
debt and certain distributions. Moreover, the ability of the Company to incur additional debt and to make distributions is 
dependent on maintaining a maximum leverage ratio. 

The ABL Facility is not subject to financial covenants unless liquidity, as defined in the ABL Facility credit agreement, 
drops below a specific level. The Company is required to maintain a minimum fixed charge coverage ratio, as defined in the 
ABL Facility credit agreement, of 1.0 to 1.0 for each period if excess availability is less than 10% of the borrowing base or 
$52.5 million, whichever is greater. 

The Company was in compliance with these covenants as of December 31, 2024. 

Maturities of debt are as follows: 
($ in thousands)  
Years Ending December 31,  
2025 $ —  
2026  —  
2027  —  
2028  190,500  
Thereafter  —  
 $ 190,500  

 

Note 9—Fair Value Measurements and Financial Instruments 

The fair values of the Company’s assets and liabilities represent the amounts that would be received to sell those assets or 
that would be paid to transfer those liabilities in an orderly transaction on the reporting date. These fair value measurements 
maximize the use of observable inputs. However, in situations where there is little, if any, market activity for the asset or 
liability on the measurement date, the fair value measurement reflects the Company’s own judgments about the assumptions 
that market participants would use in pricing the asset or liability. The Company discloses the fair values of its assets and 
liabilities according to the quality of valuation inputs under the following hierarchy: 

• Level 1 Inputs: Quoted prices (unadjusted) in an active market for identical assets or liabilities. 

• Level 2 Inputs: Inputs other than quoted prices that are directly or indirectly observable. 
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• Level 3 Inputs: Unobservable inputs that are significant to the fair value of assets or liabilities. 

The classification of an asset or liability is based on the lowest level of input significant to its fair value. Those that are 
initially classified as Level 3 are subsequently reported as Level 2 when the fair value derived from unobservable inputs is 
inconsequential to the overall fair value, or if corroborating market data becomes available. Assets and liabilities that are 
initially reported as Level 2 are subsequently reported as Level 3 if corroborating market data is no longer available. Transfers 
occur at the end of the reporting period. There were no transfers into or out of Levels 1, 2, and 3 during the years ended 
December 31, 2024 and 2023. 

The Company’s financial instruments consist of cash and cash equivalents, accounts receivable, notes receivable, 
investments in equity securities, accounts payable, accrued liabilities, long-term debt, and finance and operating lease 
obligations. The carrying values of all of the Company’s financial instruments included in the accompanying consolidated 
balance sheets approximated or equaled their fair values on December 31, 2024 and 2023. 

• The carrying values of cash and cash equivalents, accounts receivable, and accounts payable (including accrued 
liabilities) approximated fair value on December 31, 2024 and 2023, due to their short-term nature. 

• The carrying value of investments in equity securities were measured at fair value on December 31, 2024 based on 
quoted prices in active markets. 

• The carrying value of amounts outstanding under long-term debt agreements with variable rates approximated fair 
value on December 31, 2024 and 2023, as the effective interest rates approximated market rates. 

• The carrying values of amounts outstanding under finance and operating lease obligations approximated fair value on 
December 31, 2024 and 2023, as the effective borrowing rates approximated market rates. 

Nonrecurring Measurements 

Certain assets and liabilities are measured at fair value on a nonrecurring basis. These items are not measured at fair value 
on an ongoing basis but may be subject to fair value adjustments in certain circumstances. These assets and liabilities include 
those acquired through the Siren Acquisition, which are required to be measured at fair value on the acquisition date in 
accordance with ASC Topic 805. See Note 3—Acquisitions. 

During the year ended December 31, 2024, the Company sold two properties classified as held for sale resulting in a 
nominal gain included as a component of gain on disposal of assets, net in the accompanying consolidated statements of 
operations. Therefore, as of December 31, 2024, the Company had no property that met the assets held for sale criteria.  

As of December 31, 2023, the Company recorded $0.7 million of land and $0.8 million of buildings of one property that 
met the held for sale criteria, to assets held for sale at a total fair value of $0.8 million, which are included in prepaid and other 
current assets in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets. The Company estimated the fair value of the property based on 
a communicated selling price for one property, which is a Level 3 input. The Company estimated that the carrying value of the 
assets is equal to the fair value less the estimated costs to sell, net of write-downs taken in the prior period, and therefore no 
gain or loss was recorded during the year ended December 31, 2023. 

Other assets measured at fair value on a nonrecurring basis consisted of notes receivable—related party, which was 
recorded for trade receivables, created in the normal course of business, due from the Affiliate as of the Agreement Date, as 
defined and described in Note 14—Related Party Transactions. These notes were classified as Level 3 in the fair value 
hierarchy as the inputs to the determination of fair value were based upon unobservable inputs. During the year ended 
December 31, 2024, the notes were paid in full and therefore none was outstanding as of December 31, 2024. As of December 
31, 2023, notes receivable—related party from the Affiliate was $14.8 million. 

Recurring Measurements 

The fair values of the Company’s cash equivalents measured on a recurring basis pursuant to ASC 820-10 Fair Value 
Measurements and Disclosures are carried at estimated fair value. Cash equivalents consist of money market accounts which 
the Company has classified as Level 1 given the active market for these accounts. As of December 31, 2024 and 2023, the 
Company had cash equivalents, measured at fair value, of $0.3 million and $0.3 million, respectively. 

The Company holds an investment in Oklo Inc. (“Oklo”) made during the three months ended September 30, 2023. In 
May 2024, Oklo was acquired by a publicly traded special purpose acquisition company which resulted in the conversion of the 
Company’s investment into common shares of Oklo, which are traded on the New York Stock Exchange. The Company 
measures this investment in equity securities at fair value using Level 1 inputs based on quoted prices in an active market. As of 
December 31, 2024, the fair value of the investment was estimated at $51.6 million. The change in Oklo’s fair value resulted in 
an unrealized gain of $41.6 million during the year ended December 31, 2024, included in unrealized gain on investments, net 
in the accompanying consolidated statements of operations. 
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Additionally, during the three months ended December 31, 2023, the Company purchased depository interests 
representing shares of common stock in Tamboran Resources Corporation (“Tamboran”). In June 2024, Tamboran completed an 
initial public offering and listed its common stock on the New York Stock Exchange. In addition to the prior purchase of 
depository interests, the Company participated in Tamboran’s initial public offering by purchasing an additional $10.0 million 
of Tamboran’s common stock. The Company measures this investment in equity securities at fair value using Level 1 inputs 
based on quoted prices in an active market. As of December 31, 2024, the fair value of the investment was estimated at $18.8 
million. The change in Tamboran’s fair value resulted in an unrealized loss of $1.5 million during the year ended December 31, 
2024, included in unrealized gain on investments, net in the accompanying consolidated statements of operations. 

Nonfinancial assets 

The Company estimates fair value to perform impairment tests as required on long-lived assets. The inputs used to 
determine such fair value are primarily based upon internally developed cash flow models and would generally be classified 
within Level 3 in the event that such assets were required to be measured and recorded at fair value within the consolidated 
financial statements. No such measurements were required as of December 31, 2024 and 2023 as no triggering event was 
identified. 

Credit Risk 

The Company’s financial instruments exposed to concentrations of credit risk consist primarily of cash and cash 
equivalents, and trade receivables. 

The Company’s cash and cash equivalents balance on deposit with financial institutions total $20.0 million and $36.8 
million as of December 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively, which exceeded Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation insured limits. 
The Company regularly monitors these institutions’ financial condition. 

The majority of the Company’s customers have payment terms of 45 days or less.  

As of December 31, 2024, Customer A and Customer B accounted for 13.7% and 10.4%, respectively, of total 
consolidated accounts receivable and unbilled revenue. As of December 31, 2023, no customers accounted for 10% of total 
consolidated accounts receivable and unbilled revenue.  During the year ended December 31, 2024, Customer C accounted for 
11.8% of consolidated revenues. During the years ended December 31, 2023, and 2022, no customers accounted for 10% of 
consolidated revenues. 

The Company mitigates the associated credit risk by performing credit evaluations and monitoring the payment patterns 
of its customers. 

As of December 31, 2024, the Company had $0.8 million in allowance for credit losses. As of December 31, 2023 and 
2022, the Company had $0.9 million in allowance for credit losses and recorded a provision in 2023 related to certain 
customers’ expected inability to pay. 

The Company applies historic loss factors to its receivable portfolio segments that are not expected to be further impacted 
by current economic developments, and an additional economic conditions factor to portfolio segments anticipated to 
experience greater losses in the current economic environment. While the Company has not experienced significant credit 
losses in the past and has not seen material changes to the payment patterns of its customers, the Company cannot predict with 
any certainty the degree to which unforeseen events may affect the ability of its customers to timely pay receivables when due. 
Accordingly, in future periods, the Company may revise its estimates of expected credit losses. 
($ in thousands) 2024  2023  2022 
Allowance for credit losses, beginning of year $ 939   $ 884   $ 884  
Credit losses:      

Current period provision  —    808    —  
Amounts written off, net of recoveries  (91)   (753)   —  

Allowance for credit losses, end of year $ 848   $ 939   $ 884  
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Note 10—Equity  

Preferred Stock 

As of December 31, 2024 and 2023, the Company had 10,000 shares of preferred stock authorized, par value $0.01, with 
none issued and outstanding. If issued, each class or series of preferred stock will cover the number of shares and will have the 
powers, preferences, rights, qualifications, limitations and restrictions determined by the Company’s board of directors, which 
may include, among others, dividend rights, liquidation preferences, voting rights, conversion rights, preemptive rights and 
redemption rights. Except as provided by law or in a preferred stock designation, the holders of preferred stock will not be 
entitled to vote at or receive notice of any meeting of shareholders. 

Class A Common Stock 

The Company had a total of 161,858,784 and 166,610,199 shares of Class A Common Stock outstanding as of December 
31, 2024 and 2023, respectively, none of which were restricted. Holders of Class A Common Stock are entitled to one vote per 
share on all matters to be voted upon by the stockholders and are entitled to ratably receive dividends when and if declared by 
the Company’s board of directors. 

Class B Common Stock 

The Company had no shares of Class B Common Stock outstanding as of December 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively. 
Effective January 31, 2023, in connection with the Merger, all outstanding shares of the Class B Common Stock were redeemed 
and exchanged, with no shares remaining outstanding as of December 31, 2024. 

Long Term Incentive Plan  

On January 11, 2018, the Company adopted the Long Term Incentive Plan (“LTIP”) to incentivize employees, officers, 
directors and other service providers of the Company and its affiliates. The LTIP provides for the grant, from time to time, at the 
discretion of the Company’s board of directors or a committee thereof, of stock options, stock appreciation rights, restricted 
stock, restricted stock units, stock awards, dividend equivalents, other stock-based awards, cash awards, substitute awards and 
performance awards. Subject to adjustment in the event of certain transaction or changes of capitalization in accordance with 
the LTIP, 12,908,734 shares of Class A Common Stock were initially reserved for issuance pursuant to awards under the LTIP. 
Effective April 16, 2024, following receipt of stockholder approval, the Company adopted the amended and restated the LTIP, 
which, among other things, increased the total number of shares authorized for issuance under the amended and restated LTIP, 
including shares already issued, to 21,239,244 shares of Class A Common Stock. Class A Common Stock subject to an award 
that expires or is canceled, forfeited, exchanged, settled in cash or otherwise terminated without delivery of shares will again be 
available for delivery pursuant to other awards under the LTIP. 

Restricted Stock Units 

Restricted stock units (“RSUs”) granted pursuant to the LTIP, if they vest, will be settled in shares of the Company’s Class 
A Common Stock. RSUs were granted with vesting terms up to three years. Changes in non-vested RSUs outstanding under the 
LTIP during the year ended December 31, 2024 were as follows: 

 Number of Units  
Weighted Average 
Grant Date Fair 
Value per Unit 

Non-vested as of December 31, 2023  2,985,218   $ 13.90  
Granted  1,519,597    19.46  
Vested  (1,491,085)   13.53  
Forfeited  (75,322)   15.18  

Outstanding at December 31, 2024  2,938,408   $ 16.93  

Performance Restricted Stock Units 

Performance restricted stock units (“PSUs”) granted pursuant to the LTIP, if they vest, will be settled in shares of the 
Company’s Class A Common Stock. PSUs were granted with a three-year cliff vesting and performance period, with the vesting 
percentage of the target award dependent on the satisfaction of the performance goals set forth in the applicable award 
agreement. The Company records compensation expense based on the Company’s best estimate of the number of PSUs that will 
vest at the end of the performance period. If such performance targets are not met, or are not expected to be met, no 
compensation expense is recognized and any recognized compensation expense is reversed. Changes in non-vested PSUs 
outstanding under the LTIP during the year ended December 31, 2024 were as follows: 
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 Number of Units  
Weighted Average 
Grant Date Fair 
Value per Unit 

Non-vested as of December 31, 2023  1,339,568   $ 13.49  
Granted  352,091    17.65  
Vested  (584,720)   12.95  
Forfeited  —    —  

Outstanding at December 31, 2024  1,106,939   $ 15.10  

Stock-based compensation is included in cost of services and general and administrative expenses in the Company’s 
consolidated statements of operations. The Company recognized stock-based compensation expense of $32.4 million, $33.0 
million, and $23.1 million for the years ended December 31, 2024, 2023, and 2022, respectively. There was approximately 
$39.3 million of unrecognized compensation expense relating to outstanding RSUs and PSUs as of December 31, 2024. The 
unrecognized compensation expense will be recognized on a straight-line basis over the weighted average remaining vesting 
period of two years.  

Dividends 

On October 18, 2022, the Company’s Board of Directors (the “Board”) reinstated quarterly dividends after they were 
suspended on April 2, 2020. 

The Company paid cash dividends of $0.07 per share of Class A Common Stock on March 20, 2024, June 20, 2024, and 
September 20, 2024 to stockholders of record as of March 6, 2024, June 6, 2024, and September 6, 2024, respectively. 
Additionally, the Company paid cash dividends of $0.08 per share of Class A Common Stock on December 20, 2024 to 
stockholders of record as of December 6, 2024. During the year ended December 31, 2024, dividend payments totaled $47.7 
million. 

The Company paid cash dividends of $0.05 per share of Class A Common Stock on March 20, 2023, June 20, 2023, and 
September 20, 2023 to stockholders of record as of March 6, 2023, June 6, 2023, and September 6, 2023, respectively. 
Additionally, the Company paid cash dividends of $0.07 per share of Class A Common Stock on December 20, 2023 to 
stockholders of record as of December 6, 2023. During the year ended December 31, 2023, dividend payments totaled $37.5 
million. 

The Company paid cash dividends of $0.05 per share of Class A Common Stock on December 20, 2022 to stockholders of 
record as of December 6, 2022. Liberty LLC paid a distribution of $9.0 million, or $0.05 per Liberty LLC Unit, to all Liberty 
LLC unit holders as of December 6, 2022, $9.0 million of which was paid to the Company. The Company used the proceeds of 
the distribution to pay the dividend to all holders of shares of Class A Common Stock as of December 6, 2022, which totaled 
$9.0 million. 

Additionally, the Company paid an accrued dividend equivalent upon vesting for the RSUs and PSUs with a 2024 vesting 
date, which totaled $0.7 million and $0.2 million for the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively. As of 
December 31, 2024 and 2023, the Company had $1.5 million and $1.0 million of dividend equivalents payable related to RSUs 
and PSUs to be paid upon vesting, respectively. Dividend equivalents related to forfeited RSUs or PSUs will be forfeited. 

Share Repurchase Program 

On July 25, 2022, the Company’s board of directors authorized and the Company announced a share repurchase program 
that allowed the Company to repurchase up to $250.0 million of the Company’s Class A Common Stock beginning immediately 
and continuing through July 31, 2024. On January 24, 2023, the Board authorized and the Company announced an increase of 
the cumulative repurchase authorization to $500.0 million. Furthermore, on January 23, 2024 the Board authorized and the 
Company announced an increase of the cumulative repurchase authorization to $750.0 million and extended the authorization 
through July 31, 2026. The shares may be repurchased from time to time in open market transactions, through block trades, in 
privately negotiated transactions, through derivative transactions, or by other means in accordance with applicable state and 
federal securities laws. The timing, as well as the number and value of shares repurchased under the program, will be 
determined by the Company at its discretion and will depend on a variety of factors, including management’s assessment of the 
intrinsic value of the Company’s Class A Common Stock, the market price of the Company’s Class A Common Stock, general 
market and economic conditions, available liquidity, compliance with the Company’s debt and other agreements, applicable 
legal requirements, and other considerations. The exact number of shares to be repurchased by the Company is not guaranteed, 
and the program may be suspended, modified, or discontinued at any time without prior notice. The Company expects to fund 
any repurchases by using cash on hand, borrowings under the ABL Facility and expected free cash flow to be generated through 
the duration of the share repurchase program. 
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  Year Ended December 31, Year Ended December 31, Year Ended December 31, 
($ in thousands, except share count and per share data)  2024 2023 2022 
Shares of Class A Common Stock   6,320,536   13,705,622   8,185,890  
Cost of shares repurchased  $ 127,395  $ 203,100  $ 125,313  
Average price per share including commissions  $ 20.16  $ 14.82  $ 15.31  

As of December 31, 2024, $294.2 million remained authorized for future repurchases of Class A Common Stock under the 
share repurchase program. 

The Company accounts for the purchase price of repurchased common shares in excess of par value ($0.01 per share of 
Class A Common Stock) as a reduction of additional paid-in capital, and will continue to do so until additional paid-in capital is 
reduced to zero. Thereafter, any excess purchase price will be recorded as a reduction to retained earnings. 

As enacted by the Inflation Reduction Act of 2022 (the “Inflation Reduction Act”), the Company accrued stock repurchase 
excise tax of $0.9 million and $1.9 million for the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively. As of December 31, 
2024 and 2023, the Company had excise tax payables of $0.9 million and $1.9 million, respectively, in accrued liabilities in the 
accompanying consolidated balance sheets. 
Note 11—Net Income per Share 

Basic net income per share measures the performance of an entity over the reporting period. Diluted net income per share 
measures the performance of an entity over the reporting period while giving effect to all potentially dilutive common shares 
that were outstanding during the period. The Company uses the “if-converted” method to determine the potential dilutive effect 
of its Class B Common Stock and the treasury stock method to determine the potential dilutive effect of outstanding RSUs and 
PSUs. 

The following table reflects the allocation of net income to common stockholders and net income per share computations 
for the periods indicated based on a weighted average number of shares of Class A Common Stock and Class B Common Stock 
outstanding: 

(In thousands, except per share data)  
Year Ended 

December 31, 2024  
Year Ended 

December 31, 2023 
Basic Net Income Per Share     
Numerator:     
Net income attributable to Liberty Energy Inc. stockholders  $ 316,010   $ 556,317  
Denominator:     
Basic weighted average common shares outstanding   165,026    171,845  
Basic net income per share attributable to Liberty Energy Inc. stockholders  $ 1.91   $ 3.24  
Diluted Net Income Per Share     
Numerator:     
Net income attributable to Liberty Energy Inc. stockholders  $ 316,010   $ 556,317  
Effect of exchange of the shares of Class B Common Stock for shares of 
Class A Common Stock   —    73  
Diluted net income attributable to Liberty Energy Inc. stockholders  $ 316,010   $ 556,390  
Denominator:     
Basic weighted average shares outstanding   165,026    171,845  
Effect of dilutive securities:     
Restricted stock units   4,372    4,494  
Class B Common Stock   —    21  
Diluted weighted average shares outstanding   169,398    176,360  
Diluted net income per share attributable to Liberty Energy Inc. stockholders  $ 1.87   $ 3.15  
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Note 12—Income Taxes 

The Company is a corporation and is subject to taxation in the United States, Canada, Australia and various state, local 
and provincial jurisdictions. Historically, Liberty LLC was treated as a partnership, and its income was passed through to its 
owners for income tax purposes. Liberty LLC’s members, including the Company, were liable for federal, state and local 
income taxes based on their share of Liberty LLC’s pass-through taxable income. 

Effective January 31, 2023, the Company adopted a plan of merger, pursuant to which Liberty LLC merged into the 
Company, ceasing the existence of Liberty LLC with the Company remaining as the surviving entity. Liberty LLC filed a final 
tax return during the 2023 calendar year. The Company is still party to the TRAs; the associated liabilities are discussed below. 

As of December 31, 2024, tax reporting by the Company for the years ended December 31, 2021, 2022, 2023, and the 
short period ended January 31, 2023 are subject to examination by the tax authorities. With few exceptions, as of December 31, 
2024, the Company is no longer subject to U.S. federal, state or local examinations by tax authorities for tax years ended on or 
before December 31, 2020. 

The components of the Company’s income from continuing operations before income taxes on which the provision for 
income taxes was computed consisted of the following: 

  Year Ended December 31, 
($ in thousands)  2024  2023  2022 
United States  $ 356,340   $ 668,338   $ 375,758  
Foreign   46,931    66,552    23,751  
Total  $ 403,271   $ 734,890   $ 399,509  

The components of the provision for incomes taxes from continuing operations are summarized as follows: 
  Year Ended December 31, 
($ in thousands)  2024  2023  2022 
Current:       

Federal  $ 33,474   $ 36,319   $ 4,679  
State   6,637    4,662    2,579  
Foreign   13,306    17,189    4,421  

Total Current  $ 53,417   $ 58,170   $ 11,679  
       
Deferred:       

Federal  $ 32,087   $ 109,399   $ (12,967) 
State   3,289    11,913    (1,182) 
Foreign   (1,532)   (1,000)   1,677  

Total Deferred  $ 33,844   $ 120,312   $ (12,472) 
Income tax expense (benefit)  $ 87,261   $ 178,482   $ (793) 

Income tax expense (benefit) attributable to net income (loss) before income taxes differed from the amounts computed by 
applying the statutory U.S. federal income tax rate of 21.0% to pre-tax income as a result of the following: 
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  Year Ended December 31, 
($ in thousands)  2024  2023  2022 

Computed tax expense at the statutory rate  $ 84,687   $ 154,327   $ 83,897  
Increase (decrease) in tax expense resulting from:       
State and local income tax expense, net   9,340    15,745    10,224  
Non-controlling interest   —    (19)   (151) 
Effect of foreign tax rates   1,231    1,818    697  
Stock-based compensation   (1,771)   (239)   (2,724) 
Change in valuation allowance   —    —    (91,336) 
Other TRA adjustment   181    (248)   (2,763) 
U.S. Federal tax credits   (6,743)   —    —  
Nondeductible executive compensation   2,920    6,514    —  
U.S. impact of foreign earnings   —    —    315  
Other, net   (2,584)   584    1,048  
Total income tax expense (benefit)  $ 87,261   $ 178,482   $ (793) 

The effective tax rate for the years ended December 31, 2024, 2023, and 2022 was 21.6%, 24.3%, and (0.2)%, 
respectively. 

The Company’s effective tax rate is greater than the statutory federal income tax rate of 21.0% due to the Company’s 
Canadian operations, state income taxes in the states the Company operates, as well as nondeductible executive compensation, 
partially offset by U.S. federal income tax credits. 

The tax effects of temporary differences that give rise to significant portions of the deferred tax assets and deferred tax 
liabilities are presented below: 

($ in thousands)  December 31, 2024  December 31, 2023 
Deferred tax assets:     
Federal tax credit  $ 9,615   $ —  
State net operating losses   859    1,286  
Foreign net operating losses   920    —  
Realized tax benefit - TRAs   79,175    87,260  
Intangibles   22,440    22,825  
Lease liabilities   67,603    51,504  
Stock-based compensation   4,494    4,279  
Inventory   2,604    3,361  
Other   10,674    5,133  
Total deferred tax assets   198,384    175,648  
     
Deferred tax liabilities:     
Property and equipment   (233,649)   (221,337) 
Lease assets   (83,137)   (55,801) 
Other   (17,782)   (850) 
Total deferred tax liabilities   (334,568)   (277,988) 
     
Net deferred tax (liability)  $ (136,184)  $ (102,340) 
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During the year ended December 31, 2023, the Company adopted a plan of merger, pursuant to which Liberty LLC 
merged into the Company, ceasing the existence of Liberty LLC with the Company remaining as the surviving entity. As a 
result of this change, the Company no longer has a deferred tax liability for the difference between the book value and the tax 
value of the Company’s investment in Liberty LLC and the associated net deferred tax liability balances have been allocated to 
the deferred tax asset and liability line items above. Significant deferred tax assets include the step up in basis of depreciable 
assets under Section 754 (“Section 754”) of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended and deferred tax liabilities related 
to property and equipment. 

As of December 31, 2024, the Company has utilized all U.S. federal net operating loss carryforwards and has $0.9 million 
state net operating loss carryforwards that will not expire in the foreseeable future. The Company also has $9.6 million U.S. 
federal income tax credits that will not expire for twenty years. 

On October 8, 2021, the Organization for Economic Co-operation and Development (“OECD”) released a statement on 
the OECD/G20 Inclusive Framework on Base Erosion and Profit Shifting, which agreed to a two-pillar solution to address tax 
challenges of the digital economy. On December 20, 2021, the OECD released Pillar Two model rules defining a 15% global 
minimum tax rate for large multinational corporations (the “Pillar Two Framework”). On June 20, 2024 and December 23, 
2024, Canada and Australia, respectively, enacted the Pillar Two global minimum tax regime, which is not expected to have a 
material impact on the Company’s financial statements for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2024. The OECD continues to 
release additional guidance and countries are implementing legislation, with widespread adoption of the Pillar Two Framework 
expected by 2025. The Company is continuing to evaluate the Pillar Two Framework and its potential impact on future periods, 
including any legislation enacted in the jurisdictions in which the Company operates. 

The Company may distribute cash from foreign subsidiaries to its U.S. parent as business needs arise. The Company has 
not provided for deferred income taxes on the undistributed earnings from certain foreign subsidiaries earnings as such earnings 
are considered to be indefinitely reinvested. If such earnings were to be distributed, any income and/or withholding tax would 
not be significant. 

During the year ended December 31, 2024, the Company entered into a Tax Credit Transfer Agreement (“TCTA”) with a 
third-party seller, pursuant to which the Company agreed to purchase up to $33.5 million of transferable tax credits under the 
Inflation Reduction Act. The benefit for the federal income tax credits purchased has been recognized as a reduction to the 
Company’s income tax expense in the current period. 

Uncertain Tax Positions 

The Company records uncertain tax positions on the basis of a two-step process in which (1) the Company determines 
whether it is more likely than not the tax positions will be sustained on the basis of the technical merits of the position and (2) 
for those tax positions meeting the more likely than not recognition threshold, the Company recognizes the largest amount of 
tax benefit that is more than 50% likely to be realized upon ultimate settlement with the related tax authority. 

The Company determined that no liability for unrecognized tax benefits for uncertain tax positions was required 
at December 31, 2024. In addition, the Company does not believe that it has any tax positions for which it is reasonably 
possible that it will be required to record a significant liability for unrecognized tax benefits within the next twelve months. If 
the Company were to record an unrecognized tax benefit, the Company will recognize applicable interest and penalties related 
to income tax matters in income tax expense. 

Tax Receivable Agreements 

The term of each TRA commenced on January 17, 2018, and will continue until all such tax benefits that are subject to 
such TRA have been utilized or expired, unless the Company experiences a change of control (as defined in the TRAs, which 
includes certain mergers, asset sales and other forms of business combinations) or the TRAs are terminated early (at the 
Company’s election or as a result of its breach), and the Company makes the termination payments specified in such TRA. 

The amounts payable, as well as the timing of any payments, under the TRAs are dependent upon significant future events 
and assumptions, including the timing of the redemptions of Liberty LLC Units, the price of our Class A Common Stock at the 
time of each redemption, the extent to which such redemptions are taxable transactions, the amount of the redeeming unit 
holder’s tax basis in its Liberty LLC Units at the time of the relevant redemption, the characterization of the tax basis step-up, 
the depreciation and amortization periods that apply to the increase in tax basis, the amount of net operating losses available to 
the Company as a result of the Corporate Reorganization, the amount and timing of taxable income the Company generates in 
the future, the U.S. federal income tax rate then applicable, and the portion of the Company’s payments under the TRAs that 
constitute imputed interest or give rise to depreciable or amortizable tax basis.  
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At December 31, 2024, the Company’s liability under the TRAs was $115.7 million of which $40.8 million is recorded as 
a current liability and $74.9 million is recorded as a component of long-term liabilities. The Company recorded a loss on 
remeasurement of the liabilities subject to the TRA of $3.2 million recorded as part of continuing operations in the current year. 

At December 31, 2023, the Company’s liability under the TRAs was $117.7 million, of which $5.2 million was presented 
as a current liability, and $112.5 million was presented as a long-term liability. The Company recorded a gain on remeasurement 
of the liabilities subject to the TRA of $1.8 million recorded as part of continuing operations in the prior year. 

The Company made $5.2 million of TRA payments during the year ended December 31, 2024.  

During the year ended December 31, 2023, exchanges of Liberty LLC Units and shares of Class B Common Stock 
resulted in an increase of $0.6 million in amounts payable under the TRAs, and a net increase of $0.7 million in deferred tax 
assets, all of which were recorded through equity. The Company did not make any TRA payments during the year ended 
December 31, 2023. On January 31, 2023, the Company recorded an increase of $6.6 million of deferred tax assets for the 
impact of the adopted plan of merger for Liberty LLC into the Company, all of which was recorded through equity. 
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Note 13—Defined Contribution Plan 

The Company sponsors a 401(k) defined contribution retirement plan covering eligible employees. The Company makes 
matching contribution at a rate of $1.00 for each $1.00 of employee contribution, subject to a cap of 6% of the employee’s 
salary and federal limits. Contributions made by the Company were $36.9 million, $32.9 million, and $25.8 million for the 
years ended December 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022, respectively. 

Note 14—Related Party Transactions 

Schlumberger Limited 

During 2020, the Company acquired certain assets and liabilities of Schlumberger Technology Corporation 
(“Schlumberger”) in exchange for the issuance of shares of the Company’s Class A Common Stock amongst other 
consideration. During the year ended December 31, 2023, the Company repurchased and retired 3,000,000 shares of Class A 
Common Stock for $45.0 million or $15.00 average price per share from Schlumberger, under the share repurchase program. 
Effective January 31, 2023, after the repurchase and retirement, Schlumberger owns no shares of Class A Common Stock of the 
Company and no longer qualified as a related party. 

During the year ended December 31, 2022, the Company repurchased and retired 1,700,000 shares of Class A Common 
Stock for $27.8 million or $16.35 average price per share from Schlumberger, under the share repurchase program. 

On April 29, 2022, the Company, Liberty LLC, Schlumberger, and BofA Securities, Inc. and J.P. Morgan Securities LLC 
(together, the “Underwriters”), entered into an underwriting agreement, dated as of April 29, 2022, pursuant to which 
Schlumberger sold 14,500,000 shares of Class A Common Stock at a price of $15.50 per share to the Underwriters (the “Sale”). 
The Sale closed on May 3, 2022. Following the Sale, Schlumberger held 35,101,961 shares of Class A Common Stock. The 
Company did not receive any proceeds from the Sale. 

Within the normal course of business, the Company purchased chemicals, proppant, other equipment, and maintenance 
parts from Schlumberger and its subsidiaries. During the period from January 1, 2023 until January 31, 2023, total purchases 
from Schlumberger were approximately $1.7 million. Although the Company continues to do business with Schlumberger, the 
Company no longer presents cash flows with Schlumberger as related party in the accompanying consolidated statements of 
cash flows. During the year ended December 31, 2022, total purchases from Schlumberger were approximately $21.7 million. 

Additionally, the Company sold equipment to Schlumberger including $0.1 million during the year ended December 31, 
2022. The Company recognized a minimal gain on the sale of equipment. 

Franklin Mountain Energy, LLC 

A member of the board of directors of the Company, Audrey Robertson, serves as Executive Vice President of Finance of 
Franklin Mountain Energy, LLC (“Franklin Mountain”). During the years ended December 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022, the 
Company performed hydraulic fracturing services for Franklin Mountain in the amount of $120.3 million, $176.1 million, and 
$131.8 million, respectively.  

Amounts included in unbilled revenue from Franklin Mountain as of December 31, 2024 and 2023, were $0.0 million and 
$13.4 million, respectively. Receivables from Franklin Mountain as of December 31, 2024 and 2023, were $4.2 million and 
$12.1 million, respectively. 

Liberty Resources LLC 

Liberty Resources LLC, an oil and gas exploration and production company, and its successor entity (collectively, the 
“Affiliate”) had certain common ownership and management with the Company. Effective March 14, 2024, the Affiliate was no 
longer a related party, following its acquisition by an unaffiliated party. The amounts of the Company’s revenue related to 
hydraulic fracturing services provided to the Affiliate for the period January 1, 2024 through March 13, 2024, and the years 
ended December 31, 2023 and 2022, were $11.1 million, $38.8 million and $16.7 million, respectively. 

On December 28, 2022 (the “Agreement Date”), the Company entered into an agreement with the Affiliate to amend 
payment terms for outstanding invoices due as of the Agreement Date to extend the due dates to April 1, 2024. Additionally, on 
August 15, 2023, the agreement was further amended in order to extend the due dates for certain invoices to January 1, 2025. 
Amounts outstanding from the Affiliate as of December 31, 2023 were $14.8 million, included in other assets in the 
consolidated balance sheets. All amounts outstanding with the Affiliate under the agreement were collected in full during the 
three months ended March 31, 2024. 

Receivables from the Affiliate as of December 31, 2023 were $5.2 million, included in accounts receivable—related party. 

During the period January 1, 2024 through March 13, 2024, and the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022, interest 
income from the Affiliate was $0.5 million, $2.0 million, and $0.0 million, respectively. 
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Oklo Inc. 

During the three months ended September 30, 2023, the Company invested $10.0 million in a fission power and nuclear 
fuel recycling company, Oklo. Effective May 10, 2024, through an acquisition by a special purpose acquisition company, the 
Company’s investment converted into shares traded on the New York Stock Exchange. Additionally, Chris Wright, the 
Company’s Chief Executive Officer and Chairman of the Board during fiscal year 2024, was appointed to the Oklo board of 
directors. During the year ended December 31, 2024, the Company recorded an unrealized gain of $41.6 million, included in 
unrealized gain on investments, net in the accompanying consolidated statements of operations. As of December 31, 2024, the 
fair value of the Company’s investment using Level 1 inputs was $51.6 million. The Company was not party to any other 
transactions with Oklo during the years ended December 31, 2024, and 2023. 

Nomad Proppant Services LLC 

During the year ended December 31, 2021, the Company committed to investing $10.0 million in Nomad Proppant 
Services LLC (“Nomad”), a mobile sand mine company. Upon the commitment, the Company had a significant but non-
controlling financial interest in Nomad. Within the normal course of business, the Company purchased proppant from Nomad 
for $5.5 million during the year ended December 31, 2024. Payables to Nomad as of December 31, 2024, were $0.6 million. 
Prior to the year ended December 31, 2024 the Company did not purchase any goods from Nomad. 

As of December 31, 2024 and 2023, the value of the Company’s investment using the equity method accounting was 
$10.7 million and $11.4 million, respectively. During the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023, the Company received 
cash distributions from Nomad in the amounts of $4.0 million and $0.8 million, respectively. 

Bettering Human Lives Foundation 

In December 2023, the Company established the Bettering Human Lives Foundation (the “Foundation”), a nonprofit 
organization dedicated to promoting clean cooking solutions and improving the well-being of communities worldwide. Mr. 
Wright, the Company’s CEO during fiscal year 2024, serves as the Chairman of the Foundation, and Anne Hyre serves as its 
executive director. Ms. Hyre is the sister-in-law of Mr. Wright. In December 2023, the Company made an initial commitment to 
make a charitable contribution of $1.0 million to the Foundation. In addition, effective January 1, 2024 Ms. Hyre is employed 
by a subsidiary of the Company and seconded to the Foundation, and Company and the Foundation entered into a professional 
services agreement (the “Professional Services Agreement”), whereby the Company provides certain administrative services for 
the Foundation.  During the year ended December 31, 2024, the Company made charitable contributions of $0.9 million to the 
Foundation, and received $0.5 million in other service revenue under the Professional Services Agreement. 

Note 15—Commitments & Contingencies 

Purchase Commitments (tons are not in thousands) 

The Company enters into purchase and supply agreements to secure supply and pricing of proppant and equipment. As 
of December 31, 2024 and 2023, the agreements provide pricing and committed supply sources for the Company to 
purchase 360,000 tons and 1,854,000 tons, respectively, of proppant through December 31, 2025. Amounts below also include 
commitments to pay for transport fees on minimum amounts of proppants. 

Future proppant and equipment commitments are as follows: 
($ in thousands)  
2025 $ 26,348  
2026  —  
2027  —  
2028  —  
2029  —  
Thereafter  —  
 $ 26,348  
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Certain supply agreements contain a clause whereby in the event that the Company fails to purchase minimum volumes, 
as defined in the agreement, during a specific time period, a shortfall fee may apply. In circumstances where the Company does 
not make the minimum purchase required under the contract, the Company and its suppliers have a history of amending such 
minimum purchase contractual terms and in rare cases does the Company incur shortfall fees. If the Company were unable to 
make any of the minimum purchases and the Company and its suppliers cannot come to an agreement to avoid such fees, the 
Company could incur shortfall fees in the amounts of $5.4 million for the year ended December 31, 2025. Based on forecasted 
levels of activity, the Company does not currently expect to incur significant shortfall fees. 

Included in the commitments for the year ending December 31, 2024 are $2.5 million of payments expected to be made in 
the first quarter of 2025 for the use of certain light duty trucks, heavy tractors, and field equipment used to various degrees in 
frac and wireline operations. The Company is in negotiations with the third-party owner of such equipment to lease or purchase 
some or all of such aforementioned vehicles and equipment, subject to agreement on terms and conditions. No gain or loss is 
expected upon consummation of any such agreement. 

Litigation 

From time to time, the Company is subject to legal and administrative proceedings, settlements, investigations, claims and 
actions. The Company’s assessment of the likely outcome of litigation matters is based on its judgment of a number of factors 
including experience with similar matters, past history, precedents, relevant financial and other evidence and facts specific to 
the matter. Notwithstanding the uncertainty as to the final outcome, based upon the information currently available, 
management does not believe any matters, individually or in aggregate, will have a material adverse effect on the Company’s 
financial position or results of operations. 

Note 16—Subsequent Events 

On January 22, 2025, the Company’s Board of Directors (the “Board”) approved a quarterly dividend of $0.08 per share 
of Class A Common Stock to be paid on March 20, 2025 to holders of record as of March 6, 2025. 

On February 3, 2025, Christopher A. Wright, the Company’s CEO was confirmed to the position of Secretary of Energy 
of the United States and resigned from his positions as Chairman of the Board, Director and Chief Executive Officer of the 
Company. In connection with Mr. Wright’s resignation, the Company modified certain terms and conditions of Mr. Wright’s 
stock awards granted under the LTIP. Unvested RSUs and PSUs granted to Mr. Wright in 2022, 2023, and 2024 vested effective 
February 3, 2025. In total 412,292 shares of Class A Common Stock were issued, net of tax withholding. As a result of the 
modification the Company expects to recognize $10.3 million of incremental non-cash stock-based compensation expense 
during the three months ended March 31, 2025. 

No other significant subsequent events have occurred that would require recognition or disclosure in the consolidated 
financial statements and notes thereto. 
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